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Forward-Looking Statements:  
Certain statements in this report are forward-looking statements, including those related to future activities and the economic 

outlook. Actual results may differ materially from the forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including real estate 

market conditions and those described in “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K included in this report 

and the SEC filings of Hines Global REIT, Inc.
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Dear Shareholders:

2014 proved to be an exciting year of  growth for Hines Global REIT, and on behalf  
of  our management team and board of  directors, we are pleased to provide this 
update on our major activities. Within this letter and report we will discuss our  
strategic acquisitions and sales, the latest increase in the net asset value of  our 
shares, the consistency of  our distributions to you, and our outlook on trends in the 
global economy and real estate markets.

HIGH-QUALITY PORTFOLIO

We closed our public offering to new investors in April 2014 after raising an  
impressive $2.8 billion through our offerings, collectively. We are extremely pleased 
with the portfolio of  very high-quality commercial properties that we’ve assembled 
using those offering proceeds as well as a modest amount of  debt financing at very 
favorable pricing given the current low interest rate environment. During 2014 and 
the first few months of  2015, we rounded out the portfolio by acquiring some very 
attractive properties in the U.S., Australia, Germany and the United Kingdom.  
Today, our internationally-diversified portfolio includes 42 properties located in  
seven countries that are valued in excess of  $5 billion. These properties include nearly 
15 million square feet of  space that is very highly leased at 96% to a large variety of  
tenants, continuing to provide strong and stable cash flows to our investors.

STRATEGIC SALES

As an active portfolio manager, our team continually evaluates the risk and reward 
balance of  each of  our assets relative to our existing portfolio as well as new  
potential re-investment opportunities. As part of  that process, Hines Global REIT 
sold two properties during 2014 in order to take advantage of  the strong and active 
capital market conditions for certain assets in the portfolio. In November, we sold 
144 Montague, an office building in Brisbane, for $93.0 million AUD having  
originally acquiring the asset in April 2012 for $88.1 million AUD. In December,  
we sold Stonecutter Court, an office building in London’s central business district, 
for £112.0 million. Given some changing circumstances at these assets, we elected 
to sell them and used the net sales proceeds to invest in some very compelling and 
complimentary acquisitions which we believe are additive to our portfolio.  
Those acquisitions included one of  the highest quality office complexes in downtown 
Bellevue, Washington, some additional logistics facilities to add to our German 
portfolio, and a very high-quality office project in a new complimentary market for 
us in Melbourne, Australia. 

INCREASE IN NET ASSET VALUE (NAV)

On March 25th, the Company’s board of  directors established an estimated NAV of  
$9.44 per share as of  December 31, 2014. This represents an increase of  $0.54 per 
share since our last valuation one year ago. 
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L E T T E R  T O  S H A R E H O L D E R S

PORTFOLIO SUMMARY AS OF 12/31/141

42 projects at a net purchase price of approximately $5.1 billion1

15.6 million square feet; 96% leased1,2

1All data as of December 31, 2014, but includes the effects of two properties, which were acquired in 2015. 

Assumes 100% ownership in each of Hines Global REIT’s real estate assets and includes one development 

project which has not been completed and investments in real estate-related debt. We own less than 

100% of the interests in five projects. Assuming Hines Global REIT’s effective ownership, the aggregated 

estimated value would be $4.9 billion; square feet would be 15.2 million and the percentage leased would 

be 96%. 2The square feet and percentage leased do not include the project under development.
55 M STREET - WASHINGTON, D.C.

465 VICTORIA - SYDNEY, AUSTRALIA

RECENT ACQUISITIONS

2014
The Rim – San Antonio, TX
25 Cabot Square – London, UK 
Simon Hegele Logistics –  
  Forchheim, Germany 
818 Bourke Street - Melbourne, Australia

2015
The Summit – Bellevue, WA
Harder Logistics Portfolio –  
  Multi-Cities, Germany



We are very pleased with the appreciation in the values of  the high-quality investments 
in our portfolio since last year’s valuation. In just one year, our appraised real estate 
values increased by 8.1%. This significant increase is especially worth noting given 
that approximately $2.5 billion in assets, or approximately half  of  the portfolio,  
was acquired within the last 24 months—meaning they have only had a limited time 
to appreciate in value since we acquired them.

Hines’ 20-plus years of  international real estate investing experience shows that 
diversification may benefit investors over the long run. Diversification can include 
investing in varying geographic regions; the different asset classes such as office, retail, 
industrial and multifamily; and an array of  currencies as well. Although our portfolio 
experienced impressive valuation growth as stated above, the appraisals of  our assets 
have been conducted at a time when the U.S. dollar is seeing a significant strengthening 
versus other world currencies. Thus, the new share valuation reflects the impact of  
devalued foreign currencies on our international assets, in particular the Euro,  
the British Pound and the Australian Dollar. However, if  foreign currencies recover 
to their historical average exchange levels in the future, our valuations should benefit 
from such recovery. 

CONSISTENT DISTRIBUTIONS

We are also pleased to note that Hines Global REIT has maintained the same 
high-quality per-share distribution level for 13 consecutive quarters—an annualized 
rate of  $0.65 per share. We attribute this consistency primarily to the advantageous 
timing of  our real estate purchases, the portfolio’s high occupancy rate of  96%,  
the quality of  our tenants, and the diversification of  assets in our portfolio.

OUTLOOK

The United States is now a leading driver of  the global economy, spurred on by  
annual GDP growth that continues to hold steadily around 2.5%, as well as 
improvements in the labor market which saw monthly employment gains grow to 
275,000 over the last year.

While commercial real estate market cycles vary over time, real estate fundamentals 
in most markets around the world are projected to remain attractive over the near 
term. This is generally expected to result in continued moderate growth in rental 
rates and income as well as strong asset values in many markets worldwide.

These global economic trends bode well for Hines Global REIT’s globally-diversified 
portfolio. As our portfolio matures, we will continue to monitor economic trends 
around the world; to proactively maintain our occupancy level by retaining current 
tenants and attracting new ones; and to actively manage the portfolio with a focus 
on maximizing the value of  your investment. This may include strategically selling 
selected assets and seeking attractive new investment opportunities in which we can 
reinvest the proceeds. We hold high expectations for Hines Global REIT’s performance 
leading up to a potential future liquidity event.

In the meantime, we thank you for your continued trust and support.

Sincerely,

t
g
coi ont ono omo ornm nio mit mmoon

inevecy ma ninl bl tb ngy le
h

cy tabm etely ngvely
on

intailmm iny y ai ai ni cy y
l ft iio fod tft oa th o ocns it; afo a flindd ge cuiogne d t

nve
d olan cwess; h und h foo 

eg liliy rat ici nc nllsea y gcou uu nr i y i egicanc g incl ngllt sat ely nn te calyou ra ll gr ain in sey
n wh cani

g
d whichiiti end hrtui tua

ld
ni sat tiv

h
eiesa t actans ti hin wn chn wit es ehic

T’s pe
h wits a an iacan at ana un in chr tit we n

ceGlob EIT’ro l fd Ed formb Tnes Eh bahig perhpr R. W EIedse p eee
pot

al perfEe obWro
a

anhigh IT foRe p s. W
iq

G

ust an

tent ur lp to rto re up e lip to ot

nd stiea orme dde, wme me

ly

n,

cercere yy

g c
th

 y
ent 
Hine

s
s

ode well for Hines Global REIT’s glo
matures, we will continue to monitor economic t

proactively maintain our occupancy level by retaining cur
acting new ones; and to actively manage the portfolio with a focus

g the value of  your investment. This may include strategically selling
ets and seeking attractive new investment opportunities in which we 

he proceeds. We hold high expectations for Hines Global REIT’s performance
g up to a potential future liquidity event

he meantime, we thank you for your continued trust and support.

ncerely,

THE SUMMIT - BELLEVUE, WA

PROACTIVE LEASING HIGHLIGHTS

Poland Logistics Portfolio – Multi-Cities 

Approximately one million square feet (SF) of  

new and renewal leasing, including: 

•  Carrefour 

493,000 SF lease renewal through 2019

•  Geodis 

240,000 SF new lease through 2017

•  KDWT 

58,000 SF new lease through 2022

•  ThyssenKrupp 

48,000 SF lease renewal through 2017

Irvine, CA – 17600 Gillette Avenue 

•  Harvest Christian Fellowship 

106,000 SF new lease through 2029

Newton, MA – Riverside Center 
33,000 SF of new leases, including: 

•  Paydiant, Inc. 

19,000 SF new lease through 2020

•  Stealth BioTherapeutics 

14,000 SF new lease through 2020

Moscow, Russia – Gogolevsky 11 

27,000 SF of new and renewal leasing, including: 

•  Willis CIS Insurance Broker LLC 

12,000 SF new lease through 2018

Washington, D.C. – 55 M Street SE 

24,000 SF of new and renewal leasing, including: 

•  Sayres and Associates Corp. 

20,000 SF lease renewal through 2024

Murfreesboro, TN – The Avenue Murfreesboro 

•  Forever 21 

14,000 SF new lease through 2025

Jacksonville, FL – The Markets at  
Town Center 
•  Cooper’s Hawk Winery & Restaurant 

13,000 SF new lease through 2024

Austin, TX – Southpark Commerce Center II 
•  Knight Security Systems 

13,000 SF new lease through 2019

Minneapolis, MN – Fifty South Sixth 

•  M&T Bank 

11,000 SF lease renewal and expansion 

through 2018

Jeffrey C. Hines
Chairman of the Board

Sherri W. Schugart
President and Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes certain statements that may be deemed forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”),
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). Such forward-
looking statements relate to, without limitation, potential future acquisitions, the completion of projects in
development, economic conditions that may impact our operations, our future leverage and financial position,
our future capital expenditures, future distributions, other developments and trends in the commercial real estate
industry and our business strategy. Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by the use of the words
“may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “could,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,”
“predict,” “potential” or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology. These statements are not
guarantees of future performance, and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to
predict.

The forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K are based on our current expectations, plans, estimates,
assumptions and beliefs that involve numerous risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing
involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and market conditions and
future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are
beyond our control. Any of the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements could prove to be inaccurate.
To the extent that our assumptions differ from actual results, our ability to meet such forward-looking statements,
including our ability to generate positive cash flow from operations, provide distributions to our stockholders and
maintain the value of the real estate properties in which we hold an interest, may be significantly hindered.

Our stockholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statement in this
Form 10-K. All forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Form 10-K, and the risk that actual
results will differ materially from the expectations expressed in this Form 10-K may increase with the passage of
time. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking statements in this Form 10-K, the
inclusion of such forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other
person that the objectives and plans set forth in this Form 10-K will be achieved. Please see “Item 1A. Risk
Factors” for a discussion of some of the risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those presented in certain forward-looking statements.

Item 1. Business

General Description of Business and Operations

Hines Global REIT, Inc. (“Hines Global”) was incorporated under the Maryland General Corporation Laws
on December 10, 2008, primarily for the purpose of investing in a diversified portfolio of quality commercial real
estate properties and other real estate investments located throughout the United States and internationally. Hines
Global raised approximately $2.8 billion through two public offerings from August 2009 through April 2014 to
provide the equity capital for its real estate investments. Hines Global continues to offer up to $500.0 million of
shares of its common stock under its distribution reinvestment plan, pursuant to an offering which commenced
on April 24, 2014 (the “DRP Offering”). Hines Global engaged Hines Securities, Inc. (the “Dealer Manager”), an
affiliate of Hines, to serve as the dealer manager for its public offerings.

Hines Global conducts most of its activities through, and most of its real estate investments are held directly
or indirectly by, Hines Global REIT Properties, LP (the “Operating Partnership”), which was formed on
January 7, 2009. Hines Global contributes the proceeds it receives from the issuance of common shares to the
Operating Partnership and the Operating Partnership in turn issues general partner interests to Hines Global. The
general partner interests entitle Hines Global to receive its share of the Operating Partnership’s earnings or losses
and distributions of cash flow.

1



We refer to Hines Global, the Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned subsidiaries as the “Company,”
and the use of “we,” “our,” “us” or similar pronouns in this annual report refers to Hines Global or the Company
as required by the context in which such pronoun is used.

We are approaching the end of our investing phase and one of our primary investment objectives was to
invest in a real estate portfolio that is diversified by asset type, geographic area, lease expirations and tenant
industries. We believe that we have substantially achieved this objective. As of December 31, 2014, we owned
interests in 40 real estate investments which contain, in the aggregate, 14.4 million square feet of leasable space,
and we believe each property is suitable for its intended purpose. These investments consisted of:

• Domestic office investments (11 investments)

• Domestic other investments (10 investments)

• International office investments (10 investments)

• International other investments (9 investments)

We have no employees. Our business is managed by Hines Global REIT Advisors LP (the “Advisor”), an
affiliate of Hines, under the terms and conditions of an advisory agreement between us and the Advisor (the
“Advisory Agreement”). As compensation for these services, we pay or have paid the Advisor asset
management, acquisition, debt financing and disposition fees and we reimburse certain of the Advisor’s expenses
incurred on our behalf in accordance with the advisory agreement. Hines or affiliates of Hines manage the
leasing and operations of most of the properties in which we invest and, accordingly, we pay Hines property
management and leasing fees in connection with these services. Hines is owned and controlled by or for the
benefit of Gerald D. Hines and his son Jeffrey C. Hines, the Chairman of our board of directors. Hines and its
3,450 employees have over 50 years of experience in the areas of investment selection, underwriting, due
diligence, portfolio management, asset management, property management, leasing, disposition, finance,
accounting and investor relations.

Our office is located at 2800 Post Oak Boulevard, Suite 5000, Houston, Texas 77056-6118. Our telephone
number is 1-888-220-6121. Our web site is www.HinesSecurities.com. The information on our website is not
incorporated by reference into this report.

Primary Investment Objectives

Our primary investment objectives are to:

• preserve invested capital;

• invest in a diversified portfolio of quality commercial real estate properties and other real estate
investments;

• pay regular cash distributions;

• achieve attractive total returns upon the ultimate sale of our investments or occurrence of another
liquidity event; and

• remain qualified as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes.

Acquisition and Investment Policies

As of March 4, 2015, we have invested all of the proceeds raised through our public offerings. We may
make additional investments in the future, from time to time. However, these investments will be funded with
proceeds from the dispositions of other real estate investments or debt financings. We have invested in a
diversified portfolio of quality commercial real estate properties and other real estate investments throughout the
United States and internationally. Our principal targeted assets have been investments in properties, and other
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real estate investments that relate to properties, that have quality construction and desirable locations which can
attract quality tenants. These types of investments are generally located in central business districts or suburban
markets of major metropolitan cities worldwide. We have invested in a geographically diverse portfolio in order
to reduce the risk of reliance on a particular market, a particular property and/or a particular tenant. See “Item 2.
Properties”, for additional information regarding our real estate portfolio.

Financing Strategy and Policies

We have and may continue to use debt financing from time to time for acquisitions, property improvements,
lease inducements, tenant improvements, redemptions and other working capital needs. As of December 31,
2014, our portfolio was 44% leveraged based on the values of our real estate investments.

Our existing indebtedness and any additional indebtedness we do incur will likely be subject to continuing
covenants, and we will likely be required to make continuing representations and warranties about the Company
in connection with such debt. Moreover, some or all of our debt may be secured by some or all of our assets. If
we default on the payment of interest or principal on any such debt, breach any representation or warranty in
connection with any borrowing or violate any covenant in any loan document, our lender may accelerate the
maturity of such debt, requiring us to immediately repay all outstanding principal.

Distribution Objectives

In order to qualify as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we must distribute at least 90% of our taxable
income (excluding capital gains) to our stockholders. We intend, although we are not legally obligated, to
continue to make regular monthly distributions to holders of our common shares in excess of the level required to
maintain our REIT status unless our results of operations, our general financial condition, general economic
conditions or other factors inhibit us from doing so. Distributions are authorized at the discretion of our board of
directors, which is directed, in substantial part, by its obligation to cause us to comply with the REIT
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”).

We have declared distributions for the months of January 2012 through March 2015 at an amount equal to
$0.0017808 per share. In our initial quarters of operations, and from time to time thereafter, our cash flows from
operations have been and may continue to be insufficient to fund distributions to stockholders. We funded 50%
of total distributions for 2012, 67% of total distributions for 2013 and 19% of total distributions for 2014 with
cash flows from financing activities, which include proceeds from our public offerings and proceeds from our
debt financings. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations — Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information regarding our
distributions.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, we paid $44.3 million, $83.1
million and $29.6 million in acquisition fees and expenses. Under accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (“GAAP”), acquisition fees and acquisition-related expenses are expensed and therefore reduce
cash flows from operating activities. However, we fund these expenses with proceeds from our public offerings
or other equity capital. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations — Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations” for additional information
regarding our fund performance.

In April 2012, our Advisor agreed to waive the asset management fee otherwise payable to it for each
quarter in 2012 and 2013 to the extent that our modified funds from operations (“MFFO”) for a particular
quarter, as disclosed in each quarterly report, amounted to less than 100% of the aggregate distributions declared
to our stockholders for such quarter. As a result of these waivers, the Advisor waived $12.2 million of asset
management fees payable to it for these periods, in aggregate. These fee waivers are not deferrals and
accordingly, these fees will not be paid to the Advisor in cash at any time in the future.
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Additionally, our Advisor agreed to waive asset management fees otherwise payable to it for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, to the extent that our MFFO for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2015 as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year, amounts to less than 100% of the
aggregate distributions declared to our stockholders for such year. However because MFFO exceeded
distributions declared to our stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2014, the Advisor did not waive
any asset management fees.

Tax Status

We have elected to be treated as a REIT under the Code. Our management believes that we operate in such a
manner as to qualify for treatment as a REIT and we intend to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner
so that we will remain qualified as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, no provision has been
made for U.S. federal income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. In 2014, 2013 and 2012, income tax expense recorded by the Company was
primarily comprised of foreign income taxes related to the operation of its international properties.

Competition

Numerous real estate companies, real estate investment trusts and U.S. institutional and foreign investors
compete with us in acquiring properties or making other real estate investments and obtaining creditworthy
tenants to occupy such properties. Many of these entities have significant financial and other resources, allowing
them to compete effectively with us. Principal factors of competition in our primary business of acquiring
properties or making other real estate investments include access to capital, the quality of properties, leasing
terms (including rent and other charges and allowances for inducements and tenant improvements), the quality
and breadth of tenant services provided, and reputation as an owner and operator of commercial real estate
investments in the relevant market. Additionally, our ability to compete depends upon, among other factors,
trends of the global, national and local economies, investment alternatives, financial condition and operating
results of current and prospective tenants, availability and cost of capital, taxes, governmental regulations,
legislation and demographic trends.

We believe Hines’ extensive real estate experience and depth and breadth of its organization of
3,450 employees located in over 100 cities across the United States and 18 foreign countries allows it to better
identify investment opportunities for us. However, competition may increase our cost of acquisitions.

Customers

We are dependent upon the ability of current tenants to pay their contractual rent amounts as the rents
become due. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, we did not earn more than 10%
of its total rental revenue from any individual tenant.

Of our total rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012, approximately 10% was earned from a
tenant in the accounting industry that has leases that expire in 2016, 2019 and 2024.

Available Information

Stockholders may obtain copies of our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), free of
charge from the website maintained by the SEC at www.sec.gov or from our website at www.HinesSecurities.com.
Further, a copy of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is located at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street
NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room can be obtained by
calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Our filings will be available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable
after we electronically file such materials with the SEC. However, the information from our website is not
incorporated by reference into this report.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully read and consider the risks described below together with all other information in this
report. If certain of the following risks actually occur, our results of operations and ability to pay distributions
would likely suffer materially, or could be eliminated entirely. As a result, the value of our common shares may
decline, and our stockholders could lose all or part of the money they paid to buy our common shares.

Risks Related to Our Business in General

A prolonged national or world-wide economic downturn or volatile capital market conditions could
adversely affect our results of operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

If disruptions in the capital and credit markets occur again, as have been experienced during recent years,
they could adversely affect our ability to obtain loans, credit facilities, debt financing and other financing, or,
when available, to obtain such financing on reasonable terms, which could negatively impact our ability to
implement our investment strategy.

If these disruptions in the capital and credit markets should occur again as a result of, among other factors,
uncertainty, changing or increased regulation, reduced alternatives or additional failures of significant financial
institutions, our access to liquidity could be significantly impacted. Prolonged disruptions could result in us
taking measures to conserve cash until the markets stabilize or until alternative credit arrangements or other
funding for our business needs could be arranged. Such measures could include deferring investments, reducing
or eliminating the number of shares redeemed under our share redemption program and reducing or eliminating
distributions we make to our stockholders.

We believe the risks associated with our business are more severe during periods of economic downturn if
these periods are accompanied by declining values in real estate. For example, a prolonged economic downturn
could negatively impact our property investments as a result of increased customer delinquencies and/or defaults
under our leases, generally lower demand for rentable space, potential oversupply of rentable space leading to
increased concessions, and/or customer improvement expenditures, or reduced rental rates to maintain
occupancies.

Our operations could be negatively affected to a greater extent if an economic downturn occurs again, is
prolonged or becomes more severe, which could significantly harm our revenues, results of operations, financial
condition, liquidity, business prospects and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and may result in
a decrease in the value of our stockholders’ investment.

Yields on and safety of deposits may be lower due to the extensive decline in the financial markets.

We may hold funds in investments, including money market funds, bank money market accounts and CDs
or other accounts at third-party depository institutions. Continued or unusual declines in the financial markets
could result in a loss of some or all of these funds. In particular, money market funds have experienced intense
redemption pressure in recent years and have had difficulty satisfying redemption requests. As a result, we may
not be able to access the cash in our money market investments. In addition, current yields from these
investments are minimal.

The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have available
to pay distributions and make additional investments.

The FDIC, only insures amounts up to $250,000 per depositor. It is likely that we will have cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial institutions in excess of federally insured levels. If
any of the banking institutions in which we deposit funds ultimately fails, we may lose any amounts of our
deposits over federally insured levels. The loss of our deposits could reduce the amount of cash we have
available to distribute or invest and could result in a decline in the value of our stockholders’ investments.

5



We may need to incur borrowings that would otherwise not be incurred to meet REIT minimum distribution
requirements.

In order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we are required to distribute to our stockholders at least
90% of our annual ordinary taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on
the amount, if any, by which certain distributions paid (or deemed paid) by us with respect to any calendar year
are less than the sum of (i) 85% of our ordinary income for that year, (ii) 95% of our capital gain net income for
that year and (iii) 100% of our undistributed taxable income from prior years.

We expect our income, if any, to consist almost solely of our share of the Operating Partnership’s income,
and the cash available for the payment of distributions by us to our stockholders will consist of our share of cash
distributions made by the Operating Partnership. As the general partner of the Operating Partnership, we will
determine the amount of any distributions made by the Operating Partnership. However, we must consider a
number of factors in making such distributions, including:

• the amount of the cash available for distribution;

• the impact of such distribution on other partners of the Operating Partnership;

• the Operating Partnership’s financial condition;

• the Operating Partnership’s capital expenditure requirements and reserves therefore; and

• the annual distribution requirements contained in the Code necessary to qualify and maintain our
qualification as a REIT.

Differences in timing between the actual receipt of income and actual payment of deductible expenses and
the inclusion of such income and deduction of such expenses when determining our taxable income, as well as
the effect of nondeductible capital expenditures, the creation of reserves, the use of cash to purchase shares under
our share redemption program or required debt amortization payments, could result in our having taxable income
that exceeds cash available for distribution.

In view of the foregoing, we may be unable to meet the REIT minimum distribution requirements and/or
avoid the 4% excise tax described above. In certain cases, we may decide to borrow funds in order to meet the
REIT minimum distribution and/or avoid the 4% excise tax even if our management believes that the then
prevailing market conditions generally are not favorable for such borrowings or that such borrowings would not
be advisable in the absence of such tax considerations.

Lenders may require us to enter into restrictive covenants that relate to or otherwise limit our operations,
which could limit our ability to make distributions to our stockholders, to replace the Advisor or to
otherwise achieve our investment objectives.

When providing financing, a lender may impose restrictions on us that affect our distribution and operating
policies and our ability to incur additional debt. Loan documents we enter into may contain covenants that limit
our ability to further mortgage property, discontinue insurance coverage, or make distributions under certain
circumstances. In addition, provisions of our loan documents may deter us from replacing the Advisor because of
the consequences under such agreements and may limit our ability to replace the property manager or terminate
certain operating or lease agreements related to the property. These or other limitations may adversely affect our
flexibility and our ability to achieve our investment objectives.
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Actions of our joint venture partners, including other Hines investment vehicles and third parties, could
negatively impact our performance.

We are parties to several joint venture arrangements, including joint ventures in which Hines and its
affiliates are parties. Joint ownership of properties or other investments, under certain circumstances, may
involve risks not otherwise present with other methods of owning real estate or other real estate investments.
Examples of these risks include:

• the possibility that our partners or co-investors might become insolvent or bankrupt;

• the possibility that such partners or co-investors might have economic or other business interests or
goals that are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, including inconsistent goals relating to
the sale of properties or other investments held in the joint venture or the timing of the termination and
liquidation of the venture;

• the possibility that we may incur liabilities as the result of actions taken by our partners or co-
investors; or

• the possibility that such partners or co-investors may be in controlling positions and/or be in a position
to take actions contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives,
including our policy with respect to qualifying and maintaining our qualification as a REIT.

Actions by a co-venturer, co-tenant or partner may result in subjecting the assets of the joint venture to
unexpected liabilities. Under joint venture arrangements, neither co-venturer may have the power to control the
venture, and under certain circumstances, an impasse could result and this impasse could have an adverse impact
on the operations and profitability of the joint venture.

If we have a right of first refusal or buy/sell right to buy out a co-venturer or partner, we may be unable to
finance such a buy-out if it becomes exercisable or we are required to purchase such interest at a time when it
would not otherwise be in our best interest to do so. If our interest is subject to a buy/sell right, we may not have
sufficient cash, available borrowing capacity or other capital resources to allow us to elect to purchase an interest
of a co-venturer subject to the buy/sell right, in which case we may be forced to sell our interest as the result of
the exercise of such right when we would otherwise prefer to keep our interest. Finally, we may not be able to
sell our interest in a joint venture if we desire to exit the venture for any reason or if our interest is likewise
subject to a right of first refusal of our co-venturer or partner, our ability to sell such interest may be adversely
impacted by such right. Joint ownership arrangements with Hines affiliates may also entail conflicts of interest.

We have acquired, and may continue to acquire, various financial instruments for purposes of “hedging” or
reducing our risks, which may be costly and ineffective and may reduce our cash available for distribution
to our stockholders.

We may enter into currency rate swaps and caps or similar hedging or derivative transactions or
arrangements, in order to manage or mitigate our risk of exposure to the effects of currency changes as a result of
our international investments. Similarly, we have, and may continue to enter into interest rate swaps and caps, or
similar hedging or derivative transactions or arrangements, in order to manage or mitigate our risk of exposure to
the effects of interest rate changes due to variable interest rate debt that we may have.

We are different in some respects from other investment vehicles sponsored by Hines, and therefore the past
performance of such investment vehicles may not be indicative of our future results and Hines has limited
experience in acquiring and operating certain types of real estate investments that we may acquire.

We are Hines’ second publicly-offered real estate investment vehicle. We collectively refer to real estate
joint ventures, funds and programs as investment vehicles. All but one of the previous real estate investment
vehicles of Hines and its affiliates were conducted through privately-held entities not subject to either the up-
front commissions, fees and expenses associated with our public offerings or all the laws and regulations that
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govern us, including reporting requirements under the federal securities laws and tax and other regulations
applicable to REITs. Hines’ first public fund is concentrating primarily on office buildings in the United States,
whereas we have invested and expect to continue to invest internationally and in a broader array of property
types as well as in debt and other instruments.

The past performance of other real estate investment vehicles sponsored by Hines or its affiliates may not be
indicative of our future results, and we may not be able to successfully operate our business and implement our
investment strategy, which may be different in a number of respects from the operations previously conducted by
Hines. In addition, Hines has limited experience in acquiring and operating certain types of real estate
investments that we may acquire as a significant amount of real estate investments that have been made by
Hines’ other investment vehicles have consisted of acquisitions and development of office or industrial properties
or land. We may therefore need to use third parties to source or manage investments in which Hines has limited
experience. In addition, a significant portion of Hines’ other programs and investments involve development
projects. Although we have invested in development projects, we do not anticipate that a significant portion of
the proceeds from our public offerings will be invested in development projects. As a result of all of these
factors, our stockholders should not rely on the past performance of other investment vehicles sponsored by
Hines and its affiliates to predict, or as an indication of, our future performance.

Our success will be dependent on the performance of Hines as well as key employees of Hines. Certain
other investment vehicles sponsored by Hines have experienced adverse developments in recent years and
there is a risk that we may experience similar adverse developments.

Our ability to achieve our investment objectives and to pay distributions is dependent upon the performance
of Hines and its affiliates as well as key employees of Hines in the identification and acquisition of investments,
the selection of tenants, the determination of any financing arrangements, the management of our assets and
operation of our day-to-day activities. Our board of directors and the Advisor have broad discretion when
identifying, evaluating, making and managing our investments. Our stockholders will have no opportunity to
evaluate the terms of transactions or other economic or financial data concerning our investments. We will rely
on the management ability of Hines and the oversight of our board of directors as well as the management of any
entities or ventures in which we invest.

We may not be able to retain our key employees. For example, Charles N. Hazen, our former Chief
Executive Officer and President, resigned from these positions effective March 15, 2013. Sherri W. Schugart
succeeded Mr. Hazen in these positions as of the same date. In connection with Ms. Schugart’s new roles,
Ms. Schugart resigned from her role as Chief Operating Officer and this role has remained vacant following her
resignation. To the extent we are unable to retain and/or find qualified successors for key employees that depart
from the Company, our results of operations may be adversely impacted. Our officers and the management of the
Advisor also serve in similar capacities for numerous other entities. If Hines (or any of its key employees) is
distracted by these other activities or suffers from adverse financial or operational problems in connection with
its operations unrelated to us, the ability of Hines and its affiliates to allocate time and/or resources to our
operations may be adversely affected. If Hines is unable to allocate sufficient resources to oversee and perform
our operations for any reason, our results of operations would be adversely impacted. We will not provide key-
man life insurance policies for any of Hines’ key employees. Please see “— Risks Related to Potential Conflicts
of Interest — Employees of our Advisor and Hines will face conflicts relating to time management and allocation
of resources and investment opportunities.”

Certain other investment vehicles sponsored by Hines have experienced adverse developments in recent
years. For example, in December 2009, Hines Real Estate Income Trust, Inc. (“Hines REIT”) suspended its share
redemption program, except with respect to redemptions in connection with the death or disability of a
stockholder. Hines REIT re-opened its share redemption program with respect to ordinary redemption requests in
April 2013. As of December 31, 2014, shares redeemed pursuant to the share redemption program were
redeemed at $5.45 per share, with respect to ordinary redemption requests, and $6.40 per share with respect to
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requests in connection with the death or disability of a stockholder. In May 2011, November 2012, April
2013, November 2013 and December 2014, Hines REIT’s board of directors determined an estimated per share
net asset value, or NAV, of $7.78, $7.61, $6.75, $6.40 and $6.50, respectively, each of which was lower than the
most recent primary offering price of $10.08. The reduction in the estimated NAV between November 2012 and
April 2013 was due to Hines REIT’s payment to its stockholders of special distributions in excess of $0.80 per
share (all of which represented a return of capital). In addition, Hines REIT decreased its distribution rate in July
2010 and further decreased the rate in April 2013.

In addition to Hines REIT and HMS Income Fund, Inc. (“HMS”), Hines has sponsored more than 20
privately-offered programs in the past ten years. Several of Hines’ privately-offered programs have experienced
adverse economic developments in recent years due to the global financial crisis and deteriorating economic
conditions in several European and South American countries, Mexico and several U.S. markets. The adverse
market conditions may cause these programs to alter their investment strategy, generate returns lower than
originally expected, or ultimately incur losses. There is a risk that we may experience similar adverse
developments, as an investment vehicle sponsored by Hines.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest or war may affect the markets in which we
operate our operations and our profitability.

Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest or war may negatively affect our operations and
our stockholders’ investments in our shares. Certain of our real estate investments are located in areas that may
be susceptible to attack. In addition, any kind of terrorist activity or violent criminal acts, including terrorist acts
against public institutions or buildings or modes of public transportation (including airlines, trains or buses)
could have a negative effect on our business. These events may directly impact the value of our assets through
damage, destruction, loss or increased security costs. We may not be able to obtain insurance against the risk of
terrorism because it may not be available or may not be available on terms that are economically feasible.
Further, even if we do obtain terrorism insurance, we may not be able to obtain sufficient coverage to fund any
losses we may incur. Risks associated with potential acts of terrorism in the areas in which we acquire properties
or other real estate investments could sharply increase the premiums we pay for coverage against property and
casualty claims. Additionally, mortgage lenders in some cases have begun to insist that specific coverage against
terrorism be purchased by commercial owners as a condition for providing loans.

The consequences of any armed conflict are unpredictable, and we may not be able to foresee events that
could have an adverse effect on our business or our stockholders’ investments in our shares. More generally, any
terrorist attack, other act of violence or war, including armed conflicts, could result in increased volatility in or
damage to, the United States and worldwide financial markets and economy. They also could result in a
continuation of the current economic uncertainty in the United States or abroad. Our revenues will be dependent
upon the payment of rent and the return of our other investments which may be particularly vulnerable to
uncertainty in the local economy. Increased economic volatility could adversely affect our tenants’ ability to pay
rent or the return on our other investments or our ability to borrow money or issue capital stock at acceptable
prices and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their investment.

Risks Related to Investments in Real Estate

Geographic concentration of our portfolio may make us particularly susceptible to adverse economic
developments in the real estate markets of those areas.

In the event that we have a concentration of properties in, or real estate investments that invest in properties
located in, a particular geographic area, our operating results and ability to make distributions are likely to be
impacted by economic changes affecting the real estate markets in that area. Our stockholders’ investment in our
common stock will therefore be subject to greater risk to the extent that we lack a geographically diversified
portfolio. For example, based on our pro-rata share of the estimated market value of the real estate investments in
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which we owned interests as of December 31, 2014, approximately 12% of our portfolio consists of properties
located in London, England and 11% of our portfolio consists of three properties located in Minneapolis,
Minnesota, respectively. Consequently, our financial condition and ability to make distributions could be
materially and adversely affected by any significant adverse developments in those markets. Please see “Item 2.
Properties — Market Concentration.”

Industry concentration of our tenants may make us particularly susceptible to adverse economic
developments in these industries.

In the event we have a concentration of tenants in a particular industry, our operating results and ability to
make distributions may be adversely affected by adverse developments in these industries and we will be subject
to a greater risk to the extent that our tenants are not diversified by industry. For example, based on our pro-rata
share of space leased to tenants as of December 31, 2014, 22% of our space is leased to tenants in the
transportation and warehousing industry, 20% is leased to tenants in the retail industry and 13% is leased to
tenants in the finance and insurance industry. Please see “Item 2. Properties — Industry Concentration.”

We depend on tenants for our revenue, and therefore our revenue is dependent on the success and
economic viability of our tenants. Our reliance on single or significant tenants in certain buildings may
decrease our ability to lease vacated space.

Rental income from real property constitutes a significant portion of our income. Delays in collecting
accounts receivable from tenants could adversely affect our cash flows and financial condition. In addition, the
inability of a single major tenant or a number of smaller tenants to meet their rental obligations would adversely
affect our income. Therefore, our financial success is indirectly dependent on the success of the businesses
operated by the tenants in our properties or in the properties securing loans we may own. Tenants may have the
right to terminate their leases upon the occurrence of certain customary events of default and, in other
circumstances, may not renew their leases or, because of market conditions, may be able to renew their leases on
terms that are less favorable to us than the terms of the current leases. The weakening of the financial condition
or the bankruptcy or insolvency of a significant tenant or a number of smaller tenants and vacancies caused by
defaults of tenants or the expiration of leases, may adversely affect our operations and our ability to pay
distributions.

Generally, under U.S. bankruptcy law, a debtor tenant has 120 days to exercise the option of assuming or
rejecting the obligations under any unexpired lease for nonresidential real property, which period may be
extended once by the bankruptcy court. If the tenant assumes its lease, the tenant must cure all defaults under the
lease and may be required to provide adequate assurance of its future performance under the lease. If the tenant
rejects the lease, we will have a claim against the tenant’s bankruptcy estate. Although rent owing for the period
between filing for bankruptcy and rejection of the lease may be afforded administrative expense priority and paid
in full, pre-bankruptcy arrears and amounts owing under the remaining term of the lease will be afforded general
unsecured claim status (absent collateral securing the claim). Moreover, amounts owing under the remaining
term of the lease will be capped. Other than equity and subordinated claims, general unsecured claims are the last
claims paid in a bankruptcy and therefore funds may not be available to pay such claims in full. In addition,
while the specifics of the bankruptcy laws of international jurisdictions may differ from the U.S. bankruptcy laws
described herein, the bankruptcy or insolvency of a significant tenant or a number of smaller tenants at any of the
international properties we may acquire, may similarly adversely impact our operations and our ability to pay
distributions.

Some of our properties may be leased to a single or significant tenant and, accordingly, may be suited to the
particular or unique needs of such tenant. We may have difficulty replacing such a tenant if the floor plan of the
vacant space limits the types of businesses that can use the space without major renovation. In addition, the resale
value of the property could be diminished because the market value of a particular property will depend
principally upon the value of the leases of such property.
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We may suffer adverse consequences if our revenues decline since our operating costs do not necessarily
decline in proportion to our revenue.

We earn a significant portion of our income from renting our properties. Our operating costs, however, do
not necessarily fluctuate in proportion to changes in our rental revenue. As a result, our costs will not necessarily
decline even if our revenues do. Similarly, our operating costs could increase while our revenues stay flat or
decline. In either such event, we may be forced to borrow funds to cover our costs, we may incur losses or we
may not have cash available to service our debt and to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Due to the risks involved in the ownership of real estate investments and real estate acquisitions, a return on
an investment in Hines Global is not guaranteed, and our stockholders may lose some or all of their
investment.

By owning our shares, stockholders will be subjected to significant risks associated with owning and
operating real estate investments. The performance of their investment in Hines Global will be subject to such
risks, including:

• changes in the general economic climate;

• changes in local conditions such as an oversupply of space or reduction in demand for real estate;

• changes in interest rates and the availability of financing;

• changes in property level operating expenses due to inflation or otherwise;

• changes in laws and governmental regulations, including those governing real estate usage, zoning and
taxes; and

• changes due to factors that are generally outside of our control, such as terrorist attacks and
international instability, natural disasters and acts of God, over-building, adverse national, state or local
changes in applicable tax, environmental or zoning laws and a taking of any of the properties which we
own or in which we otherwise have interests by eminent domain.

In addition, we expect to acquire additional properties in the future, which may subject us to additional risks
associated with real estate property acquisitions, including the risks that:

• the investments will fail to perform in accordance with our expectations because of conditions or
liabilities we did not know about at the time of acquisition; and

• our projections or estimates with respect to the performance of the investments, the costs of operating
or improving the properties or the effect of the economy or capital markets on the investments will
prove inaccurate.

Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows
and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their
investment.

We may be adversely affected by trends in the office real estate industry.

Some businesses are rapidly evolving to make employee telecommuting, flexible work schedules, open
workplaces and teleconferencing increasingly common. These practices enable businesses to reduce their space
requirements. A continuation of the movement towards these practices could over time erode the overall demand
for office space and, in turn, place downward pressure on occupancy, rental rates and property valuations, each of
which could have an adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows and ability to make
distributions to our shareholders.
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An economic slowdown or rise in interest rates or other unfavorable changes in economic conditions in the
markets in which we operate could adversely impact our business, results of operations, cash flows and
financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value of their
investment.

The development of negative economic conditions in the markets in which we operate may significantly
affect occupancy, rental rates and our ability to collect rent from our tenants, as well as our property values,
which could have a material adverse impact on our cash flows, operating results and carrying value of investment
property. For example, an economic recession or rise in interest rates could make it more difficult for us to lease
real properties, may require us to lease the real properties we acquire at lower rental rates and may lead to an
increase in tenant defaults. In addition, these conditions may also lead to a decline in the value of our properties
and make it more difficult for us to dispose of these properties at an attractive price. Other risks that may affect
conditions in the markets in which we operate include:

• local conditions, such as an oversupply of the types of properties we invest in or a reduction in demand
for such properties in the area; and

• increased operating costs, if these costs cannot be passed through to tenants.

International, national, regional and local economic climates have been adversely affected by the slow job
growth of recent years. To the extent any of the adverse conditions described above occurs in the specific
markets in which we operate, market rents, occupancy rates and our ability to collect rents from our tenants will
likely be affected and the value of our properties may decline. We could also face challenges related to
adequately managing and maintaining our properties, should we experience increased operating cost and as a
result, we may experience a loss of rental revenues. Any of these factors may adversely affect our business,
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition, our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and
the value of their investment.

Our use of borrowings to partially fund acquisitions and improvements on properties could result in
foreclosures and unexpected debt service expenses upon refinancing, both of which could have an adverse
impact on our operations and cash flow.

We are relying and intend to continue to rely in part on borrowings under our credit facilities and other
external sources of financing to fund the costs of any new investments, capital expenditures and other items.
Accordingly, we are subject to the risks that our cash flow will not be sufficient to cover required debt service
payments and that we will be unable to meet other covenants or requirements in the credit agreements.

If we cannot meet our required debt obligations, the property or properties securing such indebtedness could
be foreclosed upon by, or otherwise transferred to, our lender, with a consequent loss of income and asset value
to us. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a
purchase price equal to the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of
the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in the property, we would recognize taxable income on
foreclosure, but we may not receive any cash proceeds. Additionally, we may be required to refinance our debt
subject to “lump sum” or “balloon” payment maturities on terms less favorable than the original loan or at a time
we would otherwise prefer to not refinance such debt. A refinancing on such terms or at such times could
increase our debt service payments, which would decrease the amount of cash we would have available for
operations, new investments and distribution payments and may cause us to determine to sell one or more
properties at a time when we would not otherwise do so.

Uninsured losses relating to real property may adversely impact the value of our portfolio.

We attempt to ensure that all of our properties are adequately insured to cover casualty losses. However,
there are types of losses, generally catastrophic in nature, which are uninsurable, are not economically insurable
or are only insurable subject to limitations. Examples of such catastrophic events include acts of war or terrorism,
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earthquakes, floods, hurricanes and pollution or environmental matters. We may not have adequate coverage in
the event we or our buildings suffer casualty losses. If we do not have adequate insurance coverage, the value of
our assets will be reduced as the result of, and to the extent of, any such uninsured losses. Additionally, we may
not have access to capital resources to repair or reconstruct any uninsured damage to a property.

We may be unable to obtain desirable types of insurance coverage at a reasonable cost, if at all, and we may
be unable to comply with insurance requirements contained in mortgage or other agreements due to high
insurance costs.

We may not be able either to obtain certain desirable types of insurance coverage, such as terrorism,
earthquake, flood, hurricane and pollution or environmental matter insurance, or to obtain such coverage at a
reasonable cost in the future, and this risk may limit our ability to finance or refinance debt secured by our
properties. Additionally, we could default under debt or other agreements if the cost and/or availability of certain
types of insurance make it impractical or impossible to comply with covenants relating to the insurance we are
required to maintain under such agreements. In such instances, we may be required to self-insure against certain
losses or seek other forms of financial assurance.

The real estate industry is subject to extensive regulation, which may result in higher expenses or other
negative consequences that could adversely affect us.

Our activities are subject to federal, state and municipal laws, and to regulations, authorizations and license
requirements with respect to, among other things, zoning, environmental protection and historical heritage, all of
which may affect our business. We may be required to obtain licenses and permits with different governmental
authorities in order to acquire and manage our assets.

In addition, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”),
which generally took effect in 2011, contains a sweeping overhaul of the regulation of U.S. financial institutions
and financial markets. Key provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act require extensive rulemaking by the SEC and the
U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Commission, some of which remains ongoing. Thus, the full impact of the
Dodd-Frank Act on our business cannot be fully assessed until all final implementing rules and regulations are
promulgated.

Various rules currently in effect under the Dodd-Frank Act may have a significant impact on our business,
including, without limitation, provisions of the legislation that increase regulation of and disclosure requirements
related to investment advisors, swap transactions and hedging policies, corporate governance and executive
compensation, investor protection and enforcement provisions, and asset-backed securities.

For example, but not by way of limitation, the Dodd-Frank Act and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder provides for significantly increased regulation of the derivatives markets and transactions that affect
our interest rate hedging activities, including: (i) regulatory reporting, (ii) subject to limited exemptions,
mandated clearing through central counterparties and execution on regulated exchanges or execution facilities,
and (iii) margin and collateral requirements. While the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on our interest rate
hedging activities cannot be fully assessed until all final implementing rules and regulations are promulgated, the
foregoing requirements may affect our ability to enter into hedging or other risk management transactions, may
increase our costs in entering into such transactions, and/or may result in us entering into such transactions on
less favorable terms than prior to the Dodd-Frank Act. For example, subject to an exception for “end-users” of
swaps upon which we may seek to rely, we may be required to clear certain interest rate hedging transactions by
submitting them to a derivatives clearing organization. To the extent we are required to clear any such
transactions, we will be required to, among other things, post margin in connection with such transactions. The
occurrence of any of the foregoing events may have an adverse effect on our business and our stockholders’
return.
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In addition, public authorities may enact new and more stringent standards, or interpret existing laws and
regulations in a more restrictive manner, which may force companies in the real estate industry, including us, to
spend funds to comply with these new rules. Any such action on the part of public authorities may adversely
affect our results from operations.

In the event of noncompliance with such laws, regulations, licenses and authorizations, we may face the
payment of fines, project shutdowns, cancellation of licenses, and revocation of authorizations, in addition to
other civil and criminal penalties.

We operate in a competitive business, and many of our competitors have significant resources and
operating flexibility, allowing them to compete effectively with us.

Numerous real estate companies that operate in the markets in which we may operate will compete with us
in acquiring real estate investments and obtaining creditworthy tenants to occupy such properties or the
properties owned by such investments. Two such companies with whom we may compete for tenants are Hines
REIT and Hines Global REIT II, Inc. Such competition could adversely affect our business. There are numerous
real estate companies, real estate investment trusts and U.S. institutional and foreign investors that will compete
with us in seeking investments and tenants for properties. Many of these entities have significant financial and
other resources, including operating experience, allowing them to compete effectively with us. In addition, our
ability to charge premium rental rates to tenants may be negatively impacted. This increased competition may
increase our costs of acquisitions or investments or lower our occupancy rates and the rent we may charge
tenants. In addition, the arrival of new competitors in the immediate areas where we have assets could require
unplanned investments in our assets, which may adversely affect us. We may also have difficulty in renewing
leases or in leasing to new tenants, which may lead to a reduction in our cash flow and operating income, since
the proximity of new competitors could divert existing or new tenants to such competitors, resulting in vacancies.

We may have difficulty selling real estate investments, and our ability to distribute all or a portion of the net
proceeds from such sales to our stockholders may be limited.

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid. We will have a limited ability to vary our portfolio in
response to changes in economic or other conditions. We will also have a limited ability to sell assets in order to
fund working capital and similar capital needs such as share redemptions. We expect to generally hold a real
estate investment for the long term. When we sell any of our real estate investments, we may not realize a gain
on such sale or the amount of our taxable gain could exceed the cash proceeds we receive from such sale. We
may not distribute any proceeds from the sale of real estate investments to our stockholders. Rather, we may use
such proceeds to:

• purchase additional real estate investments;

• repay debt;

• buy out interests of any co-venturers or other partners in any joint venture in which we are a party;

• purchase shares under our share redemption program;

• create working capital reserves; or

• make repairs, maintenance, tenant improvements or other capital improvements or expenditures to our
other properties.

Our ability to sell our properties may also be limited by our need to avoid a 100% penalty tax that is
imposed on gain recognized by a REIT from the sale of property characterized as dealer property. In order to
avoid such characterization and to take advantage of certain safe harbors under the Code, we may determine to
hold our properties for a minimum period of time, generally two years.
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Potential liability as the result of, and the cost of compliance with, environmental matters could adversely
affect our operations.

Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, ordinances and regulations, a current or previous
owner or operator of real property may be liable for the cost of removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic
substances on such property. Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or
was responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances.

We have invested in properties historically used for industrial, manufacturing and commercial purposes.
These properties are more likely to contain, or may have contained, underground storage tanks for the storage of
petroleum products and other hazardous or toxic substances. All of these operations create a potential for the
release of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances. Leasing properties to tenants that engage in
industrial, manufacturing, and commercial activities will cause us to be subject to increased risk of liabilities
under environmental laws and regulations. The presence of hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to
properly remediate these substances, may adversely affect our ability to sell, rent or pledge such property as
collateral for future borrowings.

Environmental laws also may impose restrictions on the manner in which properties may be used or
businesses may be operated, and these restrictions may require expenditures. Such laws may be amended so as to
require compliance with stringent standards which could require us to make unexpected, substantial
expenditures. Environmental laws provide for sanctions in the event of noncompliance and may be enforced by
governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, by private parties. We may be potentially liable for such
costs in connection with the acquisition and ownership of our properties in the United States. In addition, we may
invest in properties located in countries that have adopted laws or observe environmental management standards
that are less stringent than those generally followed in the United States, which may pose a greater risk that
releases of hazardous or toxic substances have occurred to the environment. The cost of defending against claims
of liability, compliance with environmental regulatory requirements or remediating any contaminated property
could be substantial and require a material portion of our cash flow.

We face possible risks associated with the physical effects of climate change.

We cannot predict with certainty whether climate change is occurring and, if so, at what rate. However, the
physical effects of climate change could have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations and
business. To the extent climate change causes changes in weather patterns, our markets could experience
increases in storm intensity, such as those experienced in Super Storm Sandy in October 2012, and rising sea-
levels. Over time, these conditions could result in declining demand for office space in our buildings or the
inability of us to operate the buildings at all. Climate change may also have indirect effects on our business by
increasing the cost of (or making unavailable) property insurance on terms we find acceptable, increasing the
cost of energy and increasing the cost of snow removal at our properties. There can be no assurance that climate
change will not have a material adverse effect on our properties, operations or business.

Our properties are subject to property taxes that may increase in the future, which could adversely affect
our cash flow.

Our properties are subject to real and personal property taxes that may increase as property tax rates change
and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. We anticipate that most of our leases will
generally provide that the property taxes or increases therein, are charged to the lessees as an expense related to
the properties that they occupy. As the owner of the properties, however, we are ultimately responsible for
payment of the taxes to the government. If property taxes increase, our tenants may be unable to make the
required tax payments, ultimately requiring us to pay the taxes. In addition, we will generally be responsible for
property taxes related to any vacant space. If we purchase residential properties, the leases for such properties
typically will not allow us to pass through real estate taxes and other taxes to residents of such properties.
Consequently, any tax increases may adversely affect our results of operations at such properties.
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Our costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, or the ADA, may
affect cash available for distributions.

Any domestic properties we acquire will generally be subject to the ADA. Under the ADA, all places of
public accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled
persons. The ADA has separate compliance requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial
facilities” that generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available to people with
disabilities. The ADA’s requirements could require removal of access barriers and could result in the imposition
of injunctive relief, monetary penalties or, in some cases, an award of damages. We may not acquire properties
that comply with the ADA or we may not be able to allocate the burden on the seller or other third-party, such as
a tenant, to ensure compliance with the ADA in all cases. Foreign jurisdictions may have similar requirements
and any funds we use for ADA or similar compliance may affect cash available for distributions and the amount
of distributions to you.

Our properties may contain or develop harmful mold, which could lead to liability for adverse health effects
and costs of remediating the problem.

If any of our properties has or develops mold we may be required to undertake a costly program to
remediate, contain or remove the mold. Mold growth may occur when moisture accumulates in buildings or on
building materials. Some molds may produce airborne toxins or irritants. Concern about indoor exposure to mold
has been increasing because exposure to mold may cause a variety of adverse health effects and symptoms,
including allergic or other reactions. We may become liable to our tenants, their employees and others if property
damage or health concerns arise, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the
value of their investment.

If we set aside insufficient working capital reserves, we may be required to defer necessary or desirable
property improvements.

If we do not establish sufficient reserves for working capital to supply necessary funds for capital
improvements or similar expenses, we may be required to defer necessary or desirable improvements to our
properties. If we defer such improvements, the applicable properties may decline in value, it may be more
difficult for us to attract or retain tenants to such properties or the amount of rent we can charge at such
properties may decrease.

Risks related to the development of real properties may have an adverse effect on our results of operations
and returns to our stockholders.

We have invested in properties on which developments or improvements are to be constructed or completed.
As such, we are subject to the risks associated with development and construction activities including the
following:

• long periods of time may elapse between the commencement and the completion of our projects;

• our original estimates may not be accurate and our actual construction and development costs may
exceed those estimates;

• the level of interest of potential tenants for a recently launched development may be low;

• construction materials and equipment may be unavailable or cost more than expected due to changes in
supply and demand;

• construction and sales may not be completed on time, resulting in a cost increase;

• we may not be able to acquire or we may pay too much for the land we acquire for new developments
or properties;
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• labor may be in limited availability; and

• changes in tax, real estate and zoning laws may be unfavorable to us.

In addition, our reputation and the construction quality of our real estate developments, whether operated
individually or through partnerships, may be determining factors for our ability to lease space and grow. The
timely delivery of real estate projects and the quality of our developments, however, depend on certain factors
beyond our full control, including the quality and timeliness of construction materials delivered to us and the
technical capabilities of our contractor. If one or more problems affect our real estate developments, our
reputation and future performance may be negatively affected and we may be exposed to civil liability.

We depend on a variety of factors outside of our control to build, develop and operate real estate projects.
These factors include, among others, the availability of market resources for financing, land acquisition and
project development. Any scarcity of market resources, including human capital, may decrease our development
capacity due to either difficulty in obtaining credit for land acquisition or construction financing or a need to
reduce the pace of our growth. The combination of these risks may adversely affect our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the
value of their investment.

Delays in the development and construction of real properties may have adverse effects on portfolio
diversification, results of operations and returns to our stockholders.

We have invested in properties on which developments or improvements are to be constructed or completed
and we may experience delays in the development of our real properties. Such delays could adversely affect our
stockholders’ returns. When properties are acquired prior to the start of construction or during the early stages of
construction, it will typically take several months or longer to complete construction, to rent available space, and
for rent payments to commence. Therefore, we may not receive any income from these properties and our ability
to pay distributions to our stockholders could suffer. If we are delayed in the completion of any such construction
project, our tenants may have the right to terminate preconstruction leases for space at such newly developed
project. We may incur additional risks when we make periodic progress payments or other advances to builders
prior to completion of construction. Each of those factors could result in increased costs of a project or loss of
our investment. In addition, we will be subject to normal lease-up risks relating to newly-constructed projects.
Furthermore, the price we agree to pay for a real property will be based on our projections of rental income and
expenses and estimates of the fair market value of the real property upon completion of construction. If our
projections are inaccurate, we may pay too much for a property.

Changes in supply of or demand for similar properties in a particular area may increase the price of real
estate assets we may seek to purchase or adversely affect the value of the properties we own.

The real estate industry is subject to market forces and we are unable to predict certain market changes
including changes in supply of or demand for similar properties in a particular area. For example, if demand for
the types of real estate assets in which we seek to invest were to sharply increase or supply of those assets were
to sharply decrease, the prices of those assets could rise significantly. Any potential purchase of an overpriced
asset could decrease our rate of return on these investments and result in lower operating results and overall
returns to you. Likewise, a sharp increase in supply could adversely affect lease rates and occupancy, which
could result in lower operating results and overall returns to you.

Retail properties depend on anchor tenants to attract shoppers and could be adversely affected by the loss of
a key anchor tenant.

We have acquired properties that include retail space. Retail properties, like other properties, are subject to
the risk that tenants may be unable to make their lease payments or may decline to extend a lease upon its
expiration. A lease termination by a tenant that occupies a large area of a retail center (commonly referred to as
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an anchor tenant) could impact leases of other tenants. Other tenants may be entitled to modify the terms of their
existing leases in the event of a lease termination by an anchor tenant, or the closure of the business of an anchor
tenant that leaves its space vacant even if the anchor tenant continues to pay rent. Any such modifications or
conditions could be unfavorable to us as the property owner and could decrease rents or expense recoveries.
Additionally, major tenant closures may result in decreased customer traffic, which could lead to decreased sales
at other stores. In the event of default by a tenant or anchor store, we may experience delays and costs in
enforcing our rights as landlord to recover amounts due to us under the terms of our agreements with those
parties.

Leases with retail properties’ tenants may restrict us from re-leasing space.

Most leases with retail tenants contain provisions giving the particular tenant the exclusive right to sell
particular types of merchandise or provide specific types of services within the particular retail center. These
provisions may limit the number and types of prospective tenants interested in leasing space in a particular retail
property.

Short-term multifamily community leases associated with any multifamily residential properties we own
may expose us to the effects of declining market rent and could adversely impact our ability to make cash
distributions to our stockholders.

We expect that substantially all of our multifamily community leases will be for a term of one year or less.
Because these leases generally permit the residents to leave at the end of the lease term without penalty, our
rental revenues may be impacted by declines in market rents more quickly than if our leases were for longer
terms.

High levels of unemployment could adversely affect the occupancy and rental rates of any multifamily
residential properties we own, with high quality multifamily communities suffering even more severely.

Increased levels of unemployment in multifamily markets could significantly decrease occupancy and rental
rates. In times of increasing unemployment, multifamily occupancy and rental rates have historically been
adversely affected by:

• rental residents deciding to share rental units and therefore rent fewer units;

• potential residents moving back into family homes or delaying leaving family homes;

• a reduced demand for higher-rent units, such as those of high quality multifamily communities;

• a decline in household formation;

• persons enrolled in college delaying leaving college or choosing to proceed to or return to graduate
school in the absence of available employment;

• the inability or unwillingness of residents to pay rent increases; and

• increased collection losses.

These factors generally have contributed to lower rental rates. If these factors worsen, our results of
operations, financial condition and ability to make distributions to our stockholders may be adversely affected.

The multifamily residential properties in which we invest must comply with the Fair Housing Amendment
of 1988.

The multifamily residential properties in which we invest domestically, must comply with the Fair Housing
Amendment Act of 1988, or FHAA, which requires that multifamily communities first occupied after March 13,
1991 be accessible to handicapped residents and visitors. Compliance with the FHAA could require removal of
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structural barriers to handicapped access in a community, including the interiors of apartment units covered
under the FHAA. There has been heightened scrutiny of multifamily housing communities for compliance with
the requirements of the FHAA and the ADA and multiple substantial enforcement actions and private lawsuits
have been brought against multifamily communities to ensure compliance with these requirements.
Noncompliance with the FHAA and the ADA could result in the imposition of fines, awards of damages to
private litigants, payment of attorneys’ fees and other costs to plaintiffs, substantial litigation costs and
substantial costs of remediation.

Our investments in multifamily residential properties may face increased competition from single-family
homes and condominiums for rent, which could limit our ability to retain residents, lease apartment units or
increase or maintain rents.

We will face significant competition with respect to our investments in multifamily residential
properties. Any multifamily community we own may compete with numerous housing alternatives in attracting
residents, including single-family homes and condominiums available for rent. Such competitive housing
alternatives may become more prevalent in a particular area because of the tightening of mortgage lending
underwriting criteria, homeowner foreclosures, the decline in single-family home and condominium sales and the
lack of available credit. The number of single-family homes and condominiums for rent in a particular area could
limit our ability to retain residents, lease apartment units or increase or maintain rents.

We purchased assets at a time when the commercial real estate market was experiencing substantial
influxes of capital investment and competition for properties, and the real estate we purchased may not
appreciate or may decrease in value.

Real estate investment transaction volume has increased since 2010, and estimated going-in capitalization
rates, or cap rates (ratio of the net projected operating income of a property in its initial fiscal year divided by the
net purchase price), have fallen relative to their post-recession peaks in late 2009. There continues to be a
significant amount of investment capital pursuing high-quality, well-located assets that generate stable cash
flows, causing aggressive competition and pricing for assets which match our investment strategy. This may
continue to drive prices higher, resulting in lower cap rates and returns. We have purchased real estate in this
environment and we are subject to the risks that the value of our assets may not appreciate or may decrease
significantly below the amount we paid for such assets if the real estate market ceases to attract the same level of
capital investment in the future as it attracted when we purchased such assets, or if the number of companies
seeking to acquire such assets decreases. If any of these circumstances occur or the values of our investments are
otherwise negatively affected, the value of our stockholders’ investment may be lower.

Risks Related to Investments in Debt

Hines does not have substantial experience investing in mortgage, mezzanine, bridge or construction loans,
securitized debt or other debt related to properties in which we invest which could adversely affect our
return on our loan investments.

We have made, and may continue to make, investments in mortgage, mezzanine, bridge or construction
loans, securitized debt or other debt related to properties if the Advisor determines that it is advantageous to us
due to the state of the real estate market or in order to diversify our investment portfolio. However neither the
Advisor nor any of its affiliates has any substantial experience investing in these types of loans and we may not
have the expertise necessary to maximize the return on our investment in these types of loans.

Loans we make or invest in may be impacted by unfavorable real estate market conditions, which could
decrease the value of our loan investments.

We have made and may continue to make or invest in loans and we will be at risk of default by the
borrowers on those loans. These defaults may be caused by many conditions beyond our control, including
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interest rate levels and local and other economic conditions affecting real estate values. We may invest in
unsecured loans. Even with respect to loans secured by real property, we will not know whether the values of the
properties securing the loans will remain at the levels existing on the dates of origination of the loans. If the
values of such underlying properties drop, our risk will increase with respect to secured loans because of the
lower value of the security associated with such loans.

Loans we make or invest in will be subject to interest rate fluctuations, which could reduce our returns as
compared to market interest rates as well as the value of the loans in the event we sell the loans.

If we invest in fixed-rate, long-term loans and interest rates rise, the loans could yield a return that is lower
than then-current market rates. If interest rates decrease, we will be adversely affected to the extent that loans are
prepaid, because we may not be able to make new loans at the previously higher interest rate. If we invest in
variable interest rate loans, if interest rates decrease, our revenues will likewise decrease. Finally, if interest rates
increase, the value of fixed-rate loans we own at such time would decrease which would lower the proceeds we
would receive in the event we sell such assets.

Delays in liquidating defaulted loans could reduce our investment returns.

If there are defaults under our loans secured by real property, we may not be able to repossess and sell the
underlying properties quickly. The resulting time delay could reduce the value of our investment in the defaulted
loans. An action to foreclose on a property securing a loan is regulated by state statutes and rules and is subject to
many of the delays and expenses of other lawsuits if the defendant raises defenses or counterclaims. In the event
of default by a borrower, these restrictions, among other things, may impede our ability to foreclose on or sell the
secured property or to obtain proceeds sufficient to repay all amounts due to us on the loan.

Bridge loans may involve a greater risk of loss than conventional mortgage loans.

We may provide bridge loans secured by first lien mortgages on properties to borrowers who are typically
seeking short-term capital in connection with acquisitions, developments or refinancings of real estate. In
connection with such investments, there is a risk that the borrower may not achieve its investment objectives and
that we may therefore not recover some or all of our investment in such bridge loans. For example, if we provide
a bridge loan to a borrower who has identified an undervalued asset, either due to mismanagement of the
underlying assets or as a result of what the borrowers deems to be a recovering market, and the market in which
such asset is located fails to recover according to the borrower’s projections, or if the borrower fails to improve
the quality of the asset’s management or the value of the asset, the borrower may not receive a sufficient return
on the asset to satisfy the bridge loan.

In addition, owners usually borrow funds under a conventional mortgage loan to repay a bridge loan. If the
borrower is unable to obtain permanent financing to repay our bridge loan, we may lose some or all of our
investment. Bridge loans are also subject to risks of borrower defaults, bankruptcies, fraud, losses and special
hazard losses that are not covered by standard hazard insurance. In the event we make a bridge loan to a borrower
who defaults, we bear the risk of loss of principal and nonpayment of interest and fees to the extent of any
deficiency between the value of the mortgage collateral and the principal amount of the bridge loan. To the
extent we suffer such losses with respect to our investments in bridge loans, it could adversely impact our
business, results of operations, cash flows and financial ability and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders and value of their investment.

Non-conforming and non-investment grade loans are subject to an increased risk of loss.

Loans we may acquire or originate may not conform to conventional loan criteria applied by traditional
lenders and may not be rated or may be rated as “non-investment grade.” Non-investment grade ratings for these
loans typically result from the overall leverage of the loans, the lack of a strong operating history for the

20



properties underlying the loans, the borrowers’ credit history, the properties’ underlying cash flow or other
factors. Therefore, non-conforming and investment loans we acquire or originate may have a higher risk of
default and loss than conventional loans. Any loss we incur may adversely impact our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial ability and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and value of
their investment.

Our debt investments may be considered illiquid and we may not be able to adjust our portfolio in response
to changes in economic and other conditions.

The debt investments we may make in connection with privately negotiated transactions may not be
registered under the relevant securities laws, resulting in a prohibition against their transfer, sale, pledge or other
disposition except in a transaction that is exempt from the registration requirements of, or is otherwise in
accordance with, those laws. As a result, our ability to vary our portfolio in response to changes in economic and
other conditions may be relatively limited. The mezzanine loans we may purchase in the future will be
particularly illiquid investments due to their short life, their unsuitability for securitization and the greater
difficulty of recoupment in the event of a borrower’s default.

Risks Related to International Investments

We are subject to additional risks from our international investments.

Many of the properties in our portfolio are located outside the United States. We may purchase others and
may make or purchase loans or participations in loans secured by property located outside the United States.
These investments may be affected by factors particular to the laws and business practices of the jurisdictions in
which the properties are located.

These laws and business practices may expose us to risks that are different from and in addition to those
commonly found in the United States. Foreign investments pose the following risks:

• the burden of complying with a wide variety of foreign laws;

• changing governmental rules and policies, including changes in land use and zoning laws, more
stringent environmental laws or changes in such environmental laws;

• existing or new laws relating to the foreign ownership of real property or loans and laws restricting the
ability of foreign persons or companies to remove profits earned from activities within the country to
the person’s or company’s country of origin;

• the potential for expropriation;

• possible currency transfer restrictions;

• imposition of adverse or confiscatory taxes;

• changes in real estate and other tax rates and changes in other operating expenses in particular
countries;

• possible challenges to the anticipated tax treatment of the structures that allow us to acquire and hold
investments;

• adverse market conditions caused by terrorism, civil unrest and changes in national or local
governmental or economic conditions;

• the willingness of domestic or foreign lenders to make loans in certain countries and changes in the
availability, cost and terms of loan funds resulting from varying national economic policies;

• general political and economic instability in certain regions;
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• the potential difficulty of enforcing obligations in other countries; and

• Hines’ limited experience and expertise in foreign countries relative to its experience and expertise in
the United States.

For example, recent events in Russia and Ukraine could adversely affect our real estate investments in
Russia. We currently have two real estate investments in Moscow, representing $131.8 million of equity or
approximately 3% of our total invested equity. We believe the primary risk to our real estate investments
resulting from unfolding events in Ukraine is the potential for the crisis to escalate to the point of significant and
prolonged destabilization of the Russian economy, as well as the impact of potential long-term sanctions imposed
on Russia by the United States and Europe. These risks could adversely impact ongoing valuations and operating
performance of our Russian real estate investments, as well as their ultimate liquidity.

Investments in properties or other real estate investments outside the United States subject us to foreign
currency risks, which may adversely affect distributions and our REIT status.

Revenues generated from any properties or other real estate investments or ventures we enter into relating to
transactions involving assets located in markets outside the United States likely will be denominated in the local
currency. Therefore, any investments we make outside the United States may subject us to foreign currency risk
due to potential fluctuations in exchange rates between foreign currencies and the U.S. dollar. As a result,
changes in exchange rates of any such foreign currency to the U.S. dollar may affect our revenues, operating
margins and distributions and may also affect the book value of our assets and the amount of stockholders’
equity.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates used to value a REIT’s foreign assets may be considered
changes in the value of the REIT’s assets. These changes may adversely affect our status as a REIT. Further,
bank accounts in foreign currency which are not considered cash or cash equivalents may adversely affect our
status as a REIT.

Inflation in foreign countries, along with government measures to curb inflation, may have an adverse
effect on our investments.

Certain countries have in the past experienced extremely high rates of inflation. Inflation, along with
governmental measures to curb inflation, coupled with public speculation about possible future governmental
measures to be adopted, has had significant negative effects on these international economies in the past and this
could occur again in the future. The introduction of governmental policies to curb inflation can have an adverse
effect on our business. High inflation in the countries in which we purchase real estate or make other investments
could increase our expenses and we may not be able to pass these increased costs on to our tenants.

Lack of compliance with the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) could subject us to
penalties and other adverse consequences.

We are subject to the FCPA, which generally prohibits United States companies from engaging in bribery or
other prohibited payments to foreign officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Foreign
companies, including potential competitors, are not subject to these prohibitions. Fraudulent practices, including
corruption, extortion, bribery, pay-offs, theft and others, occur from time-to-time in countries in which we may
do business. If people acting on our behalf or at our request are found to have engaged in such practices, severe
penalties and other consequences could be imposed on us that may have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our
stockholders and the value of their investment.
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Risks Related to Organizational Structure

Any interest in Hines Global will be diluted by the Special OP Units and any other OP Units in the
Operating Partnership, and any interest in Hines Global may be diluted if we issue additional shares.

Hines Global owned a 99.99% general partner interest in the Operating Partnership as of December 31,
2014. Affiliates of Hines owned the remaining 0.01% interest in the Operating Partnership. Hines Global REIT
Associates Limited Partnership owns the special units of the Operating Partnership (the “Special OP Units”),
which were issued as consideration for an obligation by Hines and its affiliates to perform services in connection
with our real estate operations. Payments with respect to these interests will reduce the amount of distributions
that would otherwise be payable to our stockholders in the future.

Stockholders do not have preemptive rights to acquire any shares issued by us in the future. Therefore,
investors purchasing our common shares may experience dilution of their equity investment if we:

• sell additional shares in the future, including those issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment
plan;

• sell securities that are convertible into shares, such as units of the Operating Partnership (“OP Units”);

• at the option of our Advisor, issue OP Units to pay for certain fees;

• issue OP Units or common shares to the Advisor or affiliates in exchange for advances or deferrals of
fees;

• issue shares in a private offering; or

• issue shares to sellers of properties acquired by us in connection with an exchange of partnership units
from the Operating Partnership.

Our stockholders may experience dilution.

Our stockholders do not have preemptive rights. If we continue to issue additional shares pursuant to our
distribution reinvestment plan or otherwise issue additional shares, stockholders who do not participate in those
other stock issuances will experience dilution in their percentage ownership of our outstanding shares.
Furthermore, stockholders may experience a dilution in the value of their shares depending on the terms and
pricing of any share issuances (including the shares sold in our public offerings) and the value of our assets at the
time of issuance.

The repurchase of interests in the Operating Partnership held by Hines and its affiliates (including the
Special OP Units and other OP Units) as required in our Advisory Agreement may discourage a takeover
attempt.

Under certain circumstances, including a merger, consolidation or sale of substantially all of our assets or
any similar transaction, a transaction pursuant to which a majority of our board of directors then in office are
replaced or removed, or the termination or non-renewal of our Advisory Agreement under various circumstances,
the Operating Partnership is, at the election of Hines or its affiliates, required to purchase the Special OP Units
and any OP Units that Hines or its affiliates own for cash (or, in certain cases, a promissory note) or our shares,
at the election of the holder. These rights may deter these types of transactions which may limit the opportunity
for stockholders to receive a premium for their common shares that might otherwise exist if an investor
attempted to acquire us.

Hines’ ability to cause the Operating Partnership to purchase the Special OP Units and any other OP Units
that it or its affiliates hold in connection with the termination of our Advisory Agreement may deter us from
terminating our Advisory Agreement.

Under certain circumstances, if we are not advised by an entity affiliated with Hines, Hines or its affiliates
may cause the Operating Partnership to purchase some or all of the Special OP Units or any other OP Units then
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held by such entities. Under these circumstances if the amount necessary to purchase Hines’ and its affiliates’
interests in the Operating Partnership is substantial, these rights could discourage or deter us from terminating
our Advisory Agreement under circumstances in which we would otherwise do so.

We may issue preferred shares or separate classes or series of common shares, which issuance could
adversely affect the holders of our common shares.

We may issue, without stockholder approval, preferred shares or a class or series of common shares with
rights that could adversely affect the holders of our common shares. Upon the affirmative vote of a majority of
our directors (including, in the case of preferred shares, a majority of our independent directors), our articles
authorize our board of directors (without any further action by our stockholders) to issue preferred shares or
common shares in one or more classes or series, and to fix the voting rights (subject to certain limitations),
liquidation preferences, distribution rates, conversion rights, redemption rights and terms, including sinking fund
provisions, and certain other rights and preferences with respect to such classes or series of shares. If we ever
create and issue preferred shares with a distribution preference over common shares, payment of any distribution
preferences of outstanding preferred shares would reduce the amount of funds available for the payment of
distributions on the common shares. Further, holders of preferred shares are normally entitled to receive a
preference payment in the event we liquidate, dissolve or wind up before any payment is made to the common
stockholders, likely reducing the amount common stockholders would otherwise receive upon such an
occurrence. We could also designate and issue shares in a class or series of common shares with similar rights. In
addition, under certain circumstances, the issuance of preferred shares or a separate class or series of common
shares may render more difficult or tend to discourage:

• a merger, tender offer or proxy contest;

• the assumption of control by a holder of a large block of our securities; and/or

• the removal of incumbent management.

Our board of directors determines our major policies and operations which increases the uncertainties
faced by our stockholders.

Our board of directors determines our major policies, including our policies regarding acquisitions,
dispositions, financing, growth, debt capitalization, REIT qualification, redemptions and distributions. Our board
of directors may amend or revise these and other policies without a vote of the stockholders. Under the Maryland
General Corporation Law and our articles, our stockholders have a right to vote only on limited matters. Our
board of directors’ broad discretion in setting policies and the inability of our stockholders to exert control over
those policies increases the uncertainty and risks they face, especially if our board of directors and our
stockholders disagree as to what course of action is in the best interests of our stockholders.

The ownership limit in our articles may discourage a takeover attempt.

Our articles provide that no holder of shares, other than any person to whom our board of directors grants an
exemption, may directly or indirectly own more than 9.9% of the number or value, whichever is more restrictive,
of the aggregate of our outstanding shares or more than 9.9% of the number or value, whichever is more
restrictive, of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our outstanding securities. This ownership limit may
deter tender offers for our common shares, which offers may be attractive to our stockholders, and thus may limit
the opportunity for stockholders to receive a premium for their common shares that might otherwise exist if an
investor attempted to assemble a block of common shares in excess of 9.9% of the number or value, whichever is
more restrictive, of the aggregate of our outstanding shares, or 9.9% in number or value, whichever is more
restrictive, of the outstanding common shares or otherwise to effect a change of control in us.
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We will not be afforded the protection of the Maryland General Corporation Law relating to business
combinations.

Provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law prohibit business combinations, unless prior approval
of the board of directors is obtained before the person seeking the combination became an interested stockholder,
with:

• any person who beneficially owns 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting shares
(an “interested stockholder”);

• any of our affiliates or associates who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in
question, was the beneficial owner of 10% or more of the voting power of our then outstanding shares
(also an “interested stockholder”); or

• an affiliate of an interested stockholder.

These prohibitions are intended to prevent a change of control by interested stockholders who do not have
the support of our board of directors. Because our articles contain limitations on ownership of more than 9.9% of
our common shares, our board of directors has adopted a resolution presently opting out of the business
combinations statute. Therefore, we will not be afforded the protections of this statute and, accordingly, there is
no guarantee that the ownership limitations in our articles will provide the same measure of protection as the
business combinations statute and prevent an undesired change of control by an interested stockholder.

We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended
(the “Investment Company Act”), and therefore we will not be subject to the requirements imposed on an
investment company by the Investment Company Act which may limit or otherwise affect our investment
choices.

Hines Global, our Operating Partnership, and our subsidiaries will conduct our businesses so that none of
such entities are required to register as “investment companies” under the Investment Company Act. Although
we could modify our business methods at any time, at the present time we expect that the focus of our activities
will involve investments in real estate, buildings, and other assets that can be referred to as “sticks and bricks”
and in other real estate investments and will otherwise be considered to be in the real estate business.

Companies subject to the Investment Company Act are required to comply with a variety of substantive
requirements such as requirements relating to:

• limitations on the capital structure of the entity;

• restrictions on certain investments;

• prohibitions on transactions with affiliated entities; and

• public reporting disclosures, record keeping, voting procedures, proxy disclosure and similar corporate
governance rules and regulations.

These and other requirements are intended to provide benefits and/or protections to security holders of
investment companies. Because we and our subsidiaries do not expect to be subject to these requirements, our
stockholders will not be entitled to these benefits or protections. It is our policy to operate in a manner that will
not require us to register as an investment company, and we do not expect or intend to register as an “investment
company” under the Investment Company Act.

Whether a company is an investment company can involve analysis of complex laws, regulations and SEC
staff interpretations. Hines Global and the Operating Partnership intend to continue to conduct operations so as
not to become subject to regulation as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. So long as
Hines Global conducts its businesses directly and through its Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned or
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majority-owned subsidiaries that are not investment companies and none of Hines Global, the Operating
Partnership and the wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries hold themselves out as being engaged
primarily in the business of investing in securities, Hines Global will not have to register. The securities issued
by any subsidiary that is excepted from the definition of investment company under Section 3(c)(1) or
Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment Company Act, together with any other “investment securities” (as used in the
Investment Company Act) its parent may own, may not meet the standards of the 40% test. In other words, even
if some interests in other entities were deemed to be investment securities, so long as such investment securities
do not comprise more than 40% of an entity’s assets, the entity will not be required to register as an investment
company. If an entity held investment securities and the value of these securities exceeded 40% of the value of its
total assets, and no other exemption from registration was available, then that entity might be required to register
as an investment company.

We do not expect that we, the Operating Partnership, or other subsidiaries will be an investment company
because we will seek to assure that holdings of investment securities in any such entity will not exceed 40% of
the total assets of that entity as calculated under the Investment Company Act. In order to operate in compliance
with that standard, each entity may be required to conduct its business in a manner that takes account of these
provisions. We, our Operating Partnership, or a subsidiary could be unable to sell assets we would otherwise
want to sell or we may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish to retain, if we deem it necessary to remain in
compliance with the 40% test. In addition, we may also have to forgo opportunities to acquire certain
investments or interests in companies or entities that we would otherwise want to acquire, or acquire assets we
might otherwise not select for purchase, if we deem it necessary to remain in compliance with the 40% test. For
example, these restrictions will limit the ability of our subsidiaries to invest directly in mortgage-backed
securities that represent less than the entire ownership in a pool of mortgage loans, debt and equity tranches of
securitizations and certain asset backed securities and real estate companies or in assets not related to real estate.

If Hines Global, the Operating Partnership or any subsidiary owns assets that qualify as “investment
securities” as such term is defined under the Investment Company Act and the value of such assets exceeds 40%
of the value of its total assets, the entity could be deemed to be an investment company. In that case the entity
would have to qualify for an exemption from registration as an investment company in order to operate without
registering as an investment company. Certain of the subsidiaries that we may form in the future could seek to
rely upon the exemption from registration as an investment company under the Investment Company Act
pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of that Act, which is available for, among other things, entities “primarily engaged
in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate.”
This exemption generally requires that at least 55% of an entity’s portfolio must be comprised of qualifying
assets and at least another 25% of such entity’s portfolio must be comprised of real estate-related assets (as such
terms are used under the Investment Company Act) and no more than 20% of such entity’s portfolio may be
comprised of miscellaneous assets. Qualifying assets for this purpose include certain mortgage loans and other
assets, such as whole pool agency residential mortgage backed securities (“RMBS”) that the SEC staff, in various
no-action letters, has determined are the functional equivalent of mortgage loans for the purposes of the
Investment Company Act. We intend to treat as real estate-related assets non-agency RMBS, CMBS, debt and
equity securities of companies primarily engaged in real estate businesses, agency partial pool certificates and
securities issued by pass-through entities of which substantially all of the assets consist of qualifying assets and/
or real estate-related assets.

We may in the future organize one or more subsidiaries that seek to rely on the Investment Company Act
exemption provided to certain structured financing vehicles by Rule 3a-7. To the extent that we organize
subsidiaries that rely on Rule 3a-7 under the Investment Company Act for an exemption from the Investment
Company Act, these subsidiaries will need to comply with the restrictions contained in this Rule. In general, Rule
3a-7 exempts from the Investment Company Act issuers that limit their activities as follows:

• the issuer issues securities the payment of which depends primarily on the cash flow from “eligible
assets”;
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• the securities sold are fixed income securities rated investment grade by at least one rating agency
(fixed income securities which are unrated or rated below investment grade may be sold to institutional
accredited investors and any securities may be sold to “qualified institutional buyers” and to persons
involved in the organization or operation of the issuer);

• the issuer acquires and disposes of eligible assets (1) only in accordance with the agreements pursuant
to which the securities are issued, (2) so that the acquisition or disposition does not result in a
downgrading of the issuer’s fixed income securities and (3) the eligible assets are not acquired or
disposed of for the primary purpose of recognizing gains or decreasing losses resulting from market
value changes; and

• unless the issuer is issuing only commercial paper, the issuer appoints an independent trustee, takes
reasonable steps to transfer to the trustee an ownership or perfected security interest in the eligible
assets, and meets rating agency requirements for commingling of cash flows.

In addition, in certain circumstances, compliance with Rule 3a-7 may also require, among other things, that
the indenture governing the subsidiary include additional limitations on the types of assets the subsidiary may
sell or acquire out of the proceeds of assets that mature, are refinanced or otherwise sold, on the period of time
during which such transactions may occur, and on the level of transactions that may occur. In light of the
requirements of Rule 3a-7, our ability to manage assets held in a special purpose subsidiary that complies with
Rule 3a-7 will be limited and we may not be able to purchase or sell assets owned by that subsidiary when we
would otherwise desire to do so, which could lead to losses.

In addition to the exceptions and exemptions discussed above, we, the Operating Partnership and/or our
subsidiaries may rely upon other exceptions and exemptions, including the exemptions provided by
Section 3(c)(6) of the Investment Company Act (which exempts, among other things, parent entities whose
primary business is conducted through majority-owned subsidiaries relying upon the exemption provided by
Section 3(c)(5)(C) discussed above) from the definition of an investment company and the registration
requirements under the Investment Company Act.

There can be no assurance that the laws and regulations governing the Investment Company Act status of
REITs, including actions by the Division of Investment Management of the SEC providing more specific or
different guidance regarding these exemptions, will not change in a manner that adversely affects our operations.
To the extent that the SEC staff provides more specific guidance regarding any of the matters bearing upon the
exceptions discussed above or other exemptions from the definition of an investment company under the
Investment Company Act upon which we may rely, we may be required to adjust our strategy accordingly.

If Hines Global or the Operating Partnership is required to register as an investment company under the
Investment Company Act, the additional expenses and operational limitations associated with such
registration may reduce our stockholders’ investment return or impair our ability to conduct our business as
planned.

If we were required to register as an investment company, but failed to do so, we would be prohibited from
engaging in our business, criminal and civil actions could be brought against us, some of our contracts might be
unenforceable, unless a court were to direct enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of
us and liquidate our business.

If we internalize our management functions, we could incur adverse effects on our business and financial
condition, including significant costs associated with becoming and being self-managed and the percentage
of our outstanding common stock owned by our stockholders could be reduced.

If we seek to list our shares on an exchange as a way of providing our stockholders with a liquidity event,
we may consider internalizing the functions performed for us by our Advisor. An internalization could take many
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forms, for example, we may hire our own group of executives and other employees or we may acquire the
Advisor or its respective assets including its existing workforce. Any internalization could result in significant
payments, including in the form of our stock, to the owners of the Advisor as compensation, which could reduce
the percentage ownership of our then existing stockholders and concentrate ownership in Hines. In addition, there
is no assurance that internalizing our management functions will be beneficial to us and our stockholders. For
example, we may not realize the perceived benefits because of: (i) the costs of being self-managed; (ii) our
inability to effectively integrate a new staff of managers and employees; or (iii) our inability to properly replicate
the services provided previously by the Advisor or its affiliates. Additionally, internalization transactions have
also, in some cases, been the subject of litigation and even if these claims are without merit, we could be forced
to spend significant amounts of money defending claims which would reduce the amount of funds available for
us to invest in real estate investments or to pay distributions. In connection with any such internalization
transaction, a special committee consisting of our independent directors will be appointed to evaluate the
transaction and to determine whether a fairness opinion should be obtained.

Risks Related to Potential Conflicts of Interest

We compete with affiliates of Hines for real estate investment opportunities and some of these affiliates
have preferential rights to accept or reject certain investment opportunities in advance of our right to accept
or reject such opportunities.

Hines has existing real estate joint ventures, funds and programs, which we collectively refer to as
investment vehicles, with investment objectives and strategies similar to ours including Hines REIT and Hines
Global REIT II, Inc. Because we compete with these investment vehicles for investment opportunities, Hines
faces conflicts of interest in allocating investment opportunities between us and these other investment vehicles.
We have limited rights to specific investment opportunities located by Hines. Some of these entities have a
priority right over other Hines investment vehicles, including us, to accept investment opportunities that meet
certain defined investment criteria. Because we and other Hines investment vehicles rely on Hines to present us
with investment opportunities, these rights will reduce our investment opportunities. We therefore may not be
able to invest in, or we may only invest indirectly with or through another Hines affiliated investment vehicles in,
certain investments we otherwise would make directly. To the extent we invest in opportunities with another
investment vehicles affiliated with Hines, we may not have the control over such investment we would otherwise
have if we owned all of or otherwise controlled such assets.

We do not have priority rights to specific investment opportunities identified by Hines. Our right to participate
in Hines’ investment allocation process terminated when we fully invested the proceeds of our public offerings.
Accordingly, Hines will decide in its discretion, subject to any priority rights it grants or has granted to other Hines-
managed or otherwise affiliated investment vehicles, how to allocate such opportunities among us, Hines and other
Hines real estate investment vehicles. Because we do not have a right to accept or reject any investment
opportunities before Hines or one or more Hines real estate investment vehicles have the right to accept such
opportunities, and are otherwise subject to Hines’ discretion as to the investment opportunities we will receive, we
may not be able to review and/or invest in opportunities which we would otherwise pursue if we were the only real
estate investment vehicle sponsored by Hines or had a priority right in regard to such investments. We are subject to
the risk that, as a result of the conflicts of interest between Hines, us and other investment vehicles sponsored or
managed by or affiliated with Hines, and the priority rights Hines has granted or may in the future grant to any such
other real estate investment vehicles, we may not be offered favorable investment opportunities identified by Hines
when it would otherwise be in our best interest to accept such investment opportunities, and our business, results of
operations, cash flows and financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders and the value
of their investment may be adversely impacted thereby.

We may compete with other investment vehicles affiliated with Hines for tenants.

Hines and its affiliates are not prohibited from engaging, directly or indirectly, in any other business or from
possessing interests in any other business venture or ventures, including businesses and ventures involved in the
acquisition, development, ownership, management, leasing or sale of real estate projects. Hines or its affiliates
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own and/or manage properties in most, if not all, geographical areas in which we expect to acquire interests in
real estate assets. Therefore, our properties compete for tenants with other properties owned and/or managed by
Hines and its affiliates. Hines may face conflicts of interest when evaluating tenant opportunities for our
properties and other properties owned and/or managed by Hines and its affiliates and these conflicts of interest
may have a negative impact on our ability to attract and retain tenants.

Employees of the Advisor and Hines will face conflicts of interest relating to time management and
allocation of resources and investment opportunities.

We do not have employees. Pursuant to a contract with Hines, we rely on employees of Hines and its
affiliates to manage and operate our business and they are contractually bound to devote the time and attention
reasonably necessary to conduct our business in an appropriate manner. Our officers and the officers and
employees of our Advisor, Hines and its affiliates hold similar positions in numerous entities and they may from
time to time allocate more of their time to service the needs of such entities than they allocate to servicing our
needs. Hines is not restricted from acquiring, developing, operating, managing, leasing or selling real estate
through entities other than us and Hines will continue to be actively involved in real estate operations and
activities other than our operations and activities. Hines currently controls and/or operates other entities that own
properties in many of the markets in which we will seek to invest. Hines spends a material amount of time
managing these properties and other assets unrelated to our business. We lack the ability to manage it without the
time and attention of Hines’ employees.

Hines and its affiliates are general partners and sponsors of other investment vehicles having investment
objectives and legal and financial obligations similar to ours. Because Hines and its affiliates have interests in
other investment vehicles and also engage in other business activities, they may have conflicts of interest in
allocating their time and resources among our business and these other activities. Our officers and directors, as
well as those of our Advisor, own equity interests in entities affiliated with Hines from which we may buy
properties. These individuals may make substantial profits in connection with such transactions, which could
result in conflicts of interest. Likewise, such individuals could make substantial profits as the result of investment
opportunities allocated to entities affiliated with Hines other than us. As a result of these interests, they could
pursue transactions that may not be in our best interest.

Hines may face a conflict of interest when determining whether we should reinvest proceeds from sales or
refinancings of our properties because Hines will continue to receive fees and may receive additional fees if
the proceeds are reinvested.

Hines will receive compensation from us based on, among other things, the amount invested in properties
and the revenues generated from those properties. In addition, Hines will receive acquisition fees in connection
with investing in new properties. Therefore, Hines may face a conflict of interest when determining whether to
recommend to us that we reinvest proceeds from sales or refinancings, rather than distributing such proceeds to
our stockholders, because if the proceeds are reinvested, Hines will continue to receive certain fees and may
receive additional fees in connection with such reinvestment. Alternatively, if the proceeds of any sale or
refinancing are distributed to our stockholders, Hines will no longer receive such fees.

Hines may face a conflict of interest when determining whether we should dispose of any property we own
that is managed by Hines because Hines may lose fees associated with the management of the property.

Hines manages many of our properties. Because Hines receives significant fees for managing these
properties, it may face a conflict of interest when determining whether we should sell properties under
circumstances where Hines would no longer manage the property after the transaction. As a result of this conflict
of interest, we may not dispose of properties when it would be in our best interests to do so.
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Hines may face conflicts of interest in connection with the management of our day-to-day operations and in
the enforcement of agreements between Hines and its affiliates.

Hines and the Advisor manage our day-to-day operations and properties pursuant to an advisory agreement.
This agreement was not negotiated at arm’s-length and certain fees payable by us under such agreement are paid
regardless of our performance.

Hines and its affiliates may encounter conflicts of interest with respect to position as to matters relating to
this agreement. Areas of potential conflict include the computation of fees and reimbursements under such
agreements, the enforcement, renewal and/or termination of the agreements and the priority of payments to third
parties as opposed to amounts paid to affiliates of Hines. These fees may be higher than fees charged by third
parties in an arm’s-length transaction as a result of these conflicts.

Certain of our officers and directors face conflicts of interest relating to the positions they hold with other
entities.

All of our officers and non-independent directors are also officers and directors of the Advisor and/or other
entities controlled by Hines, such as the Advisor to Hines REIT, the Advisor to Hines Global REIT II and the
Adviser to HMS Income Fund, Inc. Some of these entities may compete with us for investment and leasing
opportunities. These personnel owe fiduciary duties to these other entities and their security holders and these
duties may from time to time conflict with the fiduciary duties such individuals owe to us and our stockholders.
For example, conflicts of interest adversely affecting our investment decisions could arise in decisions or
activities related to:

• the allocation of new investments among us and other entities operated by Hines;

• the allocation of time and resources among us and other entities operated by Hines;

• the timing and terms of the investment in or sale of an asset;

• investments with Hines and affiliates of Hines;

• the compensation paid to our Advisor; and

• our relationship with Hines in the management of our properties.

These conflicts of interest may also be impacted by the fact that such individuals may have compensation
structures tied to the performance of such other entities controlled by Hines and these compensation structures
may potentially provide for greater remuneration in the event an investment opportunity is presented to a Hines
affiliate rather than us.

Our officers and directors have limited liability.

Generally, we are obligated under our articles to indemnify our officers and directors against certain
liabilities incurred in connection with their services. We have entered into indemnification agreements with each
of our officers and directors. Pursuant to these indemnification agreements, we have generally agreed to
indemnify our officers and directors for any such liabilities that they incur. These indemnification agreements, as
well as the indemnification provisions in our articles, could limit our ability and the ability of our stockholders to
effectively take action against our officers and directors arising from their service to us. In addition, there could
be a potential reduction in distributions resulting from our payment of premiums associated with insurance or
payments of a defense, settlement or claim.

Our Umbrella Partnership Real Estate Investment Trust (“UPREIT”) structure may result in potential
conflicts of interest.

Persons holding OP Units have the right to vote on certain amendments to the Agreement of Limited
Partnership of the Operating Partnership, as well as on certain other matters. Persons holding such voting rights
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may exercise them in a manner that conflicts with the interests of our stockholders. As general partner of the
Operating Partnership, we will be obligated to act in a manner that is in the best interest of all partners of the
Operating Partnership. Circumstances may arise in the future when the interests of limited partners in the
Operating Partnership may conflict with the interests of our stockholders.

Risks Related to Taxes

If we fail to qualify as a REIT, our operations and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders would
be adversely impacted.

We believe that we qualify as a REIT under the Code. A REIT generally is not taxed at the corporate level
on income that it currently distributes to its stockholders. Qualification as a REIT involves the application of
highly technical and complex rules for which there are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations. The
determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our control may affect our ability
to continue to qualify as a REIT. In addition, new legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations or court
decisions could significantly change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a REIT or the federal income tax
consequences of such qualification.

If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year:

• we would not be allowed to deduct our distributions to our stockholders when computing our taxable
income;

• we would be subject to federal income tax (including any applicable alternative minimum tax) on our
taxable income at regular corporate rates;

• we would be disqualified from being taxed as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year
during which qualification was lost, unless entitled to relief under certain statutory provisions;

• our cash available for distribution would be reduced and we would have less cash to distribute to our
stockholders; and

• we might be required to borrow additional funds or sell some of our assets in order to pay corporate tax
obligations that we may incur as a result of our disqualification.

We may be required to defer repatriation of cash from foreign jurisdictions in order to qualify as a REIT.

Investments in foreign real property may give rise to foreign currency gains and losses. Certain foreign
currency gains may be excluded from income for purposes of determining our satisfaction of one or both of the
REIT gross revenue tests; however, under certain circumstances (for example, if we regularly trade in foreign
securities) such gains will be treated as non-qualifying income. To reduce the risk of foreign currency gains
adversely affecting our REIT qualification, we may be required to defer the repatriation of cash from foreign
jurisdictions or to employ other structures that could affect the timing, character or amount of income we receive
from our foreign investments. No assurance can be given that we will be able to manage our foreign currency
gains in a manner that enables us to qualify as a REIT or to avoid U.S. federal income or other taxes on our
income as a result of foreign currency gains.

If the Operating Partnership is classified as a “publicly traded partnership” under the Code, our operations
and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders could be adversely affected.

We believe that the Operating Partnership will be treated as a partnership, and not as an association or a
publicly traded partnership for federal income tax purposes. In this regard, the Code generally classifies “publicly
traded partnerships” (as defined in Section 7704 of the Code) as associations taxable as corporations (rather than
as partnerships), unless substantially all of their taxable income consists of specified types of passive income. In
order to minimize the risk that the Code would classify the Operating Partnership as a “publicly traded
partnership” for tax purposes, we placed certain restrictions on the transfer and/or repurchase of partnership units
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in the Operating Partnership. However, if the Internal Revenue Service successfully determined that the
Operating Partnership should be taxed as a corporation, the Operating Partnership would be required to pay
U.S. federal income tax at corporate rates on its net income, its partners would be treated as stockholders of the
Operating Partnership and distributions to partners would constitute non-deductible distributions in computing
the Operating Partnership’s taxable income. In addition, we could fail to qualify as a REIT, and the imposition of
a corporate tax on the Operating Partnership would reduce our amount of cash available for distribution to our
stockholders.

Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income.

Neither ordinary nor capital gain distributions with respect to our common shares, or gain from the sale of
common shares, should generally constitute unrelated business taxable income to a tax-exempt investor.
However, there are certain exceptions to this rule. In particular:

• part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect to our
common shares may be treated as unrelated business taxable income if our stock is predominately held
by qualified employee pension trusts, we are required to rely on a special look through rule for
purposes of meeting one of the REIT stock ownership tests, and we are not operated in such a manner
as to otherwise avoid treatment of such income or gain as unrelated business taxable income;

• part of the income and gain recognized by a tax exempt investor with respect to our common shares
would constitute unrelated business taxable income if such investor incurs debt in order to acquire the
common shares; and

• part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our common shares by social clubs,
voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified
group legal services plans which are exempt from federal income taxation under Sections 501(c)(7),
(9), (17), or (20) of the Code may be treated as unrelated business taxable income.

Stockholders who participate in our distribution reinvestment plan may realize taxable income without
receiving cash distributions.

If our stockholders participate in the distribution reinvestment plan, they generally will be required to take
into account, in computing their taxable income, ordinary and capital gain distributions allocable to shares that
they own, even though they receive no cash because such distributions are reinvested.

Foreign investors may be subject to the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act (“FIRPTA”) on sale
of common shares if we are unable to qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT.

A foreign person disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including shares of a U.S. corporation whose
assets consist principally of U.S. real property interests, is generally subject to tax under FIRPTA on the gain
recognized on the disposition. FIRPTA does not apply, however, to the disposition of stock in a REIT if the
REIT is “domestically controlled.” A REIT is “domestically controlled” if less than 50% of the REIT’s capital
stock, by value, has been owned, directly and indirectly, by persons who are not U.S. persons during a
continuous five-year period ending on the date of disposition or, if shorter, during the entire period of the REIT’s
existence.

We cannot assure our stockholders that we will qualify as a “domestically controlled” REIT. If we were to
fail to so qualify, gain realized by foreign investors on a sale of our common shares would be subject to tax under
FIRPTA (unless our common shares were traded on an established securities market and the foreign investor did
not at any time during a specified testing period directly or indirectly own more than 5% of the value of our
outstanding common shares). Our common shares are not currently traded on an established securities market.
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In certain circumstances, we may be subject to federal, state, local or foreign income or other taxes as a
REIT, which would reduce our cash available to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may be subject to certain federal, state, local or
foreign income or other taxes or state taxes. For example, if we have net income from a “prohibited transaction,”
such income will be subject to a 100% tax. We may not be able to make sufficient distributions to avoid paying
federal income tax and/or the 4% excise tax that applies to certain income retained by a REIT. We may also
decide to retain income that we earn from the sale or other disposition of our properties and pay income tax
directly on such income. In that event, our stockholders would be treated as if they earned that income and paid
the tax on it directly. However, stockholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans,
would have no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax liability. We may also be subject to state and local
taxes on our income or property, either directly or at the level of the Operating Partnership or of other entities
through which we indirectly own our assets. Any taxes that we pay will reduce our cash available for distribution
to our stockholders.

We have entered, and may continue to enter into, certain hedging transactions which may have a potential
impact on our REIT status.

We have entered into hedging transactions with respect to certain of our activities and may continue to enter
into similar transactions in the future. Our hedging activities may include entering into interest rate and/or
foreign currency swaps, caps and floors, options to purchase these items, and futures and forward contracts.

The gross income tests generally exclude any income or gain from a hedging or similar transaction entered
into by the REIT primarily to manage the risk of interest rate, price changes or currency fluctuations with respect
to borrowings made or to be made to acquire or carry real estate assets or to manage the risk of currency
fluctuations with respect to an item of income or gain that would be qualifying income under the 75% or 95%
gross income test (or any property which generates such income or gain), provided that we properly identify such
hedges and other transactions in the manner required by the Code. To the extent that we do not properly identify
such transactions as hedges or we hedge with other types of financial instruments, or hedge other types of
indebtedness, the income from those transactions is likely to be treated as non-qualifying income for purposes of
the gross income tests and may affect our ability to qualify as a REIT. In addition, to the extent that our position
in a hedging transaction has positive value, the instrument may be treated as a non-qualifying asset for purposes
of the gross asset tests to which REITs are subject.

Entities through which we hold foreign real estate investments are, in most cases, subject to foreign taxes,
notwithstanding our status as a REIT.

Even if we maintain our status as a REIT, entities through which we hold investments in assets located
outside the United States will, in most cases, be subject to income taxation by jurisdictions in which such assets
are located. Our cash available for distribution to our stockholders will be reduced by any such foreign income
taxes.

Dividends payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates available for some dividends.

The maximum tax rate applicable to income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. stockholders that
are individuals, trusts or estates is currently 20%. Dividends payable by REITs, however, generally are not
eligible for the reduced rates. The more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate qualified dividends could
cause investors who are individuals, trusts or estates to perceive investments in our common shares to be
relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that pay dividends, which could
adversely affect the value of our common shares.

Recharacterization of sale-leaseback transactions may cause us to lose our REIT status.

We have purchased real properties and leased them back to the sellers of such properties. We use
commercially reasonable efforts to structure any such sale-leaseback transaction such that the lease will be
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characterized as a “true lease,” thereby allowing us to be treated as the owner of the property for federal income
tax purposes, but cannot assure our stockholders that the Internal Revenue Service will not challenge such
characterization. In the event that any such sale-leaseback transaction is challenged and recharacterized as a
financing transaction or loan for U.S. federal income tax purposes, deductions for depreciation and cost recovery
relating to such property would be disallowed. We might fail to satisfy the REIT qualification “asset tests” or the
“income tests” and, consequently, lose our REIT status effective with the year of recharacterization if a sale-
leaseback transaction were so recharacterized. Alternatively, the amount of our REIT taxable income could be
recalculated which might also cause us to fail to meet the distribution requirement for a taxable year.

Complying with the REIT requirements may cause us to forego otherwise attractive opportunities.

To qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must continually satisfy tests concerning,
among other things, the sources of our income, the nature and diversification of our assets, the amounts that we
distribute to our stockholders and the ownership of shares of our common stock. We may be required to forego
otherwise attractive investments or make distributions to stockholders at disadvantageous times or when we do
not have funds readily available for distribution. Thus, compliance with the REIT requirements may hinder our
ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.

Complying with the REIT requirements may force us to liquidate otherwise attractive investments.

We must ensure that at the end of each calendar quarter, at least 75% of the value of our assets consists of
cash, cash items, government securities and qualified REIT real estate assets in order to ensure our qualification
as a REIT. The remainder of our investments (other than governmental securities and qualified real estate assets)
generally cannot include more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of any one issuer or more than 10%
of the total value of the outstanding securities of any one issuer. In addition, in general, no more than 5% of the
value of our assets (other than government securities and qualified real estate assets) can consist of the securities
of any one issuer, and no more than 25% of the value of our total assets can be represented by securities of one or
more taxable REIT subsidiaries. If we fail to comply with these requirements at the end of any calendar quarter,
we must correct such failure within 30 days after the end of the calendar quarter in order to avoid losing our
REIT status and suffering adverse tax consequences. As a result, we may be required to liquidate otherwise
attractive investments.

Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect us and/or our investors.

In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made to the
U.S. federal income tax laws applicable to the qualification and taxation of REITs and to investments in REITs
and similar entities. Additional changes to tax laws are likely to continue to occur in the future and may be given
retroactive or prospective effect, and we cannot assure our stockholders that any such changes will not adversely
affect how we are taxed or the taxation of our stockholders. Any such changes could have an adverse effect on us
and on an investment in shares of our common stock. We urge our stockholders to consult with their own tax
advisors with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or administrative developments and proposals and
their potential effect on an investment in shares of our common stock.

Risks Related to ERISA

If our assets are deemed to be plan assets under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended, (“ERISA”), the Advisor and the fiduciaries of investing ERISA plans may be exposed to liabilities
under Title I of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code.

In some circumstances where an ERISA plan holds an interest in an entity, an undivided interest in the
assets of the entity attributable to that interest are deemed to be ERISA plan assets unless an exception applies.
This is known as the “look-through rule.” Under those circumstances, the obligations and other responsibilities of
plan sponsors, plan fiduciaries and plan administrators, and of parties in interest and disqualified persons, under
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Title I of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, as applicable, may be applicable, and there may be liability under
these and other provisions of ERISA and the Code. We believe that our assets should not be treated as plan assets
because the shares should qualify as “publicly-offered securities” that are exempt from the look-through rule
under applicable regulations of the U.S. Department of the Treasury. We note, however, that because certain
limitations are imposed upon the transferability of shares so that we may qualify as a REIT, and perhaps for other
reasons, it is possible that this exemption may not apply. If that is the case, and if the Advisor or we are exposed
to liability under ERISA or the Code, our performance and results of operations could be adversely affected. In
addition, if that were the case, an investment in our common shares might constitute an ineffective delegation of
fiduciary responsibility to our Advisor, and expose the fiduciary of the benefit plan to co-fiduciary liability under
ERISA for any breach by our Advisor of the fiduciary duties mandated under ERISA. Prior to making an
investment in us, potential investors should consult with their legal and other advisors concerning the impact of
ERISA and the Code on such investors’ investment and our performance.

There are special considerations that apply to pension or profit sharing trusts or individual retirement
accounts (“IRAs”) investing in our common stock.

If stockholders have invested the assets of an IRA, pension, profit sharing, 401(k), Keogh or other qualified
retirement plan, or plan to further invest through our distribution reinvestment plan, they should satisfy
themselves that:

• their investment is consistent with their fiduciary obligations under ERISA and the Code;

• their investment is made in accordance with the documents and instruments governing their plan or
IRA, including their plan’s investment policy;

• their investment satisfies the prudence and diversification requirements of Sections 404(a)(1)(B) and
404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA;

• their investment will not impair the liquidity of the plan or IRA;

• their investment will not produce “unrelated business taxable income” for the plan or IRA;

• they will be able to value the assets of the plan annually in accordance with ERISA requirements; and

• their investment will not constitute a prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or
Section 4975 of the Code.

Investment Risks

There is no public market for our common shares; therefore, it will be difficult for our stockholders to sell
their shares and, if they are able to sell their shares, they will likely sell them at a substantial discount.

There is no public market for our common shares, and we do not expect one to develop. Additionally, our
charter contains restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our shares, and these restrictions may limit the
ability of our stockholders to sell their shares. If they are able to sell their shares, they may only be able to sell
them at a substantial discount from the price they paid. This may be the result, in part, of the fact that the amount
of funds available for investment are reduced by funds used to pay certain up-front fees and expenses, including
organization and offering costs, such as issuer costs, selling commissions, and the dealer manager fee and
acquisition fees and expenses in connection with our public offerings. Unless our aggregate investments increase
in value to compensate for these up-front fees and expenses, which may not occur, it is unlikely that our
stockholders will be able to sell their shares, without incurring a substantial loss. Stockholders may also
experience substantial losses if we dispose of our assets or in connection with a liquidation event. We cannot
assure stockholders that their shares will ever appreciate in value to equal the price they paid for their shares.
Thus, stockholders should consider our common shares as illiquid and a long-term investment, and they must be
prepared to hold their shares for an indefinite length of time. On March 25, 2015, our board of directors
established an estimated per share net asset value, or NAV, of our common stock of $9.44, which is lower than
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the $10.40 per share primary offering price in our second public offering. For a discussion of how the estimated
per share NAV was determined, see “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder
Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities — Market Information”.

The offering price of our shares under our distribution reinvestment plan may not accurately represent the
current value of our assets at any particular time and the actual value of your investment may be
substantially less than what you pay.

The offering price for shares of our common stock under our distribution reinvestment plan is equal to the
estimated per share NAV determined by our board of directors, as described in “Item 5. Market for Registrant’s
Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities — Market Information.”
The estimated per share NAV was calculated as of a moment in time, and the value of our shares will fluctuate
over time as a result of, among other things, developments related to individual assets and changes in the real
estate and capital markets. Therefore, the actual value of your investment may be substantially less than what you
pay for shares of our common stock. The offering price is not indicative of either the price at which our shares
would trade if they were listed on an exchange or actively traded by brokers or of the proceeds that you would
receive if we were liquidated or dissolved.

Because we are conducting an ongoing offering pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, we are
providing information about our net tangible book value per share. As of December 31, 2014, our net tangible
book value per share was $6.24, which is less than the offering price for shares of our common stock pursuant to
our distribution plan. Net tangible book value is a rough approximation of value calculated simply as total book
value of assets minus total liabilities (all of which are adjusted for noncontrolling interests). It assumes that the
value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time as shown through the depreciation and amortization
of real estate investments. Real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions. Net tangible
book value is used generally as a conservative measure of net worth that we do not believe reflects our estimated
value per share. It is not intended to reflect the value of our assets upon an orderly liquidation of the Company in
accordance with our investment objectives. However, net tangible book value does reflect certain dilution in
value of our common stock from the issue price as a result of (i) accumulated depreciation and amortization of
real estate investments, (ii) the funding of distributions from sources other than our cash flow from operations,
(iii) the substantial fees paid in connection with our two prior public offerings, such as selling commissions and
marketing fees, all or a portion of which were re-allowed by our dealer manager to participating broker dealers
and (iv) the fees and expenses paid to our advisor and its affiliates in connection with the selection, acquisition,
management and sale of our investments.

Our distributions have been and may continue to be paid using cash flows from financing activities,
including proceeds from our public offerings and proceeds from debt financings and some or all of the
distributions we pay in the future may be paid from similar sources or sources such as cash advances by the
Advisor, cash resulting from a waiver or deferral of fees and/or proceeds from the sale of assets. We have
not placed a cap on the amount of our distributions that may be paid from any of these sources. The use of
sources other than our cash flow from operations to fund distributions could adversely impact our ability to
pay distributions in future periods, decrease the amount of cash we have available for operations and new
investments and/or potentially impact the value or result in dilution of our stockholders’ investment.

Our cash flows from operations have been and may continue to be insufficient to fund distributions to
stockholders. Our organizational documents permit us to make distributions from any source when we do not
have sufficient cash flow from operations to fund such distributions. We may choose to use advances, deferrals
or waivers of fees, if available, from the Advisor or affiliates, borrowings, proceeds from our public offerings
and/or proceeds from the sale of assets or other sources to fund distributions to our stockholders. We have not
placed a cap on the amount of our distributions that may be paid from any of these sources. The Advisor has
agreed to waive the asset management fee otherwise payable to it pursuant to our Advisory Agreement for each
quarter in 2012 and 2013, to the extent that our MFFO for a particular quarter, as disclosed in each quarterly
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report, amounts to less than 100% of the aggregate distributions declared for such quarter. In December 2013 and
December 2014, our Advisor agreed to waive asset management fees otherwise payable to it for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, to the extent that our MFFO for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2015, respectively, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year, amounts to less than
100% of the aggregate distributions declared to our stockholders for such year.

However, the Advisor and affiliates are under no obligation to advance funds to us or to defer or waive fees
in order to support our distributions. For example, 50% of total distributions for 2012, 67% of total distributions
for 2013 and 19% of total distributions for 2014 were funded with cash flows from financing activities, which
include proceeds from our public offerings and proceeds from debt financings. We have not placed a cap on the
amount of our distributions that may be paid from sources other than cash flows from operations, including
proceeds from our debt financings, proceeds from our public offerings, cash advances by our Advisor and cash
resulting from a waiver or deferral of fees. When we pay distributions in excess of earnings and we use cash
flows from financing activities, including offering proceeds and borrowings, to fund distributions, then we will
have less funds available for operations and for acquiring properties and other investments, which could
adversely impact our ability to pay distributions in future periods, and our stockholders overall return may be
reduced and it may result in the dilution of our stockholders’ investment. In addition, our Advisor or its affiliates
could choose to receive shares of our common stock or interests in the Operating Partnership in lieu of cash or
deferred fees or the repayment of advances to which they are entitled, and the issuance of such securities may
dilute our stockholders’ interest in us. Furthermore, to the extent distributions exceed cash flows from operations,
a stockholder’s basis in our stock will be reduced and, to the extent distributions exceed a stockholder’s basis, the
stockholder may recognize capital gain.

We have reduced our distribution rate in the past and cannot guarantee that distributions will continue to
be paid at the current rate or at all.

Commencing with distributions for the month of January 2012, as a result of market conditions and our goal
of increasing our distribution coverage, our board of directors declared distributions in an amount equal to
$0.0017808 per share, per day. This amount, which our board of directors has continued to declare through
March 2015, was a decrease from the distribution amount of $0.00191781 per share, per day, which had been
declared by our board of directors in each prior quarter since October of 2009. There can be no assurance that the
current distribution rate will be maintained.

If we pay distributions from sources other than our cash flow from operations, our stockholders’ overall
return may be reduced.

Our organizational documents permit us to make distributions from any source and we may choose to
continue to pay distributions when we do not have sufficient cash flow from operations to fund such
distributions. If we fund distributions from borrowings or the net proceeds from our public offerings, as we have
since in our initial quarters of operations, we will have less funds available for acquiring properties and other
investments, and our stockholders’ overall return may be reduced.

Payments to the holder of the Special OP Units or holders of any other OP Units will reduce cash available
for distribution to our stockholders.

An affiliate of Hines has received OP Units in return for its $190,000 contribution to the Operating
Partnership. The Advisor or its affiliates may also choose to receive OP Units in lieu of certain fees. The holders
of all OP Units will be entitled to receive cash from operations pro rata with the distributions being paid to us and
such distributions to the holder of the OP Units will reduce the cash available for distribution to our stockholders.
In addition, Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership, the holder of the Special OP Units, will be
entitled to cash distributions, under certain circumstances, including from sales of our real estate investments,
refinancings and other sources, which may reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders and may
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negatively affect the value of our shares of common stock. Furthermore, under certain circumstances the Special
OP Units and any other OP Units held by Hines or its affiliates are required to be repurchased, in cash at the
holder’s election and there may not be sufficient cash to make such a repurchase payment; therefore, we may
need to use cash from operations, borrowings, or other sources to make the payment, which will reduce cash
available for distribution to our stockholders.

Our stockholders’ ability to have their shares redeemed is limited under our share redemption program, and
if they are able to have their shares redeemed, it may be at a price that is less than the price they paid for the
shares and the then-current market value of the shares.

Our share redemption program contains significant restrictions and limitations. For example, only
stockholders who purchase their shares directly from us or who received their shares through a non-cash
transaction, not in the secondary market, are eligible to participate, and stockholders must generally hold their
shares for a minimum of one year before they can participate in our share redemption program. In addition, our
share redemption program generally provides that only funds received from the prior month’s distribution
reinvestment plan may be used in the subsequent month to redeem shares. Our board of directors may terminate,
suspend or amend the share redemption program upon 30 days’ written notice without stockholder approval. The
redemption price our stockholders may receive upon any such redemption may not be indicative of the price our
stockholders would receive if our shares were actively traded or if we were liquidated, and our stockholders
should not assume that they will be able to sell all or any portion of their shares back to us pursuant to our share
redemption program or to third parties at a price that reflects the then current market value of the shares or at all.

The actual value of shares that we redeem under our share redemption program may be substantially less
than what we pay.

Under our share redemption program, shares currently may be repurchased at varying prices depending on the
number of years the shares have been held and whether the redemptions are sought upon a stockholder’s death or
disability. The estimated per share NAV may not accurately represent the current value of our assets per share of
our common stock at any particular time and may be higher or lower than the actual value of our assets per share at
such time. Accordingly, stockholders should not assume that they will be able to sell all or any portion of their
shares back to us pursuant to our share redemption program at a price that reflects the then-current market value of
the shares. If, at the time of redemption, the actual value of the shares is less than the redemption price, then it
would cause the redemption to be dilutive to our remaining stockholders. Alternatively, if the actual value of the
shares that we redeem is equal to or more than the most recently announced estimated per share NAV, then a
redeeming stockholder will not benefit from any increase in the value of the underlying assets.

The fees we pay in connection with the Offering and the agreements entered into with Hines and its
affiliates were not determined on an arm’s-length basis and therefore may not be on the same terms we
could achieve from a third party.

The compensation paid to our Advisor, Hines and other affiliates for services they provide us was not
determined on an arm’s-length basis. All service agreements, contracts or arrangements between or among Hines
and its affiliates, including the Advisor and us, were not negotiated at arm’s-length. Such agreements include our
Advisory Agreement, and property management and leasing agreements. A third party unaffiliated with Hines
may be willing and able to provide certain services to us at a lower price.

We will pay substantial compensation to Hines, the Advisor and their affiliates, which may be increased by
our independent directors.

Subject to limitations in our articles, the fees, compensation, income, expense reimbursements, interests and
other payments payable to Hines, the Advisor and their affiliates may increase if such increase is approved by a
majority of our independent directors.
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We do not, and do not expect to, have research analysts reviewing our performance.

We do not, and do not expect to, have research analysts reviewing our performance or our securities on an
ongoing basis. Therefore, our stockholders will not have an independent review of our performance and the value of
our common stock relative to publicly traded companies.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We make real estate investments directly and through entities wholly-owned by the Operating Partnership, or
indirectly through other entities. As of December 31, 2014, we owned interests in 40 real estate investments which
contain, in the aggregate, 14.4 million square feet of leasable space that was 96% leased.

The following table provides additional information regarding each of the properties we owned an interest in as of
December 31, 2014:

Property (1) Location
Investment

Type

Date Acquired/ Net
Purchase Price (in

millions) (2)

Estimated
Going-in

Capitalization
Rate (3)

Leasable
Square Feet

Percent
Leased

Domestic Office Investments

17600 Gillette . . . . . Irvine, California Office 6/2010; $20.4 13.4% 106,107 100%
Hock Plaza . . . . . . . Durham, North Carolina Office 9/2010; $97.9 7.2% 327,160 99%
Fifty South Sixth . . Minneapolis, Minnesota Office 11/2010; $185.0 7.4% 698,606 97%
250 Royall . . . . . . . Canton, Massachusetts Office 9/2011; $57.0 9.1% 185,171 100%
Campus at

Marlborough . . . . Marlborough, Massachusetts Office 10/2011; $103.0 8.0% 532,246 95%
9320 Excelsior . . . . Hopkins, Minnesota Office 12/2011; $69.5 6.2% 254,915 100%
550 Terry

Francois . . . . . . . San Francisco, California Office 8/2012; $180.0 8.2% 282,773 100%
Riverside Center . . . Boston, Massachusetts Office 3/2013; $197.1 5.7% 509,702 99%
The Campus at

Playa Vista . . . . . Los Angeles, California Office 5/2013; $216.6 5.7% 324,955 98%
2300 Main . . . . . . . . Irvine, California Office 8/2013; $39.5 6.4% 132,064 100%
55 M Street . . . . . . . Washington, D.C. Office 12/2013; $140.9 4.8% 267,339 91%

Total for Domestic Office Investments . . . . . . . 3,621,038 98%

Domestic Other Investments (4)

Southpark . . . . . . . . Austin, Texas Industrial 10/2010; $31.2 8.5% 372,125 100%
Komo Plaza . . . . . . Seattle, Washington Mixed-Use 12/2011; $160.0 7.9% 293,727 91%
Minneapolis Retail

Center . . . . . . . . . Minneapolis, Minnesota Retail
8/2012 & 12/2012;

$130.6 6.5% 380,313 98%
The Markets at

Town Center . . . . Jacksonville, Florida Retail 7/2013; $135.0 5.9% 317,477 93%
The Avenue at

Murfreesboro . . . Nashville, Tennessee Retail 8/2013; $163.0 6.4% 762,762 90%
The Rim . . . . . . . . . San Antonio, Texas Retail 02/2014: $176.3 5.9% 656,371 99%
@1377 . . . . . . . . . . Atlanta, Georgia Multi-family 03/2014: $31.9 5.0%(5) 186,035 95%
WaterWall Place . . . Houston, Texas Multi-family 07/2014; $64.5 7.8%(5) 316,299 85%

Total for Domestic Other Investments . . . . . . . 3,285,109 94%
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Property (1) Location
Investment

Type

Date Acquired/ Net
Purchase Price (in

millions) (2)

Estimated
Going-in

Capitalization
Rate (3)

Leasable
Square Feet

Percent
Leased

International Office Investments

Gogolevsky 11 . . . . Moscow, Russia Office 8/2011; $96.1 8.9% 86,692 100%(6)

100 Brookes St. . . . Brisbane, Australia Office 7/2012; $67.6 10.5% 105,637 100%
Mercedes Benz

Bank . . . . . . . . . . Stuttgart, Germany Office 2/2013; $70.2 8.8% 255,926 100%
465 Victoria . . . . . . Sydney, Australia Office 2/2013; $90.8 8.0% 171,652 98%
One Westferry

Circus . . . . . . . . . London, England Office 2/2013; $124.6 7.4% 221,019 100%
New City . . . . . . . . . Warsaw, Poland Office 3/3013; $163.5 7.1% 484,182 98%
825 Ann . . . . . . . . . Brisbane, Australia Office 4/2013; $128.2 8.0% 206,505 94%
Perspective

Defense . . . . . . . . Paris, France Office 6/2013; $165.8 8.5% 289,667 100%
25 Cabot Square . . . London, England Office 3/2014; $371.7 6.7% 455,687 100%
818 Bourke . . . . . . . Melbourne, Australia Office 10/2014; $135.6 7.1% 259,227 94%

Total for International Office Properties . . . . . 2,536,194 98%

International Other Investments

Brindleyplace
Project . . . . . . . . . Birmingham, England Mixed-Use 7/2010; $282.5 7.0% 567,691 98%

FM Logistic . . . . . . Moscow, Russia Industrial 4/2011 $70.8 11.2% 748,578 100%
Poland Logistics

Portfolio . . . . . . . Poland(7) Industrial
03/2012 & 10/2012;

$157.2 8.1% 2,345,981 89%
Fiege Mega

Centre . . . . . . . . . Erfurt, Germany Industrial 10/2013; $53.6 7.7% 952,540 100%
Simon Hegele

Logistics . . . . . . . Forchheim, Germany Industrial 6/2014; $49.2 7.1% 371,345 100%

Total for International Other Investments . . . . 4,986,135 95%

Total for All Investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,428,476 96%(8)

(1) On December 31, 2014, the Company effectively owned a 99.99% interest in the properties listed, with the exception
of the Brindleyplace JV, @1377, and WaterWall Place, through the ownership interest in the Operating Partnership
as its sole general partner. Affiliates of Hines owned the remaining 0.01% interest in the Operating Partnership. We
own a 60% interest in the Brindleyplace Project through our investment in the Brindleyplace JV, a 93% interest in
WaterWall Place through our investment in the WaterWall Place JV, and a 51.7% interest in @1377 through our
equity method investment in @1377. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations — Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources — Cash Flows from Financing
Activities — Distributions” for additional information on the Brindleyplace Project and the Brindleyplace JV. See
“Note 1 — Organization — Consolidated VIEs” for additional information on WaterWall Place and the WaterWall
Place JV. See “Note 1 — Organization — Unconsolidated VIEs” for additional information on @1377.

(2) For acquisitions denominated in a foreign currency, amounts have been translated at a rate based on the rate in
effect on the acquisition date.

(3) The estimated going-in capitalization rate is determined as of the date of acquisition by dividing the projected
property revenues in excess of expenses for the first fiscal year following the date of acquisition by the net
purchase price (excluding closing costs and taxes). Property revenues in excess of expenses includes all projected
operating revenues (rental income, tenant reimbursements, parking and any other property-related income) less all
projected operating expenses (property operating and maintenance expenses, property taxes, insurance and
property management fees).
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The projected property revenues in excess of expenses includes assumptions which may not be indicative of
the actual future performance of the property, and the actual economic performance of each property for our
period of ownership may differ materially from the amounts used in calculating the estimated going-in
capitalization rate. These include assumptions, with respect to each property, that in-place tenants will
continue to perform under their lease agreements during the 12 months following our acquisition of the
property. In addition, with respect to the Brindleyplace Project, Hock Plaza, Southpark, Fifty South Sixth,
Komo Plaza, the Poland Logistics Portfolio, the Minneapolis Retail Center, 465 Victoria, One West Ferry
Circus, Riverside Center, 825 Ann, the Campus at Playa Vista, the Markets at Town Center, the Avenue at
Murfreesboro, 55 M Street and 818 Bourke, these include assumptions concerning estimates of timing and
rental rates related to re-leasing vacant space.

(4) The Domestic Other Investments presented in the table exclude the Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known
as the Ponce & Bird JV) and the Flagship Capital JV. These investments are described in more detail below
under “Other Real Estate Investments.”

(5) Construction has been completed for these multi-family development properties. The estimated going-in
capitalization rates are based on the projected revenues in excess of expenses once the property’s operations
have stabilized divided by the construction cost of the property. The projected property revenues in excess
of expenses includes assumptions which may not be indicative of the actual future performance of the
properties, and the actual economic performance of the properties for our period of ownership may differ
materially from the amounts used in calculating the estimated going-in capitalization rates. These include
assumptions concerning estimates of timing and rental rates related to leasing vacant space and assumptions
that in-place tenants will continue to perform under their lease agreements during the 12 months following
stabilization of the properties.

(6) In January 2015, a lease with a major tenant at this property expired, causing a vacancy at the property.
Immediately following the lease expiration, this property was 51% leased.

(7) The Poland Logistics Portfolio is comprised of five industrial parks located in Warsaw, Wroclaw and Upper
Silesia, Poland.

(8) This amount represents the percentage leased assuming we own a 100% interest in each of these properties.
The percentage leased based on our effective ownership interest in each property is 94%.

Other Real Estate Investments

• Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV) — 83% interest in a joint venture
that was formed in July 2012 to invest in a multi-family development project in Miami, Florida. The
estimated total cost of the project is expected to be $66.0 million and the project will consist of 276
units upon completion. Affiliates of Hines own the remaining 17% interest in this joint venture.
Construction began in April 2013 and is estimated to be completed in April 2015.

• Flagship Capital JV — 97% interest in a joint venture with Flagship Capital GP, which was formed to
initially provide real estate loans. The joint venture has ten loans receivable, totaling $59.1 million,
outstanding as of December 31, 2014. Flagship Capital GP owns the remaining 3% interest in the joint
venture. We are not affiliated with Flagship Capital GP.
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Investment Type

Our portfolio is comprised of investments in a variety of real estate asset classes, including office, mixed-
use, retail and industrial properties as well as multi-family development projects and real estate-related debt
investments. The following chart depicts the percentage of our portfolio’s investment types based on our pro-rata
share of the estimated value of each of our investments as of December 31, 2014. The estimated values of our
real estate property investments were based on their appraised values as of December 31, 2014 except for values
of our real estate-related debt investments, which were based on the amounts outstanding under each loan as of
December 31, 2014.

Retail 16%

Office 63%

Industrial 8%
Multi-family 3%

Mixed-Use 10%

Lease Expirations

The following table lists our pro-rata share of the scheduled lease expirations and related expiring base rents
for each of the years ending December 31, 2015 through December 31, 2024 and thereafter for all of the
properties in which we owned an interest as of December 31, 2014. The table also shows the approximate
leasable square feet represented by the applicable lease expirations (1):

Leasable Area

Year Number of Leases
Approximate Square

Feet
Percent of Total
Leasable Area

Annual Base Rental
Income of Expiring

Leases

Percent of Total
Annual Base Rental

Income

Vacant . . . . . . . . . . — 531,030 3.9% $ — — %
2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . 73 853,769 6.2% $31,110,678 9.4%
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . 56 1,611,029 11.8% $33,216,994 10.0%
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . 79 1,941,493 14.2% $57,233,793 17.3%
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . 82 1,418,762 10.4% $31,512,571 9.5%
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . 43 1,646,757 12.0% $42,246,545 12.8%
2020 . . . . . . . . . . . . 38 910,395 6.7% $23,130,285 7.0%
2021 . . . . . . . . . . . . 21 598,937 4.4% $25,020,402 7.6%
2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 180,999 1.3% $ 4,919,524 1.5%
2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . 27 1,814,722 13.3% $27,039,906 8.2%
2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . 22 530,614 3.9% $10,325,055 3.1%
Thereafter . . . . . . . 48 1,657,915 12.1% $45,098,819 13.6%

(1) The table excludes amounts related to development projects and investments in real estate-related debt.
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Market Concentration

The map below depicts the location of our real estate investments. Approximately 59% of our portfolio is
located throughout the United States and approximately 41% is located internationally (based on our pro rata
share of the estimated value of each of the investments). The estimated values of our real estate property
investments were based on their appraised values as of December 31, 2014 except for values of our real estate-
related debt investments, which were based on the amounts outstanding under each loan as of December 31,
2014.

The following table provides a summary of the market concentration of our portfolio based on our pro-rata
share of the estimated value of each of the investments in which we owned interests as of December 31, 2014.

Market Market Concentration (1) (2)

London, United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12%
Minneapolis, Minnesota . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11%
Boston, Massachusetts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9%
Los Angeles, California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7%
San Francisco, California . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5%
Warsaw, Poland . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5%
Seattle, Washington . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5%
Birmingham, United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5%
San Antonio, Texas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5%
Nashville, Tennessee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4%
Brisbane, Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4%
Paris, France . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3%
Washington, DC . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3%
Jacksonville, Florida . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3%

(1) Includes investments in real estate-related debt.
(2) Excluded from the table is approximately 19% of our portfolio, which is made up of markets which are

individually less than 3% of our portfolio and includes: Durham, North Carolina; Houston, Texas; Sydney,
Australia; Stuttgart, Germany; Katowice, Poland; Erfurt, Germany; Miami, Florida; Austin, Texas;
Wroclaw, Poland; Orange County, California; Atlanta, Georgia; Dallas, Texas; Melbourne, Australia;
Nurembourg, Germany; and Moscow, Russia.
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Industry Concentration

The following table provides a summary of the industry concentration of the tenants of the properties in
which we owned interests based on our pro-rata share of their leased square footage as of December 31, 2014:

Industry Industry Concentration (1) (2)

Transportation and Warehousing . . . . . . . . . . 22%
Retail . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20%
Finance and Insurance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13%
Information . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8%
Manufacturing . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7%
Health Care . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4%
Other Professional Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3%

(1) Industry concentration does not include multi-family properties or investments in real estate-related debt.
(2) Excluded from the table is approximately 23% of our portfolio, which is made up of industries which are

individually less than 3% of our portfolio and includes: administrative and support services, agriculture,
arts, entertainment and recreation, construction, hospitality, government, other services, real estate, utilities,
wholesale trade, oil and gas, accounting, legal, and educational services.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, the Company or its subsidiaries may become subject
to legal proceedings, claims or disputes. As of March 30, 2015, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
was a party to any material pending legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

As of December 31, 2014, we had 270.7 million common shares outstanding, held by a total of
approximately 65,000 stockholders. The number of stockholders is based on the records of our registrar and
transfer agent. There is no established public trading market for our common stock. Therefore, there is a risk that
a stockholder may not be able to sell our stock at a time or price acceptable to the stockholder.

To assist the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) members and their associated persons that
participate in our public offerings in their effort to comply with National Association of Securities Dealers
(“NASD”) Rule 2340, we disclose in each annual report distributed to investors a per share estimated value of the
shares, the method by which it was developed and the date of the data used to develop the estimated value. In
addition, we plan to prepare annual statements of estimated share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans
subject to the annual reporting requirements of ERISA in the preparation of their reports relating to an
investment in our shares and such statements should not be used for any other purpose. For these purposes, On
March 25, 2015, our board of directors determined a new estimated net asset value, or NAV, of $9.44 per share
as of December 31, 2014. Our estimated per share NAV was determined utilizing the guidelines established by
the Investment Program Association Practice Guideline 2013-01 — “Valuation of Publicly Registered, Non-
Listed REITs” issued on April 29, 2013. Our deemed estimated per share NAV is provided to assist plan
fiduciaries in fulfilling their annual valuation and reporting responsibilities, and should not be used for any other
purpose. We cannot assure you that this deemed estimated value, or the method used to establish such value,
complies with the ERISA or IRS requirements.

Methodology

We engaged Cushman & Wakefield, Inc. (“Cushman”) a division of which is an independent third party real
estate advisory and consulting firm, to provide, or cause its subsidiaries to provide, appraised values of our
domestic real estate property investments as of December 31, 2014. These appraisals were performed in
accordance with Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice. Cushman has extensive experience in
conducting appraisals and valuations on real properties and each of our appraisals was prepared by personnel
who are members of the Appraisal Institute and have the Member of Appraisal Institute (“MAI”) designation.

Additionally, we engaged Knight Frank, LLP, (“Knight Frank”) an independent third party real estate
advisory and consulting services firm, to provide appraised values of our international real estate investments as
of December 31, 2014. These appraisals were performed in accordance with the professional standards as
published by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors, with the exception of our Australian real estate
property investments, in which case the appraisals were performed in accordance with the Australian Property
Institute and the International Valuation Standards.

We also engaged Jones Lang LaSalle Incorporated (“JLL”), an independent third party real estate advisory
and consulting services firm, to perform valuations of our debt obligations as of December 31, 2014.

In establishing the estimated per share NAV of $9.44 per share, in addition to using the appraised values of
our real estate property investments and values of the our debt obligations, our board of directors also included in
its determination the values of other assets and liabilities such as cash, tenant and loan receivables, accounts
payable and accrued expenses, distributions payable and other assets and liabilities, all of which were valued at
cost. No liquidity discounts or discounts relating to the fact that we are externally managed were applied to the
estimated per share NAV and no attempt was made to value Hines Global as an enterprise. Additionally, the
estimated per share NAV was reduced by the value of noncontrolling interests owned by other parties in real
estate investments that are not wholly-owned by the Company, including the Brindleyplace Project, WaterWall
Place, Aviva Coral Gables, and the Flagship Capital Joint Venture.
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Additionally, we engaged Cushman to assess the reasonableness of our new estimated per share NAV. In
doing so, Cushman utilized their appraised values as described above, the appraised values provided by Knight
Frank, the valuations of our debt obligations provided by JLL and information provided by management
regarding balances of cash, tenant and loan receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, distributions
payable and other assets and liabilities. Cushman concluded that the new estimated per share NAV determined by
our board of directors was reasonable.

The aggregate appraised value of our real estate property investments was approximately $4.65 billion,
including amounts attributable to noncontrolling interests, which represents a 3.3% increase when compared to
the previously determined appraised value of our assets, including adjustments for properties acquired during
2014 and the effects of properties disposed of during 2014 and to the cost of our assets that were acquired during
2014. This 3.3% increase resulted from 8.1% of appreciation in the appraised values of our real estate property
investments offset by 4.8% of dilution resulting from the devaluation of foreign currencies against the U.S.
dollar.

The aggregate appraised value of our real estate property investments also represented a 9.9% increase
compared to the net purchase price of the real estate property investments of $4.3 billion, excluding closing costs,
transaction fees and additional capital investments since acquisition. The table below sets forth the calculation of
our estimated per share NAV as of December 31, 2014 and our previous estimated per share NAV as of
December 31, 2013:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Gross Amount
(in millions) Per Share

Gross Amount
(in millions) Per Share

Real estate property investments . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,650 $17.18 $ 4,001 $16.04
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 288 1.07 402 1.61
Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,290) (8.46) (2,123) (8.51)
Noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (94) (0.35) (61) (0.24)

Estimated NAV . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,554 $ 9.44 $ 2,219 $ 8.90
Shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 271 249

Our board of directors determined the estimated per share NAV by (i) utilizing the appraised values of our
real estate property investments of approximately $4.65 billion and adding our other assets comprised of our
cash, tenant and other receivables, loans receivable and other assets of $288 million, (ii) subtracting the values of
our debt obligations and other liabilities comprised of our accounts payable and accrued expenses, due to
affiliates, distributions payable and other liabilities of $2.3 billion, as well as amounts related to noncontrolling
interests of $94 million, and (iii) dividing the total by our pro forma common shares outstanding as of
December 31, 2014 of 271 million, resulting in an estimated per share NAV of $9.44.

The primary drivers of the change in the estimated per share value from $8.90 in December 2013 to $9.44 in
December 2014 are as follows:

• $1.00 per share net increase in the aggregate value of the Company’s real estate investments, which
represents a 8.1% net increase in value;

• $0.28 per share reduction resulting the effect of devaluation of the euro, Australian dollar and British
pound against the U.S. dollar;

• $0.09 per share reduction resulting from capital expenditures primarily related to leasing capital at the
Company’s properties; and

• $0.09 per share reduction resulting from acquisition fees and expenses related to properties that have
been acquired or that will be acquired in future periods.
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Other than with respect to the appraised values of our real estate property investments and values of our debt
obligations, the values of the assets and liabilities described above were determined based on their cost as of
December 31, 2014 and included certain pro forma adjustments primarily related to acquisition fees and expenses
expected to be incurred to acquire certain real estate investments in 2015. No other adjustments were made
related to the period from January 1, 2015 through March 25, 2015 because we did not believe they would have a
material effect on our estimated per share NAV. Additionally, the calculation of the estimated per share NAV
excluded certain items on our unaudited consolidated balance sheet that were determined to have no future value
or economic impact on the valuation. Examples include receivables related to straight-line rental revenue and
costs incurred to put debt in place. Other items were excluded because they were already considered elsewhere in
the valuation. Examples include intangible lease assets and liabilities related to our real estate property
investments and costs incurred for capital expenditures that were included in the appraised values of our real
estate property investments and the fair values of interest rate swaps and caps, as they were included in the
valuation of our debt.

The appraised values provided by Cushman and Knight Frank described above were determined primarily
by using methodologies that are commonly used in the commercial real estate industry. For our domestic real
estate property investments, these methodologies included discounted cash flow analyses and reviews of current,
historical and projected capitalization rates for properties comparable to those owned by us and assume a two-
year holding period for multifamily development projects and a 10-12 year holding period for the remaining
domestic real estate property investments. Additionally, the multifamily development project appraisals included
assumptions regarding projected construction completion and stabilization. For our international real estate
investments, these methodologies included cash flow analyses and going-in capitalization rates for properties
comparable to those owned by us. The tables below summarize the key assumptions that were used in the
valuations of our real estate property investments.

Range Weighted Average

Domestic Real Estate Property Investments
Office/Industrial/Mixed-use/Retail

Exit capitalization rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.50% - 7.50% 6.49%
Discount rate/internal rate of return . . . . . . . . 6.00% - 8.50% 7.17%

Multi-Family
Exit capitalization rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.00% - 5.50% 5.27%
Discount rate/internal rate of return . . . . . . . . 7.00% - 7.50% 7.29%

International Real Estate Property Investments
Office/Industrial/Mixed-use

Going-in capitalization rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.90% - 15.28% 5.75%

While our board of directors believes that the assumptions used in determining the appraised values of our
real estate property investments are reasonable, a change in these assumptions would impact the calculation of
such values. For example, assuming all other factors remained unchanged, an increase in the average discount
rate of 25 basis points would yield a decrease in the appraised values of our domestic real estate property
investments of 2.3%, while a decrease in the average discount rate of 25 basis points would yield an increase in
the appraised values of our domestic real estate property investments of 1.6%. Likewise, an increase in the
average exit capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield a decrease in the appraised values of our domestic
real estate property investments of 2.7%, while a decrease in the average exit capitalization rate of 25 basis points
would yield an increase in the appraised values of our domestic real estate property investments of 2.1%.
Additionally, an increase in the average going-in capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield a decrease in
the appraised values of our international real estate property investments of 3.8%, while a decrease in the average
going-in capitalization rate of 25 basis points would yield an increase in the appraised values of our international
real estate property investments of 4.0%.

We expect that we will next disclose a new estimated per share NAV by March 31, 2016.
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Distributions

We have declared distributions for the months of January 2012 through March 2015 at an amount equal to
$0.0017808 per share, per day. Our cash flows from operations have been and may continue to be insufficient to
fund distributions to stockholders. Therefore some or all of our distributions may continue to be paid from other
sources, such as proceeds from our debt financings, cash advances by our Advisor, and cash resulting from a
waiver or deferral of fees. We funded 50% of total distributions for 2012, 67% of total distributions for 2013 and
19% of total distributions for 2014 with cash flows from financing activities, which include proceeds from our
public offerings and proceeds from our debt financings. We have not placed a cap on the amount of our
distributions that may be paid from any of these sources. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources” for
additional information regarding our distributions.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, we paid $44.3 million and $83.1 million
in acquisition fees and expenses. Under GAAP, acquisition fees and acquisition-related expenses are expensed
and therefore reduce cash flows from operating activities. However, we fund these expenses with proceeds from
our public offerings or other equity capital. See “Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations” for
additional information regarding our fund performance.

The table below outlines our total distributions declared to stockholders and noncontrolling interests
(HALP, Moorfield Real Estate Fund II GP Ltd. (“Moorfield”) and Flagship Capital GP) for each of the quarters
during the years ended December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, including the breakout between the
distributions declared in cash and those reinvested pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan (in thousands):

Stockholders
Noncontrolling

Interests

Distributions for the three months ended
Cash

Distributions
Distributions
Reinvested Total Declared Total Declared

2014
December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 20,649 $ 23,628 $ 44,277 $ 2,458
September 30, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,453 23,612 44,065 675
June 30, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,117 23,211 43,328 855
March 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,336 21,079 39,415 680

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 79,555 $ 91,530 $171,085 $ 4,668

2013
December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 16,458 $ 18,660 $ 35,118 $ 1,454
September 30, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,561 16,079 30,640 638
June 30, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,265 14,551 27,816 685
March 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,418 13,772 26,190 554

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 56,702 $ 63,062 $119,764 $ 3,331

In April 2012, the Advisor agreed to waive the asset management fee otherwise payable to it pursuant to the
Advisory Agreement for each quarter in 2013 and 2014, to the extent that our MFFO for a particular quarter, as
disclosed in each quarterly report, amounts to less than 100% of the aggregate distributions declared to our
stockholders for such quarter. As a result of the waiver of these fees, cash flows from operations that would have
been paid to the Advisor for asset management fees may be available to pay distributions to stockholders. Our
Advisor waived a total of $12.2 million through the expiration of the waiver on December 31, 2013. As a result
of the waiver of these fees, cash flows from operations that would have been paid to our Advisor for asset
management fees were available to pay distributions to stockholders. These fee waivers are not deferrals and
accordingly, these fees will not be paid to the Advisor in cash at any time in the future.

48



Additionally, our Advisor agreed to waive asset management fees otherwise payable to it for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, to the extent that our MFFO for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2015, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year, amounts to less than 100% of the
aggregate distributions declared to our stockholders for such year. However, because MFFO exceeded
distributions declared to our stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2014, the Advisor did not waive
any asset management fees.

Distributions to stockholders are characterized for federal income tax purposes as ordinary income, capital
gains, non-taxable return of capital or a combination of the three. Distributions that exceed our current and
accumulated earnings and profits (calculated for tax purposes) constitute a return of capital for tax purposes
rather than a distribution and reduce the stockholders’ basis in our common shares. To the extent that a
distribution exceeds both current and accumulated earnings and profits and the stockholders’ basis in the
common shares, it will generally be treated as a capital gain. We annually notify stockholders of the taxability of
distributions paid during the preceding year.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, approximately 43.2% and 62.8% of the
distributions paid were taxable to the investor as ordinary income and approximately 25.3% and 37.2% were
treated as a return of capital for federal income tax purposes. The remaining amounts in each period were treated
as capital gains distributions. The primary driver for the increase in the distribution taxability was an increase in
2012 taxable income due to the asset management fee waiver discussed above. The amount of distributions paid
and taxable portion in each period are not indicative or predictive of amounts anticipated in future periods.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

There have been no sales of unregistered securities within the past three years.

Share Redemption Program

We offer a share redemption program that may allow stockholders who have purchased their shares from us
or received their shares through a non-cash transaction, not in the secondary market, and who have held their
shares for a minimum of one year, to have their shares redeemed subject to certain limitations and restrictions.
We allow redemptions of our shares on a monthly basis. No fees will be paid to Hines in connection with any
redemption. Our board of directors may terminate, suspend or amend the share redemption program upon
30 days’ written notice without stockholder approval, which notice shall take the form of a current report on
Form 8-K filed at least 30 days prior to the effective date of any such termination, suspension or amendment. On
February 20, 2015, we filed a current report on Form 8-K to provide notice to our stockholders that we were
amending and restating our share redemption program to reflect a new formula to determine the price at which
shares may be redeemed under the program, which will take effect beginning with shares redeemed on or after
April 1, 2015. Set forth below are the amended terms of our share redemption program.

Shares will be redeemed at the following prices, unless such shares are redeemed in connection with the
death or disability of a stockholder, as described below: (i) the lower of 92.5% of the estimated per share NAV
most recently announced by us in a public filing with the SEC as of the applicable date of the redemption (the
“Most Recent NAV”) or 92.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held
their shares continuously for at least one year; (ii) the lower of 95.0% of the Most Recent NAV or 95.0% of the
price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held their shares continuously for at least two
years; (iii) the lower of 97.5% of the Most Recent NAV or 97.5% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us
for stockholders who have held their shares continuously for at least three years; and (iv) the lower of 100% of
the Most Recent NAV or 100% of the price paid to acquire the shares from us for stockholders who have held
their shares continuously for at least four years; provided that in each case, the redemption price will be adjusted
for any stock dividends, combinations, splits, recapitalizations or similar actions with respect to our common
stock. As noted above, the Most Recent NAV is currently $9.44. In addition, our board of directors, in its sole
discretion, may determine at any time to amend the share redemption program to redeem shares at a price that is
higher or lower than the price paid for the shares by the redeeming stockholder.
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In the event a stockholder is having all his shares redeemed, we may waive the one-year holding
requirement for shares purchased under our distribution reinvestment plan. In addition, we may waive the one-
year holding requirement in the event of a stockholder’s bankruptcy. If we determine to waive the one-year
holding requirement in these circumstances, then, for purposes of determining the applicable redemption price,
the stockholder will be deemed to have held his shares for one year. In the event of the death or disability of the
holder, upon request, we will waive the one-year holding requirement. Except as noted below, shares that are
redeemed in connection with the death or disability of a stockholder will be redeemed at a purchase price equal
to the price paid to acquire such shares from us; provided, that, the redemption price cannot exceed the then-
current primary offering price (if any). For purposes of the one-year holding period, limited partners of the
Operating Partnership who exchange their OP Units for shares of our common stock (and any persons to whom
they transfer such stock) shall be deemed to have owned those shares of our common stock as of the date the
related OP Units were issued.

To the extent our board of directors determines that we have sufficient available cash for redemptions as
described below, we initially intend to redeem shares on a monthly basis; however, our board of directors may
determine from time to time to adjust the timing of redemptions or suspend or terminate our share redemption
program upon 30 days’ notice. Subject to the limitations and restrictions on the program and to funds being
available, the number of shares repurchased during any consecutive twelve month period will be limited to no more
than 5% of the number of outstanding shares of common stock at the beginning of that twelve month period.

Unless our board of directors determines otherwise, the funds available for redemptions in each month will
be limited to the funds received from the distribution reinvestment plan in the prior month. Our board of directors
has complete discretion to determine whether all of such funds from the prior month’s distribution reinvestment
plan can be applied to redemptions in the following month, whether such funds are needed for other purposes or
whether additional funds from other sources may be used for redemptions.

Our board of directors may terminate, suspend or amend the share redemption program at any time upon 30
days’ written notice without stockholder approval if our directors believe such action is in our best interests, or if
they determine the funds otherwise available to fund our share redemption program are needed for other
purposes. Any notice of a termination, suspension or amendment of the share redemption program will be made
via a report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC at least 30 days prior to the effective date of such termination,
suspension or amendment. Our board of directors may also limit the amounts available for redemption at any
time in their sole discretion.

All requests for redemption must be made in writing and received by us at least five business days prior to
the end of the month. If you would like to request redemption of your shares, please contact us to receive
required redemption forms and instructions concerning required signatures. Certain broker dealers require that
their clients make redemption requests through their broker dealer, so please contact your broker dealer first if
you want to request redemption of your shares. You may also withdraw your request to have your shares
redeemed. Withdrawal requests must also be made in writing and received by us at least five business days prior
to the end of the month. We cannot guarantee that we will have sufficient funds from our distribution
reinvestment plan, or at all, to accommodate all requests made in any month. In the event the number of shares
for which repurchase requests have been submitted exceeds the limits on the number of shares we can redeem or
the funds available for such redemption in a particular month and our board of directors determines that we will
repurchase shares in that month, then shares will be repurchased on a pro rata basis and the portion of any
unfulfilled repurchase request will be held and considered for redemption until the next month unless withdrawn.
In addition, if we do not have sufficient available funds at the time redemption is requested, you can withdraw
your request for redemption or request in writing that we honor it at such time in a successive month, if any,
when we have sufficient funds to do so. Such pending requests will generally be considered on a pro-rata basis
with any new redemption requests we receive in the applicable period.

Commitments by us to repurchase shares will be communicated either telephonically or in writing to each
stockholder who submitted a request on or promptly (no more than five business days) after the fifth business day
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following the end of each month. We will redeem the shares subject to these commitments, and pay the
redemption price associated therewith, within three business days following the delivery of such commitments.
You will not relinquish your shares until we redeem them.

The shares we redeem under our share redemption program will be canceled and will have the status of
authorized but unissued shares. We will not resell such shares to the public unless such sales are first registered
with the SEC under the Securities Act and under appropriate state securities laws or are exempt under such laws.
We will terminate our share redemption program in the event that our shares ever become listed on a national
securities exchange or in the event a secondary market for our common shares develops.

Issuer Redemptions of Equity Securities

All eligible requests for redemptions were redeemed using the proceeds from our distribution reinvestment
plan. The following table lists shares we redeemed (in thousands) under our share redemption plan during the
period covered by this report, including the average price paid per share.

Period

Total Number
of Shares
Redeemed

Average
Price Paid
Per Share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of
Publicly Announced
Plans of Programs

Maximum Number of
Shares that May Yet be

Redeemed Under the
Plans or Programs (1)

October 1, 2014 to October 31, 2014 . . . . . . . 359,606 $9.84 359,606 421,675
November 1, 2014 to November 30, 2014 . . . 493,551 $9.88 493,551 313,158
December 1, 2014 to December 31, 2014 . . . . 342,181 $9.89 342,181 437,501

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,195,338 1,195,338

(1) See description of our share redemption program above for a description of the limitations on the number of
shares that may be redeemed.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected consolidated financial data are qualified by reference to and should be read in
conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto and “Item 7. Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” below (in thousands, except per share
amounts).

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Operating Data:
Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 456,264 $ 322,862 $ 187,240 $ 95,526 $ 24,874
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 193,870 $ 140,187 $ 84,747 $ 53,167 $ 16,029
Asset management and acquisition fees . . . . . . $ 53,069 $ 60,490 $ 22,006 $ 20,453 $ 11,236
General and administrative . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,782 $ 5,344 $ 3,590 $ 3,129 $ 1,866
Income (loss) before benefit (provision) for

income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 16,648 $ (85,062) $ (32,393) $ (55,724) $ (30,759)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes . . . . . . . . $ (5,806) $ (701) $ (1,147) $ (2,885) $ (657)
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,842 $ (85,763) $ (33,540) $ (58,609) $ (31,416)
Net (income) loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (5,764) $ (3,173) $ (939) $ 1,592 $ 5,951
Net income (loss) attributable to common

stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,078 $ (88,936) $ (34,479) $ (57,017) $ (25,465)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common

share: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.02 $ (0.48) $ (0.30) $ (0.85) $ (1.30)
Distributions declared per common share . . . . $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.65 $ 0.70 $ 0.70
Weighted average common shares

outstanding — basic and diluted . . . . . . . . . 263,323 184,412 113,578 67,429 19,597
Balance Sheet Data:
Total investment property . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,964,699 $2,799,850 $1,482,478 $ 950,430 $449,029
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 143,609 $ 124,859 $ 97,398 $ 66,490 $146,953
Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,126,594 $3,803,219 $2,078,572 $1,381,317 $775,684
Long-term obligations (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,132,644 $1,982,791 $ 873,585 $ 647,204 $378,333

(1) These amounts include notes payable, notes payable to affiliates and long-term derivative instruments.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion and analysis together with our consolidated financial statements
and notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The following information contains forward-
looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Should one or more of these risks or
uncertainties materialize, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-
looking statements. Please see “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above for a description
of these risks and uncertainties.

Executive Summary

Hines Global REIT, Inc. (“Hines Global”) was incorporated under the Maryland General Corporation Laws
on December 10, 2008, primarily for the purpose of investing in a diversified portfolio of quality commercial real
estate properties and other real estate investments located throughout the United States and internationally. Hines
Global raised approximately $2.8 billion through two public offerings from August 2009 through April 2014 to
provide the equity capital for its real estate investments. Hines Global continues to offer up to $500.0 million of
shares of its common stock under its distribution reinvestment plan, pursuant to an offering which commenced
on April 24, 2014 (the “DRP Offering”). Hines Global engaged Hines Securities, Inc. (the “Dealer Manager”), an
affiliate of Hines, to serve as the dealer manager for its public offerings.

One of our primary investment objectives was to invest in a real estate portfolio that is diversified by asset
type, geographic area, lease expirations and tenant industries. As of March 4, 2015, we have invested all of the
proceeds raised through our public offerings. We may make additional investments in the future, from time to
time. However, these investments will be funded with proceeds from the dispositions of other real estate
investments or debt financings. We have invested in a diversified portfolio of quality commercial real estate
properties and other real estate investments throughout the United States and internationally. Our principal
targeted assets have been investments in properties, that have quality construction and desirable locations which
can attract quality tenants. These types of investments are generally located in central business districts or
suburban markets of major metropolitan cities worldwide. We have invested in a geographically diverse portfolio
in order to reduce the risk of reliance on a particular market, a particular property and/or a particular tenant. See
“Item 2. Properties”, for additional information regarding our real estate portfolio.

As of December 31, 2014, we owned interests in 40 real estate investments which contain, in the aggregate,
14.4 million square feet of leasable space. Approximately 59% of our portfolio is located throughout the United
States and approximately 41% is located internationally based on our pro rata share of the appraised value of
each of the investments. These investments consisted of:

• Domestic office investments (11 investments)

• Domestic other investments (10 investments)

• International office investments (10 investments)

• International other investments (9 investments)

Discussed below are additional details related to our investment in a multi-family project, which was still
under development as of December 31, 2014 but is expected to be completed in April 2015, and investments in
real estate-related debt. Each of these investments is included in our domestic other investments segment. All
other investments are operating real estate investments.

• Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV) — 83% interest in a joint venture
that was formed in July 2012 to invest in a multi-family development project in Miami, Florida. The
estimated total cost of the project is expected to be $66.0 million and the project will consist of 276
units upon completion. Affiliates of Hines own the remaining 17% interest in this joint venture.
Construction began in April 2013 and is expected to be completed in April 2015.
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• Flagship Capital JV — 97% interest in a joint venture with Flagship Capital GP, which was formed to
provide real estate loans. The joint venture has ten loans receivable, totaling $59.1 million, outstanding
as of December 31, 2014. We are not affiliated with Flagship Capital GP. See Note 5 — Real Estate
Loans Receivable for additional information regarding these loans receivable.

• The Rim Loan Receivable — a variable interest entity (“VIE”) that that was formed to provide $29.8
million in construction financing to the developer of four additional retail parcels at The Rim, a
656,371 square-foot outdoor retail center located in San Antonio, Texas. As of December 31, 2014, we
had loaned $11.3 million to the developer. We are not affiliated with the developer of the project.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities and contingencies as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate our assumptions and estimates on an ongoing basis. We base
our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Additionally, application of our accounting policies involves exercising judgments regarding
assumptions as to future uncertainties. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions
or conditions. The following is a discussion of our critical accounting policies. For a discussion of all of our
significant accounting policies, see Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Joint Ventures and Noncontrolling Interests

Our consolidated financial statements included in this annual report include the accounts of Hines Global,
the Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and joint ventures as well as the related amounts of
noncontrolling interests. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

We evaluate the need to consolidate investments based on standards set forth by GAAP. Our joint ventures
are evaluated based upon GAAP to determine whether or not the investment qualifies as a VIE. If the investment
qualifies as a VIE, an analysis is then performed to determine if we are the primary beneficiary of the VIE by
reviewing a combination of qualitative and quantitative measures including analyzing the expected investment
portfolio using various assumptions to estimate the net income from the underlying assets. The projected cash
flows are then analyzed to determine whether or not we are the primary beneficiary by analyzing if we have both
the power to direct the entity’s significant economic activities and the obligation to absorb potentially significant
losses or receive potentially significant benefits. In addition to this analysis, we also consider the rights and
decision making abilities of each holder of variable interests. We will consolidate joint ventures that are
determined to be variable interest entities for which we are the primary beneficiary. We will also consolidate
joint ventures that are not determined to be variable interest entities, but for which we exercise significant control
over major operating decisions, such as approval of budgets, selection of property managers, asset management,
investment activity and changes in financing.

Any investments in partially owned real estate joint ventures and partnerships are reviewed for impairment
periodically if events or circumstances change indicating that the carrying amount of its investments may exceed
its fair value. In such an instance, we will record an impairment charge if we determine that a decline in the value
of an investment below its fair value is other than temporary. Our analysis will be dependent on a number of
factors, including the performance of each investment, current market conditions, and our intent and ability to
hold the investment to full recovery. Based on our analysis of the facts and circumstances at each reporting
period, no impairment was recorded related to its investments in unconsolidated, partially owned real estate joint
ventures for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012. However, if market conditions deteriorate in
the future and result in lower valuations or reduced cash flows of the Company’s investments, impairment
charges may be recorded in future periods.
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Investment Property and Lease Intangibles

When we acquire a property, we allocate the purchase price of the acquisition based upon our assessment of
the fair value of various components, including to land and building, land, building and improvements, and
intangible lease assets and liabilities. Fair value determinations are based on estimated cash flow projections that
utilize discount and/or capitalization rates, as well as certain available market information. The fair value of land,
building and improvements considers the value of the property as if it were vacant. The fair value of intangible
lease assets is based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of each lease. Factors considered include
estimates of carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease-up periods, current market conditions and market
rates, the customer’s credit quality and costs to execute similar leases. The fair value of out-of-market leases is
calculated as the present value (using a discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases) of the
difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and our estimate of fair
market lease rates for each corresponding in-place lease. In estimating carrying costs, we include estimates of
lost rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up periods, depending on local market conditions. In
estimating costs to execute similar leases, we consider customer improvements, leasing commissions and legal
and other related expenses. Initial valuations are subject to change until such information is finalized, which will
occur no later than 12 months after the acquisition date.

Real estate assets are reviewed for impairment each reporting period if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the individual property may not be recoverable. In such an event, a
comparison will be made of the current and projected operating cash flows and expected proceeds from the
eventual disposition of each property on an undiscounted basis to the carrying amount of such property. If the
carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, it would be written down to the estimated fair value to
reflect impairment in the value of the asset. The determination of whether investment property is impaired
requires a significant amount of judgment by management and is based on the best information available to
management at the time of the evaluation. No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012.

Deferred Leasing Costs

We consider a number of different factors to evaluate whether we or the lessee is the owner of the tenant
improvements for accounting purposes. These factors include: (i) whether the lease stipulates how and on what a
tenant improvement allowance may be spent; (ii) whether the tenant or landlord retains legal title to the
improvements; (iii) the uniqueness of the improvements; (iv) the expected economic life of the tenant
improvements relative to the term of the lease; and (v) who constructs or directs the construction of the
improvements. The determination of who owns the tenant improvements for accounting purposes is subject to
significant judgment. In making that determination, we consider all of the above factors. No one factor, however,
necessarily establishes any determination.

Revenue Recognition and Valuation of Receivables

We are required to recognize minimum rent revenues on a straight-line basis over the terms of tenant leases,
including rent holidays and bargain renewal options, if any. Revenues associated with tenant reimbursements are
recognized in the period in which the expenses are incurred based upon the tenant’s lease provision. Leases are
not uniform in dealing with such cost reimbursements and there are many variations to the computation. We
make quarterly accrual adjustments, positive or negative, to tenant reimbursement revenue to adjust the recorded
amounts to our best estimate of the final amounts to be billed and collected with respect to the cost
reimbursements. Revenues relating to lease termination fees are recognized on a straight-line basis amortized
from the time that a tenant’s right to occupy the leased space is modified through the end of the revised lease
term and are included in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. To the extent
our leases provide for rental increases at specified intervals, we will record a receivable for rent not yet due under
the lease terms. Accordingly, our management must determine, in its judgment, to what extent the unbilled rent
receivable applicable to each specific tenant is collectible. We review unbilled rent receivables on a quarterly
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basis and take into consideration the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business
conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and economic conditions in the area in which the property
is located. In the event that the collectibility of unbilled rent with respect to any given tenant is in doubt, we
would be required to record an increase in our allowance for doubtful accounts or record a direct write-off of the
specific rent receivable, which would have an adverse effect on our net income for the year in which the reserve
is increased or the direct write-off is recorded and would decrease our total assets and stockholders’ equity.

Real Estate Loans Receivable

Real estate loans receivable is shown at cost, net of any applicable allowance for uncollectibility and
deferred loan origination fees. We defer certain loan origination fees and amortize them as an adjustment of yield
over the term of the related real estate loan receivable. The related amortization of the deferred loan origination
fees are recorded in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss). An allowance for the uncollectible portion of the real estate loans receivable is determined based
upon an analysis of the economic conditions in the area in which the property is located and credit quality
indicators which include the borrower’s payment history, the financial condition of the borrower, and business
conditions in the industry in which the borrower operates.

Additionally, a real estate loan receivable is considered to be impaired when, based upon current events, it is
probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the existing contractual terms. If a real
estate loan receivable is considered to be impaired, the amount of loss is calculated by comparing the recorded
investment to the value determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at its effective interest rate or
to the value of the underlying collateral if the real estate loan receivable is collateral dependent. Evaluating real
estate loans receivable for potential impairment can require management to exercise significant judgment. No
impairment charges were recorded for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies for a discussion regarding recent accounting
pronouncements and the potential impact, if any, on our financial statements.

Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date, our most significant demands for funds have been related to the purchase of real estate properties
and other real estate-related investments. Specifically, we funded $4.5 billion of real estate investments using
$2.8 billion of proceeds from our public offerings and debt proceeds. As of March 2015, we have invested all of
the proceeds raised through our public offerings. As a result, any real estate investments we may make in the
future will be funded using proceeds from the dispositions of other real estate investments and debt proceeds.
Other significant demands for funds include the payment of operating expenses, distributions and debt service.
Generally, we expect to meet these operating cash needs using cash flows from operating activities.

From time to time we may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fully fund distributions paid.
Therefore some or all of our distributions may continue to be paid from other sources, such as proceeds from our
debt financings, proceeds from our distribution reinvestment plan, proceeds from the sales of assets, cash
advances by our Advisor, and cash resulting from a waiver or deferral of fees. We have not placed a cap on the
amount of our distributions that may be paid from sources other than cash flows from operations, including
proceeds from our debt financings, proceeds from this offering, cash advances by our Advisor and cash resulting
from a waiver or deferral fees.

We believe that the proper use of leverage can enhance returns on real estate investments. As of
December 31, 2014, our portfolio was 44% leveraged, based on the values of our real estate investments. At that
time, we had $2.1 billion of principal outstanding under our various loan agreements with a weighted average
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interest rate of 2.9%, including the effects of related interest rate swaps. Approximately $376.3 million of our
loans are maturing during 2015. We generally expect to refinance these loans, but we may repay them using our
revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) or other available
cash if we are unable to refinance them at satisfactory terms.

The discussions below provide additional details regarding our operating, investing, and financing cash
flows.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our real estate properties generate cash flow in the form of rental revenues, which are used to pay direct
leasing costs, property-level operating expenses and interest payments. Property-level operating expenses consist
primarily of salaries and wages of property management personnel, utilities, cleaning, insurance, security and
building maintenance costs, property management and leasing fees, and property taxes. Additionally, we incur
general and administrative expenses, acquisition fees and expenses and asset management fees.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $142.4 million
compared to $40.5 million as of December 31, 2013. Net cash provided by operating activities was reduced by
the payment of acquisition fees and acquisition-related expenses totaling $44.3 million during the year ended
December 31, 2014 and $83.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2013. Under GAAP, acquisition fees
and acquisition-related expenses are expensed and therefore reduce cash flows from operating activities.
However, we fund these expenses with proceeds from our public offerings or other equity capital. Excluding the
effect of these fees and expenses, operating cash flows increased by $63.0 million. This increase is due to our
acquisition of four operating properties during 2014 and the operation of properties acquired during 2013 for the
entire year.

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $40.5 million
compared to cash provided by operating activities of $38.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Net
cash provided by operating activities was reduced by the payment of acquisition fees and acquisition-related
expenses totaling $83.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 and $29.6 million during the year
ended December 31, 2012. Excluding these fees and expenses, operating cash flows increased by $55.2 million
between these periods as a result of our acquisition of 13 operating properties during 2013 and the operation of
properties which were acquired during 2012 for the entire year.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities primarily relates to payments made for the acquisition of our real estate
investments, including deposits for pending acquisitions, capital expenditures at our properties, and activities
related to our loans receivable. Additionally, beginning in 2014, cash flows from investing activities includes
proceeds received from the sales of our real estate investments. Net cash used in investing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2014 decreased $1.2 billion compared to the same period in 2013 primarily as a result of
fewer investments and inflows of $248.1 million related to the sale of two of our properties. Below is additional
information regarding these cash flows:

2014

• We had cash outflows of $729.7 million related to our acquisition of four real estate investments.

• We received proceeds of $248.1 million from the sale of two our properties before retiring $132.1
million in related mortgage loans.

• We paid $7.6 million in capital expenditures at our operating properties and paid $44.1 million in
construction costs at our multi-family development projects in Houston, Texas and Miami, Florida.

• We also paid $15.0 million related to a deposit on a pending acquisition that was completed in 2015.
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• We made real estate loans of $50.6 million and received proceeds from the collection of real estate
loans receivable of $19.4 million.

• We had an increase in restricted cash of $9.2 million primarily related to escrows required by several of
our outstanding mortgage loans.

2013

• We had cash outflows of $1.7 billion related to our acquisition of 13 real estate investments.

• We paid $11.7 million in capital expenditures at our operating properties and paid $44.4 million in
construction costs at our multi-family development projects in Houston, Texas and Miami, Florida.

• We made real estate loans of $20.0 million and received proceeds from the collection of real estate
loans receivable of $12.4 million.

• We had an increase in restricted cash of $4.6 million related to escrows required by several of our
outstanding mortgage loans and security deposits at a property in Warsaw, Poland.

2012

• We had cash outflows of $593.4 million related to our acquisition of nine real estate investments.

• We paid $12.5 million in capital expenditures at our operating properties and paid $18.7 million in
construction costs at our multi-family development projects in Houston, Texas and Miami, Florida.

• We also paid $3.6 million related to our unconsolidated joint venture investment in @1377 and paid
$7.5 million related to deposits on pending acquisitions that were completed in 2013.

• Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2012, we made loans of $33.3 million and received
proceeds from loans receivable of $3.1 million.

• We had an increase in restricted cash of $0.3 million related to escrows required by several of our
outstanding mortgage loans.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Public Offerings

As described previously, we ceased offering primary shares pursuant to our second offering in April 2014.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, we raised proceeds of $378.8 million,
$772.7 million and $556.7 million from our public offerings, excluding proceeds from the distribution
reinvestment plan. In addition, during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, we
redeemed $37.7 million, $18.7 million and $11.1 million in shares of our common stock through our share
redemption program.

In addition to the investing activities described above, we used proceeds from our public offerings of
securities to make certain payments to the Advisor, our Dealer Manager and Hines and their affiliates during the
various phases of our organization and operation. During the organization and offering stage, these included
payments to our Dealer Manager for selling commissions and the dealer manager fee and payments to our
Advisor for reimbursement of issuer costs. During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively, we made payments of $39.5 million, $84.1 million and $58.3 million, for selling commissions,
dealer manager fees and issuer costs related to our public offerings. The decrease in these payments during the
year ended December 31, 2014 is primarily related to there having been less proceeds raised as a result of the
closing of our second offering in April 2014. These payments increased between the years 2013 and 2012 due to
an increase in the proceeds raised from our public offerings.
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Distributions

With the authorization of our board of directors, we declared distributions for the months of January 2012
through March 2015 at an amount equal to $0.0017808 per share, per day. Distributions are paid monthly on the
first business day following the completion of each month to which they relate. All distributions were or will be
paid in cash or reinvested in shares of our common stock for those participating in our distribution reinvestment
plan. Distributions paid to stockholders (including those reinvested in stock) during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were $168.6 million, $115.3 million and $71.3 million, respectively.

In our initial quarters of operations, and from time to time thereafter, our cash flows from operations have
been and may continue to be insufficient to fund distributions to stockholders. We funded 50% of total
distributions for 2012, 67% of total distributions for 2013 and 19% of total distributions for 2014 with cash flows
from financing activities, which include proceeds from our public offerings and proceeds from our debt
financings. Also, during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, we paid $44.3
million, $83.1 million and $29.6 million in acquisition fees and expenses. Under GAAP, acquisition fees and
acquisition-related expenses are expensed and therefore reduce cash flows from operating activities. However,
we fund these expenses with proceeds from our public offerings or other equity capital.

In April 2012, our Advisor agreed to waive the asset management fee otherwise payable to it pursuant to the
Advisory Agreement for each quarter in 2012 and 2013, to the extent that our MFFO for a particular quarter, as
disclosed in each of our quarterly reports, amounts to less than 100% of the aggregate distributions declared for
such quarter. Our Advisor waived a total of $12.2 million through the expiration of the waiver on December 31,
2013. As a result of the waiver of these fees, cash flows from operations that would have been paid to our
Advisor for asset management fees were available to pay distributions to stockholders. These fee waivers are not
deferrals and accordingly, these fees will not be paid to the Advisor in cash at any time in the future.

In December 2013 and December 2014, our Advisor agreed to waive asset management fees otherwise
payable to it for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, to the extent that our MFFO for the
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2015 as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year,
amounts to less than 100% of the aggregate distributions declared to our stockholders for such year.

However, because MFFO exceeded distributions declared to our stockholders during the year ended
December 31, 2014, the Advisor did not waive any asset management fees for such period. During the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we incurred asset management fees of $34.9 million, $20.4 million
and $5.9 million, respectively.

The table below contains additional information regarding distributions to our stockholders and
noncontrolling interest holders (HALP, Moorfield and the Flagship Capital GP) as well as the sources of
distribution payments (all amounts are in thousands):

Stockholders
Noncontrolling

Interests (2) Sources

Distributions for the
Three Years Ended

Cash
Distributions

Distributions
Reinvested

Total
Declared Total Declared

Cash Flows
From

Operating
Activities

Cash Flows
From

Financing
Activities (1)

December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . $79,555 $91,530 $171,085 $4,668 $142,372 81% $33,381 19%
December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . $56,702 $63,062 $119,764 $3,331 $ 40,524 33% $82,571 67%
December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . $35,581 $38,394 $ 73,975 $3,159 $ 38,850 50% $38,284 50%

(1) Cash flows from financing activities includes proceeds from our public offerings, equity capital
contributions from noncontrolling interests and proceeds from debt financings.

(2) Includes distributions declared to the Brindleyplace JV related to the operations of the Brindleyplace Project
of $4.3 million, $2.8 million and $2.9 million to Moorfield for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012, respectively.
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Debt Financings

We utilize permanent mortgage financing to leverage returns on our real estate investments and use
borrowings under our revolving credit facility with the Revolving Credit Facility to provide funding for near-
term investment or working capital needs. As mentioned previously, our portfolio was 44% leveraged as of
December 31, 2014 (based on the values of our real estate investments) with a weighted average interest value of
2.9%.

Below is additional information regarding our loan activities for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012. See Note 6 — Debt Financing for additional information regarding our outstanding debt:

2014

• We entered into $314.2 million of mortgage financing, related to the acquisition of four operating
properties with an aggregate net purchase price of $732.9 million. Additionally, two of our multi-
family development projects borrowed $45.3 million to fund construction costs.

• The Flagship JV borrowed $30.1 million under its revolving credit facility related to the funding of its
loans receivable during the period and made payments of $16.0 million on its revolving credit facility.

• We also borrowed approximately $673.5 million under our Revolving Credit Facility and made
payments of $577.3 million.

• We made payments of $132.1 million related to our loans secured by 144 Montague and Stonecutter
Court upon the disposition of those properties.

• We made payments of $54.6 million and $20.8 million related to our loans secured by the Campus at
Marlborough and WaterWall Place, respectively. The loans at both of these properties had reached
their maturity date and we did not seek additional financing.

• We also made payments totaling $8.1 million on our remaining outstanding mortgage loans.

• We made payments of $4.4 million for financing costs related to our loans.

2013

• We entered into $676.4 million of mortgage financing, related to the acquisition of 13 operating
properties with an aggregate net purchase price of $1.7 billion. Additionally, two of our multi-family
development projects borrowed $44.6 million to fund construction costs.

• The Flagship Capital JV borrowed $8.3 million related to its $20.0 million investments in loans
receivable.

• We borrowed $1.3 billion and made payments of $943.7 million under our two bridge loans and our
Revolving Credit Facility.

• We made payments of $10.1 million for financing costs related to our loans and $4.3 million related to
our interest rate caps.

2012

• We entered into $249.1 million of mortgage financing, related to the acquisition of nine operating
properties with an aggregate net purchase price of $626.7 million. Additionally, two of our multi-
family development projects borrowed $19.6 million to fund construction costs.

• The Flagship Capital JV borrowed $7.5 million related to its $28.9 million investments in loans
receivable.

• We borrowed $492.5 million and made payments of $551.6 million under our two bridge loans and our
Revolving Credit Facility.
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• We also made payments of $5.5 million for financing costs related to our loans and $1.8 million related
to our interest rate caps.

Contributions From Noncontrolling Interests

During the year ended December 31, 2014, an affiliate of Hines Interests Limited Partnership (“Hines”), the
noncontrolling interest in Hines One WaterWall Holdings LP (the “WaterWall Place JV”), contributed $1.5
million to the WaterWall Place JV, for the funding of the repayment of the construction loan to an affiliate. The
contribution is recorded in contributions from noncontrolling interests in our statement of cash flows.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, Moorfield made contributions in the amount of
$2.0 million,$2.0 million, and $4.1 million, which is recorded in contributions from noncontrolling interests in
our consolidated statement of cash flows. During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, the
Flagship Capital GP, the noncontrolling interest in the Flagship JV, contributed $0.4 million, $0.6 million, and
$1.0 million, respectively to the Flagship Capital JV which is also recorded in contributions from noncontrolling
interests in our consolidated statement of cash flows.

Results of Operations

Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013

Same-store Analysis

We owned 40 real estate investments that were 96% leased as of December 31, 2014, compared to 34 real
estate investments that were 93% leased as of December 31, 2013. The following table presents the property-
level revenues in excess of expenses for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the same period in
2013, by reportable segment. Same-store properties for the year ended December 31, 2014 include 19 properties
owned as of January 1, 2013 that were 95% leased as of December 31, 2014 compared to 90% leased as of
December 31, 2013. As we are approaching the end of the acquisition phase of our life cycle, changes in our
results of operations related to our properties are primarily due to the acquisition of properties, as indicated by
the same-store analysis below. All amounts are in thousands, except for percentages:

Years Ended December 31, Change

2014 2013 $ %

Property revenues in excess of expenses (1)

Same-store properties
Domestic office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 54,852 $ 52,355 $ 2,497 5%
Domestic other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 31,997 30,812 1,185 4%
International office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,539 14,507 32 — %
International other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 39,668 35,587 4,081 11%

Total same-store properties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $141,056 $133,261 $ 7,795 6%
Recent acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 160,747 69,443 91,304 131%
Disposed properties (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,360 18,065 (705) (4)%

Total property revenues in excess of expenses . . . . . . . . $319,163 $220,769 $98,394 45%

Other
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $193,870 $140,187 $53,683 38%
Gain on sale of real estate investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 64,003 $ — $64,003 — %
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 78,273 $ 60,968 $17,305 28%
Income tax provision . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,806 $ 701 $ 5,105 728%

(1) Property revenues in excess of expenses include total revenues less property operating expenses, real
property taxes and property management fees.

(2) Includes the property revenues in excess of expenses for the two properties that were sold in 2014.

61



In total, property revenues in excess of expenses of the same-store properties increased 6% for the year
ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2013. Below is additional information
regarding significant variances in our property revenues in excess of expenses at our same-store properties:

• Domestic office investments:

• Revenue at 17600 Gillette increased by $1.5 million due to termination fees from a tenant in
March 2014. The previous tenant vacated its space and the space has been re-leased to a new
tenant.

• Revenue increased $0.4 million at Fifty South Sixth due to a lease termination payment.

• Domestic other investments:

• We experienced a $1.0 million increase in rental revenue, which is mostly due to fees received for
telecommunication-related services for new and existing tenants at Komo Plaza.

• International other investments:

• We experienced a $4.5 million increase in rental revenue at the Brindleyplace Project, which is
mostly due to a new tenant that took occupancy in the third quarter of 2013.

• We experienced a $1.0 million decrease in property revenues in excess of expenses at one of our
properties in the Poland Logistics Portfolio resulting from increased vacant space for the majority
of 2014.

The increases in depreciation and amortization, interest expense, and income tax provision identified in the
table above are primarily due to the acquisition of real estate investments during 2013 and 2014. We had gain on
sale of real estate investments due to the sale of 144 Montague and Stonecutter Court during 2014.

Derivative Instruments

We have entered into several interest rate contracts as economic hedges against the fluctuation of future
interest rates on our variable interest rate borrowings, and we have also entered into several foreign currency
forward contracts as economic hedges against the variability of future exchange rates on our international
investments. We have not designated any of these contracts as cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. These
derivatives have been recorded at their estimated fair values in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Changes in the fair value of these derivatives result in gains or losses recorded in our consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss). See “Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk” included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding
certain risks related to our derivatives, such as the risk of counterparty non-performance.

The table below summarizes the activity related to our derivatives for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2013 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Gain (loss) on interest rate contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9) $5,082
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,774 576
Gain (loss) on settlement of foreign currency forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . 557 4,251

Gain (loss) on derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $7,322 $9,909
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Other Expenses

The tables below provide additional information related to our acquisition-related expenses, asset
management and acquisition fees and general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31,
2014 and 2013. All amounts in thousands, except percentages:

Years Ended December 31, Change

2014 2013 $ %

Acquisition fee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $18,188 $40,136 $(21,948) (55)%
Asset management fee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $34,881 $20,354 $ 14,527 71%

Asset management and acquisition fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $53,069 $60,490 $ (7,421) (12)%

Acquisition-related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $29,278 $42,747 $(13,469) (32)%
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,782 $ 5,344 $ 1,438 27%

The changes identified in the table above are primarily due to the following:

• We pay our Advisor acquisition fees equal to 2.25% of the net purchase price of our real estate
investments. The decrease in acquisition fees identified above is a result of a decrease in our
acquisition activity during 2014. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we acquired four real estate
investments with an aggregate net purchase price of $732.9 million, compared to 13 real estate
investments with an aggregate net purchase price of $1.7 billion for the year ended December 31, 2013.

• We pay monthly asset management fees to our Advisor based on an annual fee of 1.5% of the net
equity capital invested in real estate. Asset management fees were higher for the year ended
December 31, 2014 compared to the same period in 2013, primarily due to our acquisition of additional
real estate investments beginning in 2013. Additionally, our Advisor waived $3.6 million of asset
management fees payable to it during the year ended December 31, 2013.

• Acquisition-related expenses represent costs incurred on properties we have acquired and those which
we may acquire in future periods. These costs vary significantly from one acquisition to another. In
general, the decrease is a result of fewer acquisitions completed during the current period.

• General and administrative expenses includes legal and accounting fees, printing and mailing costs,
insurance costs, costs and expenses associated with our board of directors and other administrative
expenses. The increase in our general and administrative costs is primarily due to higher insurance
premiums in the director and officer insurance policies and increased transfer agent costs resulting
from an increase in the number of stockholders, compared to the same period in 2013.

Foreign Currency Gains (Losses)

Foreign currency gains (losses) primarily reflects the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange
rates on transactions that were denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies. During the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, these gains and losses were primarily related to the effect of remeasuring
our borrowings denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars and the changes in exchange rates between
the date of the borrowing and December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the year ended December 31, 2012

Same-store Analysis

We owned 34 properties that were 93% leased as of December 31, 2013, compared to 21 properties that
were 94% leased as of December 31, 2012. The following table presents the property-level revenues in excess of
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to the same period in 2012, by reportable segment.
Same-store properties for the year ended December 31, 2013 include 12 properties owned as of January 1, 2012
that were 97% leased as of December 31, 2013 compared to 93% leased as of December 31, 2012. The changes
in our results of operations related to our properties are primarily due to the acquisition of properties, as indicated
by the same-store analysis below. All amounts are in thousands, except for percentages:

Year Ended December 31, Change

2013 2012 $ %

Property revenues in excess of expenses (1)

Same-store properties
Domestic office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 38,960 $ 39,591 $ (631) (2)%
Domestic other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20,135 18,026 2,109 12%
International office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,139 18,438 (299) (2)%
International other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,502 25,101 401 2%

Total same-store properties . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $102,736 $101,156 $ 1,580 2%
Recent acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 118,033 25,045 92,988 371%

Total property revenues in excess of expenses . . . . . . . . $220,769 $126,201 $94,568 75%

Other
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $140,187 $ 84,747 $55,440 65%
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 60,968 $ 37,915 $23,053 61%
Income tax provision (benefit) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 701 $ 1,147 $ (446) (39)%

(1) Property revenues in excess of expenses include total revenues less property operating expenses, real
property taxes and property management fees.

In total, property revenues in excess of expenses of the same-store properties increased 2% for the year
ended December 31, 2013 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2012. Below is additional information
regarding significant variances in our property revenues in excess of expenses at our same-store properties:

• Domestic other investments:

• We experienced an increase in interest income earned on our real estate loans receivable from the
Flagship Capital JV for the year ended December 31, 2013, due to an increase in our loan real
estate receivable balance. As of December 31, 2013, our loans receivable balance from the
Flagship Capital JV was $39.6 million, as compared to $31.4 million at December 31, 2012.

• We experienced an increase in fees received for telecommunication-related services for new and
existing tenants at Komo Plaza which increased our rental revenues for the property.

Derivative Instruments

The table below summarizes the activity related to our derivatives for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Gain (loss) on interest rate contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $5,082 $(2,663)
Unrealized gain (loss) on foreign currency forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . 576 (198)
Gain (loss) on settlement of foreign currency forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . 4,251 4,259

Gain (loss) on derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $9,909 $ 1,398
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Other Expenses

The tables below provide detail relating to our acquisition-related expenses, asset management and
acquisition fees and general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. These
fees and expenses were generally higher for 2013 compared to 2012, primarily due to our acquisition of more
real estate investments in 2013. All amounts in thousands, except percentages:

Years Ended December 31, Change

2013 2012 $ %

Acquisition fee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $40,136 $16,064 $24,072 150%
Asset management fee . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $20,354 $ 5,942 $14,412 243%

Asset management and acquisition fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $60,490 $22,006 $38,484 175%

Acquisition-related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $42,747 $12,633 $30,114 238%
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,344 $ 3,590 $ 1,754 49%

The changes identified in the table above are primarily due to the following:

• The increase in acquisition fees identified above is a result of an increase in our acquisition activity.
For the year ended December 31, 2013, we acquired 13 real estate investments with an aggregate net
purchase price of $1.7 billion compared to nine real estate investments with an aggregate net purchase
price of $626.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2012.

• Asset management fees were higher for the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the same
period in 2012, primarily due to our acquisition of additional real estate investments beginning in 2013
as well as a reduced asset management fee waiver in 2013. In 2013, the Advisor waived asset
management fees of $3.6 million and in 2012 the Advisor waived $8.6 million of asset management
fees. See “— Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources” for additional information
regarding the Advisor’s asset management fee waivers.

• Acquisition-related expenses represent costs incurred on properties we have acquired and those which
we may acquire in future periods. These costs vary significantly from one acquisition to another. In
general, the increase is a result of more acquisitions completed during the current period.

• The increase in our general and administrative costs is primarily due to increased transfer agent costs
resulting from an increase in the number of stockholders compared to the same period in 2012, as well
as an increase in audit and tax fees as a result of an increase in acquisition and leasing activity in 2013.

Other Gains (Losses)

Other gains (losses) primarily reflects the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates on
transactions that were denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies. During the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, these gains and losses were primarily related to the effect of remeasuring our
borrowings denominated in foreign currencies into U.S. dollars and the changes in exchange rates between the
date of the borrowing and December 31, 2013 and 2012.

Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations

Funds from Operations (“FFO”) is a non-GAAP financial performance measure defined by the National
Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts (“NAREIT”) and is widely recognized by investors and analysts as
one measure of operating performance of a real estate company. FFO excludes items such as real estate
depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization, as applied in accordance with GAAP, implicitly
assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes predictably over time and also assumes that such assets are
adequately maintained and renovated as required in order to maintain their value. Since real estate values have
historically risen or fallen with market conditions such as occupancy rates, rental rates, inflation, interest rates,
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the business cycle, unemployment and consumer spending, it is management’s view, and we believe the view of
many industry investors and analysts, that the presentation of operating results for real estate companies using
historical cost accounting alone is insufficient. In addition, FFO excludes gains and losses from the sale of real
estate and impairment charges related to depreciable real estate assets and in-substance real estate equity
investments, which we believe provides management and investors with a helpful additional measure of the
historical performance of our real estate portfolio, as it allows for comparisons, year to year, that reflect the
impact on operations from trends in items such as occupancy rates, rental rates, operating costs, general and
administrative expenses and interest costs. A property will be evaluated for impairment if events or
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable (i.e. the carrying amount exceeds the
total estimated undiscounted future cash flows from the property). Undiscounted future cash flows are based on
anticipated operating performance, including estimated future net rental and lease revenues, net proceeds on the
sale of the property, and certain other ancillary cash flows. While impairment charges are excluded from the
calculation of FFO as described above, stockholders are cautioned that due to the limited term of our operations,
it could be difficult to recover any impairment charges.

In addition to FFO, management uses MFFO, as defined by the Investment Program Association, (the
“IPA”), as a non-GAAP supplemental financial performance measure to evaluate our operating performance. The
IPA has recommended the use of MFFO as a supplemental measure for publicly registered, non-listed REITs to
enhance the assessment of the operating performance of a non-listed REIT. MFFO is not equivalent to our net
income or loss as determined under GAAP, and MFFO may not be useful as a measure of the long-term
operating performance of our investments or as a comparative measure to other publicly registered, non-listed
REITs if we do not continue to operate with a limited life and targeted exit strategy, as currently intended and
described herein. MFFO includes funds generated by the operations of our real estate investments and funds used
in our corporate-level operations. MFFO is based on FFO, but includes certain additional adjustments which we
believe are appropriate. Such items include reversing the effects of straight-line rent revenue recognition, fair
value adjustments to derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment and certain other
items as described below. Some of these adjustments are necessary to address changes in the accounting and
reporting rules under GAAP such as the accounting for acquisition-related expenses from a capitalization/
depreciation model to an expensed-as-incurred model that were put into effect in 2009 and other changes to
GAAP rules for real estate subsequent to the establishment of NAREIT’s definition of FFO. These changes in the
accounting and reporting rules under GAAP affected all industries, and as a result of these changes, acquisition
fees and expenses are typically accounted for as operating expenses under GAAP. Management believes these
fees and expenses do not affect our overall long-term operating performance. These changes also have prompted
a significant increase in the magnitude of non-cash and non-operating items included in FFO, as defined. Such
items include amortization of out-of-market lease intangible assets and liabilities and certain tenant incentives.

Other adjustments included in MFFO are necessary to address issues that are common to publicly registered,
non-listed REITs. Publicly registered, non-listed REITs typically have a significant amount of acquisition
activity and are substantially more dynamic during their initial years of investment and operations. While other
start-up entities may also experience significant acquisition activity during their initial years, we believe that
non-listed REITs like us are unique in that they have a limited life with targeted exit strategies within a relatively
limited time frame after the acquisition activity ceases. We will use the proceeds raised in our offerings to make
real estate investments, and intend to begin the process of considering our alternatives for the execution of a
Liquidity Event (i.e., a sale of our assets, our sale or merger, a listing of our shares on a national securities
exchange, or another similar transaction) between 2017 and 2019. Thus, as a limited life REIT we will not
continuously purchase assets and will have a limited life.

The purchase of properties, and the corresponding expenses associated with that process, including
acquisition fees and expenses, is a key operational feature of our business plan to generate operational income
and cash flows in order to make distributions to our stockholders. MFFO excludes acquisition fees payable to our
Advisor and acquisition expenses. Under GAAP, acquisition fees and expenses are characterized as operating
expenses in determining operating net income. These expenses are paid in cash by us, and therefore such funds
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will not be available to distribute to our stockholders. All paid and accrued acquisition fees and expenses with
respect to the acquisition of a property negatively impact our operating performance during the period in which
the property is acquired and will have negative effects on returns to our stockholders, the potential for future
distributions, and future cash flows, unless earnings from operations or net sales proceeds from the disposition of
other properties are generated to cover the purchase price of the property, the related acquisition fees and
expenses and other costs related to such property. In addition, if we acquire a property after all offering proceeds
from our public offerings have been invested, there will not be any offering proceeds to pay the corresponding
acquisition-related costs. Accordingly, unless our Advisor determines to waive the payment of any then-
outstanding acquisition-related costs otherwise payable to the Advisor, such costs will be paid from additional
debt, operational earnings or cash flow, net proceeds from the sale of properties, or ancillary cash flows.
Therefore, MFFO may not be an accurate indicator of our operating performance, especially during periods in
which properties are being acquired. Since MFFO excludes acquisition fees and expenses, MFFO would only be
comparable to the operations of non-listed REITs that have completed their acquisition activity and have other
similar operating characteristics.

Management uses MFFO to evaluate the financial performance of our investment portfolio, including the
impact of potential future investments. In addition, management uses MFFO to evaluate and establish our
distribution policy and the sustainability thereof. Further, we believe MFFO is one of several measures that may
be useful to investors in evaluating the potential performance of our portfolio following the conclusion of the
acquisition phase, as it excludes acquisition fees and expenses, as described herein.

MFFO has limitations as a performance measure in an offering such as ours where the price of a share of
common stock is a stated value and there is no net asset value determination during the offering stage and for a
period thereafter. MFFO is useful in assisting management and investors in assessing the sustainability (that is,
the capacity to continue to be maintained) of operating performance in future operating periods, and in particular,
after the offering and acquisition stages are complete and net asset value is disclosed. MFFO is not a useful
measure in evaluating net asset value because impairments are taken into account in determining net asset value
but not in determining MFFO.

FFO and MFFO should not be construed to be more relevant or accurate than the current GAAP
methodology in calculating net income or in its applicability in evaluating our operating performance. In
addition, FFO and MFFO should not be considered as alternatives to net income (loss) or income (loss) from
continuing operations as an indication of our performance or as alternatives to cash flows from operating
activities as an indication of our liquidity, but rather should be reviewed in conjunction with these and other
GAAP measurements. Further, FFO and MFFO are not intended to be used as liquidity measures indicative of
cash flow available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. Please
see the limitations listed below associated with the use of MFFO:

• As we are approaching the end of the acquisition phase of our life cycle but are still making
investments, acquisition costs and other adjustments that are increases to MFFO are, and may continue
to be, a significant use of cash and dilutive to the value of an investment in our shares.

• MFFO excludes acquisition fees payable to our Advisor and acquisition expenses. Although these
amounts reduce net income, we generally fund such costs with proceeds from our offering and
acquisition-related indebtedness (and, solely with respect to acquisition-related costs incurred in
connection with our acquisition of the Brindleyplace Project in July 2010, equity capital contributions
from Moorfield) and do not consider these fees and expenses in the evaluation of our operating
performance and determining MFFO.

• We use interest rate swap contracts and interest rate caps as economic hedges against the variability of
interest rates on variable rate loans. Although we expect to hold these instruments to maturity, if we
were to settle these instruments currently, it would have an impact on our operating
performance. Additionally, these derivative instruments are measured at fair value on a quarterly basis
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in accordance with GAAP. MFFO excludes gains (losses) related to changes in these estimated values
of our derivative instruments because such adjustments may not be reflective of ongoing operations
and may reflect unrealized impacts on our operating performance.

• We use foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges against the variability of foreign
exchange rates on certain international investments. These derivative instruments are typically short-
term and are frequently settled at amounts that result in additional amounts paid or received. However,
such gains (losses) are excluded from MFFO since they are not considered to be operational in
nature. Additionally, these derivative instruments are measured at fair value on a quarterly basis in
accordance with GAAP. MFFO excludes gains (losses) related to changes in these estimated values of
our derivative instruments because such adjustments may not be reflective of ongoing operations or
may reflect unrealized impacts on our operating performance.

• We utilize the definition of FFO as set forth by NAREIT and the definition of MFFO as set forth by the
IPA. Our FFO and MFFO as presented may not be comparable to amounts calculated by other REITs,
if they use different approaches.

• Our business is subject to volatility in the real estate markets and general economic conditions, and
adverse changes in those conditions could have a material adverse impact on our business, results of
operations and MFFO. Accordingly, the predictive nature of MFFO is uncertain and past performance
may not be indicative of future results.

Neither the SEC, NAREIT nor any regulatory body has passed judgment on the acceptability of the
adjustments that we use to calculate FFO or MFFO. In the future, the SEC, NAREIT or a regulatory body may
decide to standardize the allowable adjustments across the non-listed REIT industry and we would have to adjust
our calculation and characterization of FFO or MFFO.

The following section presents our calculation of FFO and MFFO and provides additional information
related to our operations (in thousands, except per share amounts) for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013
and 2012. As we are in the capital raising and acquisition phase of our operations, FFO and MFFO are not useful
in comparing operations for the three periods presented below. We expect revenues and expenses to increase in
future periods as we raise additional offering proceeds and use them to acquire additional investments.

Period from
Inception

(December 10,
2008) through

December 31, 2014

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $(199,048) $ 10,842 $ (85,763) $ (33,540)
Depreciation and amortization (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 487,974 193,870 140,187 84,747
Gain on sale of investment property (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . (64,003) (64,003) — —
Adjustments for noncontrolling interests (3) . . . . . . . . . (15,935) (6,656) (5,397) (3,711)

Funds from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 208,988 134,053 49,027 47,496
Loss (gain) on derivative instruments (4) . . . . . . . . . . . (4,906) (7,322) (9,909) (1,398)
Loss (gain) on foreign currency (5) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,347 11,368 6,433 (455)
Other components of revenues and expenses (6) . . . . . . (23,781) (14,958) (5,596) (1,884)
Acquisition fees and expenses (7) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 203,200 47,410 82,050 28,535
Adjustments for noncontrolling interests (3) . . . . . . . . . (78) 3,319 2,667 872

Modified Funds From Operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 400,770 $173,870 $124,672 $ 73,166

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Common Share Attributable to
Common Stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (1.85) $ 0.02 $ (0.48) $ (0.30)

Funds From Operations Per Common Share . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1.92 $ 0.51 $ 0.27 $ 0.42
Modified Funds From Operations Per Common Share . . . . $ 3.69 $ 0.66 $ 0.68 $ 0.64
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 108,711 263,323 184,412 113,578
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Notes to the table:

(1) Represents the depreciation and amortization of various real estate assets. Historical cost accounting for real
estate assets in accordance with GAAP implicitly assumes that the value of real estate assets diminishes
predictably over time. Since real estate values have historically risen or fallen with market conditions, we
believe that such depreciation and amortization may be of limited relevance in evaluating current operating
performance and, as such, these items are excluded from our determination of FFO.

(2) Represents the gain on disposition of certain real estate investments. Although this gain is included in the
calculation of net income (loss), we have excluded it from FFO because we believe doing so appropriately
presents the operating performance of our real estate investments on a comparative basis.

(3) Includes income attributable to noncontrolling interests and all adjustments to eliminate the noncontrolling
interests’ share of the adjustments to convert our net loss to FFO and MFFO.

(4) Represents components of net income (loss) related to the estimated changes in the values of our interest
rate contract derivatives and foreign currency forwards. We have excluded these changes in value from our
evaluation of our operating performance and MFFO because such adjustments may not be reflective of our
ongoing performance and may reflect unrealized impacts on our operating performance.

(5) Represents components of net income (loss) primarily resulting from the remeasurement of loans
denominated in currencies other than our functional currencies. We have excluded these changes in value
from our evaluation of our operating performance and MFFO because such adjustments may not be
reflective of our ongoing performance and may reflect unrealized impacts on our operating performance.

(6) Includes the following components of revenues and expenses that we do not consider in evaluating our
operating performance and determining MFFO for the period from inception through December 31, 2014
and for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Period from
Inception (December 10,

2008) through
December 31, 2014

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Straight-line rent adjustment (a) . . . . . . . . . . . . $(51,812) $(24,947) $(13,927) $(7,512)
Amortization of lease incentives (b) . . . . . . . . . 6,629 4,178 1,736 486
Amortization of out-of-market leases (b) . . . . . 19,009 5,366 5,990 4,479
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,393 445 605 663

$(23,781) $(14,958) $ (5,596) $(1,884)

(a) Represents the adjustments to rental revenue as required by GAAP to recognize minimum lease
payments on a straight-line basis over the respective lease terms. We have excluded these adjustments
from our evaluation of our operating performance and in determining MFFO because we believe that
the rent that is billable during the current period is a more relevant measure of our operating
performance for such period.

(b) Represents the amortization of lease incentives and out-of-market leases.

(7) Represents acquisition expenses and acquisition fees paid to our Advisor that are expensed in our
consolidated statements of operations. We fund such costs with proceeds from our offering, and therefore do
not consider these expenses in evaluating our operating performance and determining MFFO.

Set forth below is additional information relating to certain items excluded from the analysis above which
may be helpful in assessing our operating results.

• Amortization of deferred financing costs was $17.7 million for the period from inception through
December 31, 2014 and $6.9 million, $5.2 million and $3.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

As noted previously, our cash flows from operations have been and may continue to be insufficient to fully
fund distributions paid. Therefore, some or all of our distributions may continue to be paid from other sources,
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such as cash advances by the Advisor, cash resulting from a waiver or deferral of fees, borrowings and/or
proceeds from our public offerings. We have not placed a cap on the amount of our distributions that may be paid
from any of these sources. The Advisor waived a total of $12.2 million through the expiration of the prior asset
management fee waiver on December 31, 2013. As a result of the waiver of these fees, cash flows from
operations that would have been paid to the Advisor for asset management fees were available to pay
distributions to stockholders. However, because MFFO exceeded distributions declared to our stockholders
during the year ended December 31, 2014, the Advisor did not waive any asset management fees for that period.
During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we incurred asset management fees of $34.9 million,
$20.4 million and $5.9 million, respectively. For additional information regarding the Advisor’s asset
management fee waivers, please see “— Cash Flows from Financing Activities — Distributions.”

From inception through December 31, 2014, we declared distributions to our stockholders totaling $426.0
million, compared to total aggregate FFO of $209.0 million and cash flows from operating activities of $229.0
million. For the year ended December 31, 2014, we declared distributions to our stockholders totaling $171.1
million, compared to total aggregate FFO of $134.1 million. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
we declared distributions to our stockholders totaling $119.8 million and $74.0 million, respectively, compared
to an FFO of $49.0 million and $47.5 million, respectively. During our offering and investment stages, we incur
acquisition fees and expenses in connection with our real estate investments, which are recorded as reductions to
net income and FFO. From inception through December 31, 2014, we incurred acquisition fees and expenses
totaling $203.2 million.

Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

We have entered into agreements with the Advisor, Dealer Manager and Hines or its affiliates, whereby we
pay certain fees and reimbursements to these entities during the various phases of our organization and operation.
During the organization and offering stage, these included payments to our Dealer Manager for selling
commissions and the dealer manager fee and payments to the Advisor for reimbursement of issuer costs. During
the acquisition and operational stages, these include payments for certain services related to acquisitions,
financing and management of our investments and operations provided to us by the Advisor and Hines and its
affiliates pursuant to various agreements we have entered into or anticipate entering into with these entities. We
have also entered into several affiliated transactions with affiliates of Hines to make investments and provide
financing. See Note 9 — Related Party Transactions to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information concerning our Related-Party
Transactions and Agreements.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably
likely to have a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or
expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
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Contractual Obligations

The following table lists our known contractual obligations as of December 31, 2014. The table below
excludes $4.6 million in obligations comprised principally of construction contracts which are generally due
within the next 12 months related to our new development projects because such amounts are not fixed or
determinable. Specifically included are our obligations under long-term debt agreements and our operating lease
agreement (in thousands):

Payments due by Period

Less Than
1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years

More Than
5 Years Total

Contractual Obligations
Notes payable (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $428,534 $1,100,049 $470,126 $302,172 $2,300,881
Notes payable to affiliates (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,801 — — — 17,801
Operating lease agreement (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 365 730 730 3,282 5,107

Total contractual obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $446,700 $1,100,779 $470,856 $305,454 $2,323,789

(1) Notes payable includes principal and interest payments under our mortgage and construction loans. For the
purpose of this table, we assumed that rates of our unhedged variable-interest loans were equal to the rates
in effect as of December 31, 2014 and remain constant for the remainder of the loan term. Further, for the
purpose of this table, for mortgages denominated in a foreign currency, we assumed the exchange rate in
effect as of December 31, 2014 remains constant for the remainder of the loan term.

(2) The operating lease agreement relates to the Brindleyplace JV, which leases space from a tenant in one of its
properties through a non-cancellable lease agreement which expires on December 24, 2028. The Company
expects to make annual payments of approximately £0.2 million ($0.4 million assuming a rate of $1.55 per
GBP as of December 31, 2014) pursuant to the lease, which will be recorded in rental expense in its
consolidated statement of operations. For the purpose of this table, we assumed the exchange rate of $1.55
per GBP remains constant for the remainder of the lease term.

Recent Developments and Subsequent Events

Simon Hegele Logistics Portfolio — Phase 2

In January 2015, we acquired the second phase of the Simon Hegele Logistics portfolio. The acquisition
consisted of a 240,000 square foot expansion space located in Forchheim, Germany. We previously acquired a
building in the first phase of the portfolio, and had additional rights to purchase the expansion space. The
expansion space is 100% leased to a single tenant. The contract purchase price for the second phase of the Simon
Hegele Logistics portfolio was €24.7 million (approximately $29.5 million based on an exchange rate of $1.19
per EUR as of the transaction date), exclusive of transaction costs and working capital reserves.

The Summit

In March 2015, we acquired the Summit, a portfolio of Class A office towers located in Bellevue,
Washington that consists of 524,130 square feet, and is 94.7% leased. The purchase price for the Summit was
$320.0 million, exclusive of transaction costs and working capital reserves. The Summit includes a 43,413 square
foot development site with a completed seven-story subterranean garage.

We have not concluded our accounting for these recent acquisitions, but we expect that the purchase price
will primarily be allocated to building, land, and intangible lease assets and liabilities.

The Harder German Logistics Portfolio Acquisition

In December 2014 and January 2015, we entered into contracts to acquire the Harder German Logistics
portfolio, consisting of three logistic assets located in the German cities of: Duisburg, Nuremburg, and Karlsdorf.
The Harder German Logistics portfolio consists of 1.3 million square feet of net rentable area, including a
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0.7 million square foot development site. The remaining assets of 0.6 million are 100% leased. The contract
purchase price for the Harder German Logistics portfolio was €116.7 million (approximately $137.5 million
based on an average exchange rate of $1.18 per EUR as of the dates the contracts were signed), exclusive of
transaction costs and working capital reserves. We anticipate that we will complete the acquisition of the assets
located in Karlsdorf and Nuremburg in March 2015. The acquisition of the remaining asset located in Duisberg is
not expected to close until the development of the asset is complete. The Duisberg asset consists of the
0.7 million square foot development site. We expect to complete the acquisition of the asset in Duisberg no later
than December 31, 2015.

Derivative Instruments

In March 2015, we executed two interest rate cap corridor agreements with an aggregate notional amount of
$500.0 million as economic hedges against the variability of future interest rates on our Revolving Loan
Commitment and Term Loan Commitment. We have not designated any of these derivatives as hedges for
accounting purposes.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk includes risks that arise from changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates,
commodity prices, equity prices and other market changes that affect market-sensitive instruments. In pursuing
our business plan, we believe that interest rate risk, currency risk and real estate valuation risk are the primary
market risks to which we are exposed.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the effects of interest rate changes primarily as a result of debt used to maintain liquidity
and fund expansion of our real estate investment portfolio and operations. One of our interest rate risk
management objectives is to limit the impact of interest rate changes on cash flows. To achieve this objective, we
may borrow at fixed rates or fix and cap the variable rates of interest on variable interest rate borrowings through
the use of interest rate swaps and caps. We have and may continue to enter into derivative financial instruments
such as interest rate swaps and caps in order to mitigate our interest rate risk on a related financial instrument.
We will not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes. We are exposed to credit
risk of the counterparty to these interest rate swap agreements in the event of non-performance under the terms of
the derivative contracts. In the event of non-performance by the counterparty, if we were not able to replace these
swaps, we would be subject to the variability of interest rates on the total amount of debt outstanding under the
mortgage.

At December 31, 2014, we had fixed rate debt of $688.1 million and variable rate debt of $1.4 billion, after
adjusting for the $236.0 million notional amount of our interest rate swap contracts. If interest rates were to
increase by 1% and all other variables were held constant, we would incur $14.4 million in additional annual
interest expense associated with our variable-rate debt. Additionally, we have notional amounts of approximately
$508.6 million in interest rate caps to cap our variable rate debt. As of December 31, 2014, the variable interest
rates did not exceed their capped interest rates.

Foreign Currency Risks

We currently have real estate investments located in countries outside of the U.S. that are subject to the
effects of exchange rate movements between the foreign currency of each real estate investment and the U.S.
dollar, which may affect future costs and cash flows as well as amounts translated into U.S. dollars for inclusion
in our consolidated financial statements. Generally, we have entered into mortgage loans denominated in foreign
currencies for these investments, which provide natural hedges with regard to changes in exchange rates between
the foreign currencies and U.S. dollar and reduces our exposure to exchange rate differences. Additionally, we
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are typically a net receiver of these foreign currencies, and, as a result, our foreign operations benefit from a
weaker U.S. dollar and are adversely affected by a stronger U.S. dollar. The table below identifies the effect that
a 10% immediate, unfavorable change in the exchange rates would have on our equity in these international real
estate investments and their net income for the most recently completed period, by foreign currency (in
thousands)(1):

Reduction in Book Value as
of December 31, 2014

Reduction in Net Income
(Loss) for the Year Ended

December 31, 2014

AUD . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 8,629 $ 351
EUR . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $11,365 $2,932
GBP . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $34,512 $2,084

(1) Our real estate assets in Moscow, Russia were purchased in U.S. dollars and we expect that when we
dispose of these assets, the sale transactions will also be denominated in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, we do
not expect to have rouble exposure upon disposition.

Additionally, our Revolving Credit Facility allows for borrowings denominated in foreign currencies, which
subject us to risks related to the effects of exchange rate movement. As of December 31, 2014, we had
6.0 million AUD outstanding on our Revolving Credit Facility. Holding everything else constant, a 10%
immediate, unfavorable change in the exchange rate between the Australian dollar and the U.S. dollar would
result in an increase of our principal balance by $489,000.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Hines Global REIT, Inc.
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Hines Global REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15.
These financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement
schedules based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have,
nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Hines Global REIT, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as
a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Houston, Texas
March 30, 2015

74



HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013

2014 2013

(In thousands, except per
share amounts)

ASSETS
Investment property, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,964,699 $2,799,850
Investment in unconsolidated entities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,873 3,573
Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 143,609 124,859
Restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,955 12,283
Derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,661 5,294
Tenant and other receivables, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 64,212 48,247
Intangible lease assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 743,465 695,724
Deferred leasing costs, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 59,902 43,999
Deferred financing costs, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12,879 15,874
Real estate loans receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74,400 43,237
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 25,939 10,279

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,126,594 $3,803,219

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 91,007 $ 72,941
Due to affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,106 16,419
Intangible lease liabilities, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 84,385 68,355
Other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 43,633 33,875
Derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,848 9,817
Distributions payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,558 14,143
Notes payable to affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 17,601 37,561
Notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,112,359 1,935,901

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,390,497 2,189,012

Commitments and contingencies (Note 14) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —

Equity:
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred shares, $.001 par value; 500,000 preferred shares authorized, none issued or

outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — —
Common shares, $.001 par value; 1,500,000 common shares authorized as of

December 31, 2014 and 2013; 270,657 and 229,035 common shares issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 271 229

Additional paid-in capital . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,014,113 1,800,936
Accumulated deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (201,227) (206,305)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (123,769) (23,921)

Total stockholders’ equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,689,388 1,570,939

Noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 46,709 43,268

Total equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,736,097 1,614,207

Total liabilities and equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,126,594 $3,803,219

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

2014 2013 2012

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:
Rental revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 425,969 $ 298,943 $174,794
Other revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 30,295 23,919 12,446

Total revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 456,264 322,862 187,240
Expenses:
Property operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 85,134 65,716 40,511
Real property taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 42,273 28,638 16,576
Property management fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9,694 7,739 3,952
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 193,870 140,187 84,747
Acquisition related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 29,278 42,747 12,633
Asset management and acquisition fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53,069 60,490 22,006
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6,782 5,344 3,590

Total expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 420,100 350,861 184,015

Income (loss) before other income (expenses) and benefit (provision) for
income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 36,164 (27,999) 3,225

Other income (expenses):
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,322 9,909 1,398
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 64,003 — —
Foreign currency gains (losses) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,074) (6,458) 672
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (78,273) (60,968) (37,915)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 506 454 227

Income (loss) before benefit (provision) for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16,648 (85,062) (32,393)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,806) (701) (1,147)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,842 (85,763) (33,540)
Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,764) (3,173) (939)

Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,078 $ (88,936) $ (34,479)

Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.02 $ (0.48) $ (0.30)

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 263,323 184,412 113,578

Net comprehensive income (loss):
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,842 $ (85,763) $ (33,540)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (101,397) (14,840) 12,301

Net comprehensive income (loss): . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (90,555) (100,603) (21,239)
Net comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests . . . (4,215) (3,642) (2,111)

Net comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (94,770) $(104,245) $ (23,350)

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
(In thousands)

Hines Global REIT, Inc.

Common
Shares Amount

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
Noncontrolling

Interests

Balance as of January 1,
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 90,023 $ 90 $ 738,616 $ (82,890) $ (19,741) $ 636,075 $33,329

Issuance of common shares . . . . 60,019 60 596,683 — — 596,743 —
Contribution from

noncontrolling interest . . . . . . — — — — — — 8,082
Distributions declared . . . . . . . . — — (73,975) — — (73,975) (293)
Distributions on Convertible

Preferred Equity Certificates
(“CPEC”) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — — — (2,866)

Redemption of common
shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,153) (1) (11,323) — — (11,324) —

Selling commissions and dealer
manager fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (54,552) — — (54,552) —

Issuer costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (5,710) — — (5,710) —
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (34,479) — (34,479) 939
Foreign currency translation

adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 11,129 11,129 1,172

Balance as of December 31,
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 148,889 $149 $1,189,739 $(117,369) $ (8,612) $1,063,907 $40,363

Issuance of common shares . . . . 82,085 82 833,748 — — 833,830 —
Contributions from

noncontrolling interest . . . . . . — — — — — — 2,594
Distributions declared . . . . . . . . — — (119,764) — — (119,764) (544)
Distributions on CPEC . . . . . . . — — — — — — (2,787)
Redemption of common

shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (1,939) (2) (20,071) — — (20,073) —
Selling commissions and dealer

manager fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (75,579) — — (75,579) —
Issuer costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (7,137) — — (7,137) —
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — (88,936) — (88,936) 3,173
Foreign currency translation

adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (22,794) (22,794) 469
Foreign currency translation

adjustment reclassified into
earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 7,485 7,485 —

Balance as of December 31,
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 229,035 $229 $1,800,936 $(206,305) $ (23,921) $1,570,939 $43,268

Issuance of common shares . . . . 45,477 45 463,514 — — 463,559 —
Contributions from

noncontrolling interest . . . . . . — — — — — — 3,894
Distributions declared . . . . . . . . — — (171,085) — — (171,085) (324)
Distributions on CPEC . . . . . . . — — — — — — (4,344)
Redemption of common

shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,855) (3) (40,922) — — (40,925) —
Selling commissions and dealer

manager fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (36,355) — — (36,355) —
Issuer costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (1,975) — — (1,975) —
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — 5,078 — 5,078 5,764
Foreign currency translation

adjustment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — (105,570) (105,570) (1,549)
Foreign currency translation

adjustment reclassified into
earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — — — 5,722 5,722 —

Balance as of December 31,
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 270,657 $271 $2,014,113 $(201,227) $(123,769) $1,689,388 $46,709

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

2014 2013 2012

(In thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,842 $ (85,763) $ (33,540)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 209,957 153,203 93,526
Foreign currency (gains) losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13,074 6,458 (672)
(Gain) loss on sale of real estate investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (64,003) — —
(Gain) loss on derivative instruments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (7,322) (9,909) (1,398)
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Change in other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,440) (3,965) (1,497)
Change in tenant and other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (26,505) (15,539) (15,355)
Change in deferred leasing costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23,343) (38,168) (6,542)
Change in accounts payable and accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,242 27,078 4,221
Change in other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,850 (121) (431)
Change in due to affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,020 7,250 538

Net cash from operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 142,372 40,524 38,850

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from sale of real estate investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 248,120 — —
Investments in acquired properties and lease intangibles . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (729,674) (1,669,620) (593,428)
Capital expenditures at operating properties and developments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (51,671) (56,148) (31,219)
Contributions to unconsolidated entities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — (3,573)
Distributions from unconsolidated entities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 700 — —
Deposits on investment property . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (15,000) — (7,458)
Investments in real estate loans receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (50,576) (20,022) (33,316)
Proceeds from collection of real estate loans receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19,447 12,397 3,107
Change in restricted cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (9,188) (4,621) (286)

Net cash from investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (587,842) (1,738,014) (666,173)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 378,804 772,693 556,657
Contribution from noncontrolling interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,894 2,594 5,082
Redemption of common shares . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (37,708) (18,713) (11,099)
Payment of issuer costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (2,457) (7,121) (5,675)
Payment of selling commissions and dealer manager fees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (37,011) (77,018) (52,660)
Distributions paid to stockholders and noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (81,901) (57,277) (39,493)
Proceeds from notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,063,094 2,118,606 749,076
Proceeds from related party notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — 8,273 19,628
Payments on related party notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (20,770) — —
Payments on notes payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (788,178) (1,010,807) (557,588)
Change in security deposit liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,157 1,475 542
Deferred financing costs paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,387) (10,119) (5,504)
Payments related to interest rate contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (133) (4,330) (1,795)

Net cash from financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 474,404 1,718,256 657,171

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (10,184) 6,695 1,060
Net change in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18,750 27,461 30,908
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 124,859 97,398 66,490

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 143,609 $ 124,859 $ 97,398

See notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION

Hines Global REIT, Inc. (the “Company”), was formed as a Maryland corporation on December 10, 2008
under the General Corporation Law of the state of Maryland for the purpose of engaging in the business of
investing in and owning commercial real estate properties and other real estate investments. The Company
conducts substantially all of its operations through Hines Global REIT Properties, LP (the “Operating
Partnership”) and subsidiaries of the Operating Partnership. Beginning with its taxable year ended December 31,
2009, the Company operated and intends to continue to operate in a manner to qualify as a real estate investment
trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes. The business of the Company is managed by Hines Global REIT
Advisors LP (the “Advisor”), an affiliate of Hines Interests Limited Partnership (“Hines”), pursuant to the
Advisory Agreement between the Company, the Advisor and the Operating Partnership.

On August 5, 2009, Hines Global commenced its initial public offering of common stock for sale to the
public (the “Initial Offering”) which expired on February 1, 2013. Hines Global commenced a follow-on offering
effective February 4, 2013, through which it offered up to $3.5 billion in shares of common stock (the “Second
Offering”), and ceased offering primary shares pursuant to the Second Offering on April 11, 2014. Hines Global
continues to offer up to $500.0 million of shares of its common stock under its distribution reinvestment plan,
pursuant to an offering which commenced on April 24, 2014 (the “DRP Offering”). Collectively, through its
public offerings, the Company received gross offering proceeds of $2.8 billion from the sale of 278.4 million
shares from inception through December 31, 2014.

The Company made its initial real estate investment in June 2010 and owned interests in 40 real estate
investments as of December 31, 2014. The Company’s investments consisted of the following types of
investments:

• Domestic office investments (11 investments)

• Domestic other investments (10 investments)

• International office investments (10 investments)

• International other investments (9 investments)

Discussed below are additional details related to the Company’s investments in multi-family projects that
have not been completed and investments in real estate related debt, each of which are included in the
Company’s domestic other investments segment. All other investments are operating real estate investments.

• Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV) — 83% interest in a joint venture
that was formed in July 2012 to invest in a multi-family development project in Miami, Florida. The
estimated total cost of the project is expected to be $66.0 million and the project will consist of 276
units upon completion. Affiliates of Hines own the remaining 17% interest in this joint venture.
Construction began in April 2013 and is expected to be completed in April 2015.

• Flagship Capital JV — 97% interest in a joint venture with Flagship Capital GP, which was formed to
provide real estate loans. The joint venture has ten loans receivable, totaling $59.1 million, outstanding
as of December 31, 2014. The Company is not affiliated with Flagship Capital GP. See Note 5 — Real
Estate Loans Receivable for additional information regarding these loans receivable.

• The Rim Loan Receivable — a variable interest entity (“VIE”) that that was formed to provide $29.8
million in construction financing to the developer of four additional retail parcels at The Rim, a
656,371 square-foot outdoor retail center located in San Antonio, Texas. As of December 31, 2014, the
Company had loaned $11.3 million to the developer. The Company is not affiliated with the developer
of the project.
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Joint Ventures, Equity Method Investments and Noncontrolling Interests

On January 7, 2009, the Company and Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership (“HALP”), an
affiliate of the Advisor, formed Hines Global REIT Properties, LP (the “Operating Partnership”). The Company
conducts most of its operations through the Operating Partnership. On January 14, 2009, the Company and
HALP made initial capital contributions to the Operating Partnership of $10,000 and $190,000, respectively and
accordingly, HALP owned a 95.0% noncontrolling interest in the Operating Partnership. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, HALP owned a 0.01% and 0.01% interest in the Operating Partnership, respectively.

The Brindleyplace JV

In June 2010, the Operating Partnership and Moorfield Real Estate Fund II GP Ltd. (“Moorfield”) formed
Hines Moorfield UK Venture I S.A.R.L., (the “Brindleyplace JV”) and, in July 2010, the Brindleyplace JV
acquired several properties located in Birmingham, England (the “Brindleyplace Project”). The Company owns a
60% interest in the Brindleyplace JV and Moorfield holds the remaining 40% interest.

The Company has concluded its investment in the Brindleyplace JV does not qualify as a variable interest
entity (“VIE”) under the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC” or the “Codification”) 810 “Consolidation.” Based on the Company’s majority voting
interest as well as certain additional voting rights and other factors, the Company has consolidated the
Brindleyplace JV and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in its financial statements. See Note 10 — Noncontrolling
Interests for additional information regarding our noncontrolling interests in the Brindleyplace JV.

Consolidated VIEs

The Flagship JV

In June 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership
Agreement (as amended) with Flagship Capital, GP for the formation of Flagship Capital Partners Fund, LP (the
“Flagship JV”) for the purpose of originating real estate loans. The Company owns a 97% interest in the Flagship
JV and Flagship Capital, GP owns the remaining 3% interest. Flagship Capital, GP serves as the general partner
and will manage the day-to-day activities of the Flagship JV. Both partners have equal voting rights and
distributions from the Flagship JV will initially be paid to the fund partners based on their pro rata ownership.
Since the voting rights of each of the partners are disproportionate to their ownership interests, the Company has
concluded that the Flagship JV qualifies as a VIE under ASC 810. Further, the Company has determined that it is
the primary beneficiary due to its ability to exercise significant control and influence over the Flagship JV as well
as certain other factors. As a result, the Company has consolidated the Flagship JV and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries in its financial statements. See Note 10 — Noncontrolling Interests for additional information
regarding our noncontrolling interests in the Flagship JV.

The WaterWall Place JV

In December 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited
Partnership Agreement with an affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines One WaterWall Holdings LP (the
“WaterWall Place JV”), a Delaware limited liability company, for the purpose of developing a multi-family
project in Houston, Texas. Hines serves as the initial general partner and as the development partner and the
subsidiary of the Operating Partnership is the initial limited partner. The Company has a 93% interest in this joint
venture . An affiliate of Hines owns the remaining 7% interest in this joint venture. The Company has concluded
its investment in the WaterWall Place JV qualifies as a VIE under ASC 810. Further, the Company has
determined that it is the primary beneficiary since it has greater exposure to the variability of One WaterWall
JV’s economic performance as well as certain other factors. As a result, the Company has consolidated the
WaterWall Place JV and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in its financial statements. See Note 10 — Noncontrolling
Interests for additional information regarding our noncontrolling interests in the WaterWall Place JV.
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The Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV)

In July 2012, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a Limited Partnership
Agreement with an affiliate of Hines for the formation of Hines Ponce & Bird Holdings LP , a Delaware limited
liability company, for the purpose of developing a multi-family project in Miami, Florida. Hines serves as the
initial general partner and as the development partner and the subsidiary of the Operating Partnership is the initial
limited partner. The Company has concluded its investment in the Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as
the Ponce & Bird JV) qualifies as a VIE under ASC 810. Further, the Company has determined that it is the
primary beneficiary since it has greater exposure to the variability of Aviva Coral Gables’s economic
performance as well as certain other factors. As a result, the Company has consolidated the Aviva Coral Gables
JV and its wholly-owned subsidiaries in its financial statements. See Note 10 — Noncontrolling Interests for
additional information regarding our noncontrolling interests in the Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as
the Ponce & Bird JV).

A summary of our consolidated VIEs is as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Maximum risk of loss (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 47,986 $ 25,278
Assets held by VIEs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $188,264 $126,528
Assets held as collateral for debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $188,264 $126,528
Liabilities held by VIEs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $131,691 $ 94,675

(1) Represents the Company’s contributions, net of distributions, made to the consolidated VIEs.

Restrictions on the use of these assets are significant because they serve as collateral for the VIE’s debt, and
the Company is generally required to obtain its partners’ approval in accordance with the respective joint venture
agreements for any major transactions. Transactions with these joint ventures on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements primarily relate to contributions for the funding of loans receivable at the Flagship JV, and
contributions to the WaterWall Place JV for the funding of the repayment of the construction loan to an affiliate.
The Company and its partners are subject to the provisions of the joint venture agreements which include
provisions for when additional contributions may be required. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the
Company made capital contributions of $22.7 million, net of distributions received of $6.5 million in accordance
with the Company’s respective joint venture agreements. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the
Company made capital contributions of $4.9 million, net of received distributions of $12.8 million in accordance
with the Company’s respective joint venture agreements.

Unconsolidated VIEs

The Rim Loan Receivable

In February 2014, the Company completed the acquisition of The Rim, a 656,371 square-foot outdoor retail
center located in San Antonio, Texas. In August 2014, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Central
Rim LLC (the “Rim Borrower”) to provide $29.8 million of construction financing for the development of four
additional retail parcels at The Rim. Following the completion of the development of each parcel, the Company
will have certain rights or obligations to purchase each parcel. As a result of these purchase rights or obligations,
and due to the fact that the Rim Borrower lacks the obligation to absorb losses upon the achievement of certain
metrics, the Company has determined that the entity that owns these parcels is considered to be a VIE.
Additionally, the Rim Borrower was determined to be the primary beneficiary of this VIE since it is the party
most directly responsible for the success of the entity. The Company has funded $11.3 million through this
agreement as of December 31, 2014. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss is the amount borrowed under
the facility agreement, plus any unpaid interest. The most significant source of the Company’s exposure to the
VIE is the variability related to the Rim Borrower’s credit risk and its ability to repay the amounts funded.
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The @1377 Equity Method Investment

In November 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Operating Partnership entered into a loan agreement
with an affiliate of Hines to provide pre-construction financing for the development of a multi-family project in
Atlanta, Georgia to be marketed as @1377. In June 2012, this loan was repaid. Subsequent to the initial loan
being repaid, the Company provided a preferred equity investment in the project of $3.6 million, representing a
51.7% ownership in the project, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The Company has concluded that @1377
qualifies as a VIE. @1377 is financed with a $23.3 million secured loan made by Cadence Bank, N.A., which is
solely guaranteed by the Company’s joint venture partner (the “JV Partner”), and a $3.2 million mezzanine loan
commitment plus accrued interest made by the Company, of which $4.0 million was outstanding at December 31,
2014. The JV Partner is the manager of the project, allowing the JV Partner to direct the activities of the VIE that
most significantly impact the VIE’s financial performance. Based upon the loan guarantees and the JV Partner’s
ability to direct the activities that significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE, the Company has
determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of this VIE and will account for its preferred equity investment
in the project as an equity method investment. The Company’s maximum loss exposure is expected to change in
future periods as a result of additional contributions made and any additional borrowings under its loan
receivable with the VIE. Other than the initial capital contributions provided by the Company, the Company has
not provided any additional subordinated financial support.

The table below presents the activity of the Company’s unconsolidated entities as of and for the periods
presented (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

Investment in Unconsolidated Affiliates 2014 2013 2012

Beginning balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3,573 3,573 —
Contributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . — — 3,573
Distributions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (700) — —

Ending balance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,873 3,573 3,573

The table below summarizes the Company’s maximum loss exposure related to its unconsolidated VIEs as
of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, which is equal to the carrying value of its investment in the
unconsolidated VIEs included in the balance sheet line item “Investment in unconsolidated entities” and the
Company’s outstanding loan receivable balance held by the VIEs which is included in the balance sheet line item
“Real estate loans receivable” in the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013 (in thousands).

Period
Investment in

Unconsolidated VIEs (1)
Maximum

Risk of Loss (2)

December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,873 $18,159
December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,573 $ 7,246

(1) Represents the Company’s contributions, net of distributions, made to its VIEs.
(2) Maximum Risk of Loss is equal to the amount outstanding under the loan plus the Company’s contributions

made to the VIEs as of the date indicated. See Note 5 — Real Estate Loans Receivable for additional
information regarding the loan.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). The preparation of the consolidated
financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities and contingencies as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
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revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. The Company evaluates its assumptions and estimates on an
ongoing basis. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that
the Company believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Additionally, application of the Company’s
accounting policies involves exercising judgments regarding assumptions as to future uncertainties. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company include the accounts of Hines Global REIT, Inc., the
Operating Partnership and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and the joint ventures as well as amounts related to
noncontrolling interests. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

The Company evaluates the need to consolidate joint ventures in accordance with GAAP. In accordance
with GAAP, the Company will consolidate joint ventures that are determined to be variable interest entities for
which it is the primary beneficiary. Further, partially owned real estate joint ventures over which the Company
has a controlling financial interest are consolidated in its financial statements. In determining if the Company has
a controlling financial interest, it considers factors such as ownership interest, authority to make decisions, kick-
out rights and substantive participating rights. Management continually analyzes and assesses reconsideration
events, including changes in these factors, to determine if the consolidation treatment remains appropriate.
Partially owned real estate joint ventures where the Company does not have a controlling financial interest, but
has the ability to exercise significant influence, are accounted for using the equity method.

The Company’s investments in partially owned real estate joint ventures are reviewed for impairment
periodically if events or circumstances change indicating that the carrying amount of its investments may not be
recoverable. In such an instance, the Company will record an impairment charge if it determines that a decline in
the value of an investment below its fair value is other than temporary. The Company’s analysis will be
dependent on a number of factors, including the performance of each investment, current market conditions, and
its intent and ability to hold the investment to full recovery. Based on the Company’s analysis of the facts and
circumstances at each reporting period, no impairment was recorded related to its investments in unconsolidated,
partially owned real estate joint ventures for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012. However, if
market conditions deteriorate in the future and result in lower valuations or reduced cash flows of the Company’s
investments, impairment charges may be recorded in future periods.

International Operations

The British pound (“GBP”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in the
United Kingdom, the Russian rouble (“RUB”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries
operating in Russia, the Polish zloty (“PLN”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating
in Poland, the Australian dollar (“AUD”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in
Australia and the Euro (“EUR”) is the functional currency for the Company’s subsidiaries operating in Germany
and France.

These subsidiaries have translated their financial statements into U.S. dollars for reporting purposes. Assets
and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect as of the balance sheet date while income statement
accounts are translated using the average exchange rate for the period and significant nonrecurring transactions
using the rate on the transaction date. Gains or losses resulting from translation are included in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are
recorded in foreign currency gains (losses) on the consolidated statement of operations and result from the effect
of changes in exchange rates on transactions denominated in currencies other than a subsidiary’s functional
currency, including transactions between consolidated subsidiaries. An exception is made where an intercompany
loan or advance is deemed to be of a long-term investment nature, in which instance foreign currency transaction
gains or losses are included as currency translation adjustments and are reported in the consolidated statement of
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equity as accumulated other comprehensive gains or losses. During the year ended December 31, 2013, an
intercompany loan agreement with a consolidated subsidiary in Russia was amended to change the functional
currency of the loan and as a result the Company recognized $1.3 million of accumulated other comprehensive
loss into earnings. Additionally, an intercompany loan with a consolidated subsidiary in Australia was repaid and
as a result, the Company recognized $6.2 million of accumulated other comprehensive loss into earnings. The
Company disposed of its investment in 144 Montague in November 2014 as well as its investment in Stonecutter
Court in December 2014. Upon the disposal of these properties, the Company realized a loss of $5.7 million
related to the currency translation adjustment, which was included in the gain (loss) on sale of real estate in its
consolidated statement of operations.

Investment Property and Lease Intangibles

Real estate assets acquired by the Company are stated at fair value at the date of acquisition less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives
for computing depreciation are generally 10 years for furniture and fixtures, 15-20 years for electrical and
mechanical installations and 40 years for buildings. Major replacements that extend the useful life of the assets
are capitalized and maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.

Acquisitions of properties are accounted for utilizing the acquisition method and, accordingly, are recorded
at the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The results of operations of acquired
properties are included in the Company’s results of operations from their respective dates of acquisition.
Estimates of fair values are based upon estimates of future cash flows and other valuation techniques that the
Company believes are similar to those used by market participants and are used to record the purchase of
identifiable assets acquired, such as land, buildings and improvements, equipment and identifiable intangible
assets related to in-place leases and liabilities assumed, such as amounts related to acquired out-of-market leases,
asset retirement obligations, mortgage notes payable. Values of buildings and improvements are determined on
an as if vacant basis. Initial valuations are subject to change until such information is finalized, no later than
12 months from the acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs such as transaction costs and acquisition fees paid
to the Advisor are expensed as incurred.

The estimated fair value of acquired in-place leases are the costs the Company would have incurred to lease
the properties to the occupancy level of the properties at the date of acquisition. Such estimates include the fair
value of leasing commissions, legal costs and other direct costs that would be incurred to lease the properties to
such occupancy levels. Additionally, the Company evaluates the time period over which such occupancy levels
would be achieved. Such evaluation will include an estimate of the net market-based rental revenues and net
operating costs (primarily consisting of real estate taxes, insurance and utilities) that would be incurred during
the lease-up period. Acquired in-place leases as of the date of acquisition are amortized over the remaining lease
terms. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the unamortized portion of the in-place lease value is charged to
amortization expense.

Acquired out-of-market lease values (including ground leases) are recorded based on the present value
(using a discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the lease acquired) of the difference between the
contractual amounts paid pursuant to the in-place leases and management’s estimate of fair market value lease
rates for the corresponding in-place leases. The capitalized out-of-market lease values are amortized as
adjustments to rental revenue (or ground lease expense, as applicable) over the remaining terms of the respective
leases, which include periods covered by bargain renewal options. Should a tenant terminate its lease, the
unamortized portion of the out-of-market lease value is charged to rental revenue.

Management estimates the fair value of assumed mortgage notes payable based upon indications of then-
current market pricing for similar types of debt with similar maturities. Assumed mortgage notes payable are
initially recorded at their estimated fair value as of the assumption date, and the difference between such
estimated fair value and the outstanding principal balance of the note will be amortized over the life of the
mortgage note payable.
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Real estate assets are reviewed for impairment each reporting period if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the individual property may not be recoverable. In such an event, a
comparison will be made of the current and projected operating cash flows and expected proceeds from the
eventual disposition of each property on an undiscounted basis to the carrying amount of such property. If the
carrying amount exceeds the undiscounted cash flows, it would be written down to the estimated fair value to
reflect impairment in the value of the asset. The determination of whether investment property is impaired
requires a significant amount of judgment by management and is based on the best information available to
management at the time of the evaluation. No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to cash with an
original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.

Restricted Cash

The Company has restricted cash primarily related to certain escrow accounts required by several of the
Company’s mortgage agreements.

Concentration of Credit Risk

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposited in
certain financial institutions in excess of federally insured levels. Management regularly monitors the financial
stability of these financial institutions in an effort to manage the Company’s exposure to any significant credit
risk in cash and cash equivalents or restricted cash.

In addition, as of December 31, 2014, the Company had $84.5 million of cash and cash equivalents
deposited in certain financial institutions located in the United Kingdom, Russia, Poland, Australia, Germany,
and France. Management regularly monitors the financial stability of these financial institutions in an effort to
manage its exposure to any significant credit risk in cash and cash equivalents.

Tenant and Other Receivables

Receivable balances consist primarily of base rents, tenant reimbursements and receivables attributable to
straight-line rent. An allowance for the uncollectible portion of tenant and other receivables is determined based
upon an analysis of the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the
industry in which the tenant operates and economic conditions in the area in which the property is located.
Tenant and other receivables are shown at cost in the consolidated balance sheets, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $1.9 million and $2.0 million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Deferred Leasing Costs

Direct leasing costs, primarily consisting of third-party leasing commissions, tenant inducements and legal
costs are capitalized and amortized over the life of the related lease. Tenant inducement amortization is recorded
as an offset to rental revenue and the amortization of other direct leasing costs is recorded in amortization
expense.

Tenant inducement amortization was $4.2 million, $1.7 million and $0.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively, and was recorded as an offset to rental revenue. In addition,
the Company recorded $1.8 million, $0.7 million and $0.2 million as amortization expense related to other direct
leasing costs for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.
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Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs consist of direct costs incurred in obtaining debt financing, including the financing
fees paid to the Advisor (see Note 9 — Related Party Transactions). These costs are amortized into interest
expense on a straight-line basis, which approximates the effective interest method, over the terms of the
obligations. For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, $6.9 million, $5.2 million and $3.4 million,
were amortized into interest expense, respectively.

Real Estate Loans Receivable

Real estate loans receivable are shown at cost, net of any applicable allowance for uncollectibility and net of
deferred loan origination fees. The Company defers certain loan origination fees and amortizes them as an
adjustment of yield over the term of the related real estate loan receivable. The related amortization of the
deferred loan origination fees are recorded in other revenue in the accompanying consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss). An allowance for the uncollectible portion of the real estate loans
receivable is determined based upon an analysis of the economic conditions in the area in which the property is
located and credit quality indicators which include: borrower’s payment history, the financial condition of the
borrower, and business conditions in the industry in which the borrower operates.

Additionally, a real estate loan receivable is considered to be impaired, when based upon current events, it is
probable that we will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the existing contractual terms. If a real
estate loan receivable is considered to be impaired, the amount of loss is calculated by comparing the recorded
investment to the value determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at its effective interest rate or
to the value of the underlying collateral if the real estate loan receivable is collateral dependent. Evaluating real
estate loans receivable for potential impairment can require management to exercise significant judgment. No
impairment was recorded for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Further, as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, no allowances for uncollectibility have been recorded.

Other Assets

Other assets included the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Deposits on investment property (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $15,000 $ —
Prepaid expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,021 2,259
Deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8,127 7,340
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 791 680

Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $25,939 $10,279

(1) As of December 31, 2014, this consisted of a deposit that had been paid related to the acquisition of The
Summit. See Note 16 — Subsequent Events for additional information regarding the acquisition of The
Summit.

Revenue Recognition

Rental payments are generally paid by the tenants prior to the beginning of each month. As of December 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, the Company recorded liabilities of $34.6 million and $27.2 million
related to prepaid rental payments which were included in other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. The Company recognizes rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease
including rent holidays, if any. Straight-line rent receivable was $47.4 million and $26.9 million as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively. Straight-line rent receivable consists of the difference

86



between the tenants’ rents calculated on a straight-line basis from the date of acquisition or lease commencement
over the remaining terms of the related leases and the tenants’ actual rents due under the lease agreements and is
included in tenant and other receivables in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Revenues associated
with operating expense recoveries are recognized in the period in which the expenses are incurred based upon the
tenant lease provisions. Revenues relating to lease termination fees are recognized on a straight-line basis
amortized from the time that a tenant’s right to occupy the leased space is modified through the end of the
revised lease term.

Other revenues consist primarily of parking revenue, tenant reimbursements and interest on loans
receivable. Parking revenue represents amounts generated from contractual and transient parking and is
recognized in accordance with contractual terms or as services are rendered. Other revenues relating to tenant
reimbursements are recognized in the period that the expense is incurred.

Issuer Costs

The Company reimburses the Advisor for any issuer costs related to the Company’s public offerings that it
pays on the Company’s behalf. Such costs consist of, among other costs, expenses of the Company’s
organization, legal, accounting, bona fide out-of-pocket itemized and detailed due diligence costs, printing, filing
fees, transfer agent costs, postage, escrow fees, data processing fees, advertising and sales literature and other
offering-related costs. Organizational issuer costs, such as expenses associated with the formation of the
Company and its board of directors are expensed and other issuer costs related to our public offerings are
recorded as an offset to additional paid-in capital.

Income Taxes

The Company has elected to be treated as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Code”). The Company’s management believes that it operates in such a manner as to qualify for treatment
as a REIT and intends to operate in the foreseeable future in such a manner so that it will remain qualified as a
REIT for federal income tax purposes. Accordingly, no provision has been made for U.S. federal income taxes
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
In 2014, 2013 and 2012, income tax expense recorded by the Company was primarily comprised of foreign
income taxes related to the operation its international properties. The Company does not believe it has any
uncertain tax positions or unrecognized tax benefits requiring disclosure.

Redemption of Common Stock

The Company complies with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards
Codification 480 “Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity” which requires, among other things, that financial
instruments that represent a mandatory obligation of the Company to repurchase shares be classified as liabilities
and reported at settlement value. When approved, the Company will reclassify such obligations from equity to an
accrued liability based upon their respective settlement values. The Company has recorded liabilities of $5.5
million and $2.3 million in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively, related to shares tendered for redemption
and approved by the board of directors, but which were not redeemed until the subsequent month. Such amounts
have been included in redemption of common shares in the accompanying consolidated statements of equity.

Per Share Data

Net income (loss) per common share is calculated by dividing the net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders for each period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during such period.
Net income (loss) per common share on a basic and diluted basis is the same because the Company has no
potentially dilutive common shares outstanding.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, FASB issued amendments to provide guidance on the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of obligations resulting from joint and several liability arrangements for which the total amount of
obligation within the scope of this guidance is fixed at the reporting date, except for obligations addressed within
existing guidance in GAAP. The amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those
years, beginning after December 15, 2013. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.

In March 2013, FASB issued guidance on releasing cumulative translation adjustments when a reporting
entity ceases to have a controlling financial interest in a subsidiary or group of assets that is a business within a
foreign entity. The guidance was effective on a prospective basis for fiscal years and interim reporting periods
within those years beginning after December 15, 2013. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In July 2013, FASB issued amendments to the Accounting Standards Codification (the “Codification”) to
provide guidance on the presentation of an unrecognized tax benefit when a net operating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward exists. These amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those years, beginning after December 31, 2013. The adoption of this guidance did not have a
material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

In March 2014, FASB made technical corrections and improvements related to glossary terms in the
Codification. The amendments were effective upon issuance and did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements.

In April 2014, FASB issued amendments to the Codification to provide guidance on reporting discontinued
operations. These amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning
after December 31, 2014 and early adoption is permitted. The Company has elected to adopt these amendments
early, effective January 1, 2014. As a result, the Company did not report the dispositions of Stonecutter Court
and 144 Montague in discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2014. See Note 3 — Investment
Property for additional information regarding the sales for 144 Montague and Stonecutter Court. These sales did
not qualify as discontinued operations as of December 31, 2014.

In May 2014, FASB issued amendments to the Codification to provide guidance on recognizing revenue
from contracts with customers. The amendments also replace prior guidance regarding the recognition of revenue
from sales of real estate, except for revenue from sales that are part of a sale-leaseback transaction. These
amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2016. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, that the adoption of these amendments will have on
its financial statements.

In August 2014, FASB issued amendments to the Codification to provide guidance on management’s
responsibility to evaluate whether there are conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued or are
available to be issued. These amendment are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years,
beginning after December 15, 2016 and early adoption is permitted. The Company does not believe the adoption
of this guidance will have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. The Company did not elect
to early adopt these amendments.

In January 2015, FASB issued amendments to the Codification to provide guidance on the disclosure of
extraordinary items. The amendments eliminate the concept of extraordinary items from GAAP. These
amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15,
2015 and early adoption is permitted. The Company does not believe the adoption of this guidance will have a
material impact on the Company’s financial statements. The Company did not elect to early adopt these
amendments.
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In February 2015, the FASB issued amendments to the Codification to provide guidance on consolidation
evaluation for reporting organizations that are required to evaluate whether they should consolidate certain legal
entities. These amendments are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after
December 15, 2015 and early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently assessing the impact, if any, that
the adoption of these amendments will have on its financial statements.

3. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment property consisted of the following amounts as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013
(in thousands):

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Buildings and improvements (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,501,176 $2,371,242
Less: accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (138,821) (94,414)

Buildings and improvements, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2,362,355 2,276,828
Land . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 602,344 523,022

Investment property, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,964,699 $2,799,850

(1) Included in buildings and improvements is approximately $24.3 million and $64.0 million of construction-
in-progress related to the Company’s multi-family developments as of December 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013, respectively. Construction of the property in Houston, Texas was completed in July
2014, and the property no longer has any assets classified as construction-in-progress as of December 31,
2014. As of December 31, 2014, the remaining amounts included in construction-in-progress are related to
the Company’s multi-family development in Miami, Florida.

In November 2014, the Company completed the sale of 144 Montague for a contract sales price of
93.0 million AUD (approximately $79.3 million based on an exchange rate of $0.83 per AUD as of the
transaction date). The property at 144 Montague is an office building located in the South Brisbane submarket.
The Company acquired the property in April 2012 for a purchase price of 88.1 million AUD (approximately
$91.3 million based on an exchange rate of $1.04 per AUD as of the transaction date). The Company recognized
a gain on sale of this asset of $2.8 million, which was recorded in gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments on
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31,
2014.

In December 2014, the Company completed the sale of Stonecutter Court for a contract sales price of
£112.0 million (approximately $175.6 million based on an exchange rate of $1.57 per GBP as of the transaction
date). Stonecutter Court is an office building located in London’s Central Business District. The Company
acquired Stonecutter Court in March 2011 for a purchase price of £90.9 million (approximately $145.6 million
based on an exchange rate of $1.60 per GBP as of the transaction date). The Company recognized a gain on sale
of this asset of $61.2 million, which was recorded in gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, the cost basis and accumulated amortization related to lease intangibles was as
follows (in thousands):

Lease Intangibles

In-Place Leases
Out-of-Market

Lease Assets
Out-of-Market

Lease Liabilities

Cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 890,495 $110,649 $(104,528)
Less: accumulated amortization . . . . . . . . (221,316) (36,363) 20,143

Net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 669,179 $ 74,286 $ (84,385)
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As of December 31, 2013, the cost basis and accumulated amortization related to lease intangibles was as
follows (in thousands):

Lease Intangibles

In-Place Leases
Out-of-Market

Lease Assets
Out-of-Market

Lease Liabilities

Cost . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 772,948 $116,818 $(80,844)
Less: accumulated amortization . . . . . . . . (166,109) (27,933) 12,489

Net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 606,839 $ 88,885 $(68,355)

Amortization expense of in-place leases was $127.2 million, $92.5 million and $57.2 million for the years
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Amortization of out-of-market leases was a decrease to
rental revenue of approximately $5.4 million, $6.0 million and $4.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Anticipated amortization of in-place leases and out-of-market leases, net, for each of the years ending
December 31, 2015 through December 31, 2019 are as follows (in thousands):

In-Place Leases
Out-of-Market

Leases, Net

2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $106,023 $ 4,750
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 95,411 5,158
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 72,530 3,779
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 52,479 293
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 41,750 (1,516)

Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancelable lease agreements with tenants for space. As of December 31,
2014, the approximate fixed future minimum rentals for each of the years ending December 31, 2015 through
2019 and thereafter were as follows (in thousands):

Fixed Future Minimum Rentals

2015 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 316,334
2016 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 296,779
2017 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 278,756
2018 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 208,424
2019 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 181,803
Thereafter . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,106,912

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,389,008

Pursuant to the lease agreements with certain tenants in one of its buildings, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company receives fees for the provision of various telecommunication-related services and the use of certain
related facilities. The fixed future minimum rentals expected to be received for such services for the years ending
December 31, 2015 through 2019 and thereafter are $3.0 million, $2.9 million, $2.5 million, $2.5 million, $1.3
million and $4.3 million, respectively.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company did not earn more than 10% of its total
rental revenue from any individual tenant, respectively.

Of the Company’s total rental revenue for the year ended December 31, 2012, approximately 10% was
earned from a tenant in the accounting industry who has leases that expire in 2016, 2019 and 2024.
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4. RECENT ACQUISITIONS OF REAL ESTATE

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company acquired the assets and assumed
certain liabilities of four, 13, and nine real estate operating properties located in the United States and
internationally, respectively, for an aggregate net purchase price of $732.9 million, $1.7 billion and $626.7
million, respectively.

The amounts recognized for major assets acquired as of the acquisition date were determined by allocating
the purchase price of each property acquired in 2014, 2013 and 2012 as follows (in thousands):

Property Name
Acquisition

Date
Building and

Improvements (1) Land (1)

In-place
Lease

Intangibles (1)

Out-of-
Market Lease
Intangibles,

Net (1) Total (1)

2014
The Rim . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 02/13/2014 $ 90,990 $65,890 $ 41,360 $(21,940) $176,300
25 Cabot Square . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 03/28/2014 $165,121 $ — $206,640 $ (16) $371,745
Simon Hegele Logistics . . . . . . . . . . . . 06/03/2014 $ 34,663 $ 8,481 $ 5,986 $ 41 $ 49,171
818 Bourke . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10/31/2014 $ 82,867 $36,487 $ 17,082 $ (792) $135,644

2013
Mercedes Benz Bank . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 02/07/2013 $ 47,643 $11,953 $ 7,093 $ 3,533 $ 70,222
One Westferry Circus . . . . . . . . . . . . . 02/28/2013 $ 48,874 $ — $ 74,693 $ 1,049 $124,616
465 Victoria . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 02/28/2013 $ 48,788 $26,566 $ 17,712 $ (2,233) $ 90,833
Riverside Center . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 03/27/2013 $125,014 $45,888 $ 30,360 $ (4,170) $197,092
New City . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 03/28/2013 $115,208 $ — $ 46,117 $ 2,137 $163,462
825 Ann . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 04/30/2013 $ 83,802 $20,669 $ 23,725 $ — $128,196
The Campus at Playa Vista . . . . . . . . . 05/14/2013 $125,567 $41,160 $ 37,320 $ 12,580 $216,627
Perspective Défense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 06/21/2013 $109,704 $29,039 $ 22,038 $ 5,060 $165,841
The Markets at Town Center . . . . . . . . 07/23/2013 $ 76,067 $52,130 $ 19,020 $(12,210) $135,007
The Avenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 08/12/2013 $ 71,990 $54,940 $ 47,350 $(11,280) $163,000
2300 Main . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 08/29/2013 $ 27,940 $ 3,570 $ 7,990 $ — $ 39,500
Fiege Mega Centre . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10/18/2013 $ 36,005 $10,107 $ 7,481 $ — $ 53,593
55 M Street . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12/09/2013 $ 85,277 $24,810 $ 34,730 $ (3,940) $140,877

2012

Poland Logistics Portfolio (2) . . . . . . . .
03/29/12 and

10/10/12(3) $ 97,627 $25,893 $ 33,062 $ 644 $157,226
144 Montague (4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 04/16/2012 $ 49,424 $13,803 $ 28,083 $ — $ 91,310
100 Brookes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 07/13/2012 $ 41,404 $ 8,600 $ 12,859 $ 4,737 $ 67,600
Minneapolis Retail Center (5) . . . . . . . . 08/01/2012 $ 78,711 $30,792 $ 34,176 $(13,078) $130,601
550 Terry Francois . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 08/31/2012 $109,760 $41,270 $ 20,860 $ 8,110 $180,000

(1) For acquisitions denominated in a foreign currency, amounts have been translated at a rate based on the rate
in effect on the acquisition date.

(2) The Poland Logistics Portfolio is comprised of five industrial parks located in Warsaw, Wroclaw and Upper
Silesia, Poland.

(3) The first four industrial parks in the Poland Logistics Portfolio were acquired on March 29, 2012 and the
remaining fifth industrial park, Distribution Park Sosnowiec, was acquired on October 10, 2012.

(4) In November 2014, the Company completed the sale of 144 Montague. See Note 3 — Investment Property
for more information regarding this transaction.

(5) The Minneapolis Retail Center includes the acquisition of a parking garage on December 26, 2012.
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The weighted average amortization period for the intangible assets and liabilities acquired in connection
with the 2014, 2013, and 2012 acquisitions, as of the date of the acquisition, was as follows (in years):

In-Place Leases
Above-Market Lease

Assets
Below-Market Lease

Liabilities

2014 Acquisitions:
The Rim . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16.5 12.9 35.3
25 Cabot Square (1) . . . . . . . . . . . 11.7 0.5 3.0
Simon Hegele Logistics . . . . . . . 13.4 13.4 —
818 Bourke . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.1 3.3 3.1

2013 Acquisitions:
Mercedes Benz Bank . . . . . . . . . 5.0 5.0 —
One Westferry Circus (1) . . . . . . . 8.4 9.9 13.1
465 Victoria . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.7 5.2 7.3
Riverside Center . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6.2 1.0 6.9
New City (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.8 4.3 3.0
825 Ann . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.5 — —
The Campus at Playa Vista . . . . . 6.7 8.6 7.1
Perspective Défense . . . . . . . . . . 3.8 3.8 3.8
The Markets at Town Center . . . 9.4 0.5 7.0
The Avenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4.1 6.8 17.2
2300 Main . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.6 — —
Fiege Mega Centre . . . . . . . . . . . 10.2 — —
55 M Street . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7.1 7.8 7.3

2012 Acquisitions:
Poland Logistics Portfolio . . . . . . 4.1 5.6 3.4
144 Montague . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9.6 — —
100 Brookes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5.6 5.6 —
Minneapolis Retail Center . . . . . 6.9 8.7 9.2
550 Terry Francois . . . . . . . . . . . 5.2 5.2 —

(1) Excludes the effect of ground leases which significantly increase the weighted average useful life for these
intangibles.

The table below includes the amounts of revenue and net income (loss) of the acquisitions completed during
the year ended December 31, 2014, which are included in the Company’s consolidated results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

2014 Acquisitions
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2014

The Rim . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 17,240
Net income (loss) $ 369

25 Cabot Square . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 26,666
Net income (loss) $(16,639)

Simon Hegele Logistics . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 2,110
Net income (loss) $ (3,974)

818 Bourke . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 1,980
Net income (loss) $ (7,700)
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The following unaudited consolidated information is presented to give effect to current year acquisitions
through December 31, 2014 as if the acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2013. This information excludes activity
that is non-recurring and not representative of our future activity, primarily acquisition fees and expenses of
$47.5 million and $82.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The information
below is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations would have been had we completed
these transactions on January 1, 2013, nor does it purport to represent our future operations (amounts in
thousands, except per share amounts):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

Pro Forma
2014

Pro Forma
2013

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $477,692 $392,489
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 56,503 $ (20,717)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share . . . . . $ 0.21 $ (0.11)

The table below includes the amounts of revenue and net income (loss) of the acquisitions completed during
the year ended December 31, 2013, which are included in the Company’s consolidated results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

2013 Acquisitions
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2013

Mercedes Benz Bank . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 5,752
Net income (loss) $ (4,781)

One Westferry Circus . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 11,938
Net income (loss) $ (6,717)

465 Victoria . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 7,403
Net income (loss) $ (5,576)

Riverside Center . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 15,854
Net income (loss) $ 2,468

New City . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 11,509
Net income (loss) $ (4,167)

825 Ann . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 7,724
Net income (loss) $ (7,318)

The Campus at Playa Vista . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 12,815
Net income (loss) $ 1,244

Perspective Défense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 8,325
Net income (loss) $(12,035)

The Markets at Town Center . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 5,654
Net income (loss) $ 2,482

The Avenue at Murfreesboro . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 5,423
Net income (loss) $ (191)

2300 Main . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 1,428
Net income (loss) $ (146)

Fiege Mega Centre . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 877
Net income (loss) $ (3,353)

55 M Street . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 799
Net income (loss) $ (2,501)
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The following unaudited consolidated information is presented to give effect to 2013 acquisitions through
December 31, 2013 as if the acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2012. This information excludes activity that is
non-recurring and not representative of our future activity, primarily acquisition fees and expenses of $82.1
million and $28.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The information below
is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations would have been had we completed these
transactions on January 1, 2012, nor does it purport to represent our future operations (amounts in thousands,
except per share amounts):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

Pro Forma
2013

Pro Forma
2012

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $388,133 $348,012
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (21,472) $ (31,255)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share . . . . . $ (0.12) $ (0.20)

The table below includes the amounts of revenue and net income (loss) of the acquisitions completed during
the year ended December 31, 2012, which are included in the Company’s consolidated results of operations for
the year ended December 31, 2012 (in thousands):

2012 Acquisitions
For the Year Ended
December 31, 2012

Poland Logistics Portfolio . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $11,595
Net income (loss) $ (6,071)

144 Montague . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 7,153
Net income (loss) $ (4,903)

100 Brookes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 3,291
Net income (loss) $ (4,680)

Minneapolis Retail Center . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 7,536
Net income (loss) $ (1,317)

550 Terry Francois . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Revenue $ 6,362
Net income (loss) $ 1,989

The following unaudited consolidated information is presented to give effect to 2012 acquisitions through
December 31, 2012 as if the acquisitions occurred on January 1, 2011. This information excludes activity that is
non-recurring and not representative of our future activity, primarily acquisition fees and expenses of $28.7
million and $20.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively. The information below
is not necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations would have been had we completed these
transactions on January 1, 2011, nor does it purport to represent our future operations (amounts in thousands,
except per share amounts):

For the Years Ended
December 31,

Pro Forma
2012

Pro Forma
2011

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $222,914 $167,137
Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (3,157) $ (47,170)
Basic and diluted income (loss) per common share . . . . . $ (0.03) $ (0.39)

See Note 16 — Subsequent Events for details regarding our investments that were acquired subsequent to
December 31, 2014.
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5. REAL ESTATE LOANS RECEIVABLE

Real estate loans receivable included the following at December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Property

Original
Funding

Date
Maturity

Date
Interest

Rate
Total Loan

Commitment
Balance as of

December 31, 2014
Balance as of

December 31, 2013

Flagship Capital JV
Norchester Village . . . . . . . . 3/1/2012 5/5/2015 N/A $ 4,961 $ — $ 4,289
Bay Park Apartments . . . . . . 7/30/2012 7/30/2014 N/A 3,232 — 3,212
Houston Retail Portfolio . . . 8/2/2012 8/2/2015 7.60% 11,804 11,457 11,363
Motor Circle . . . . . . . . . . . . 12/28/2012 12/28/2015 8.00% 3,175 2,423 2,412
Deer Creek . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2/7/2013 2/7/2015 N/A 5,450 — 5,287
Casa Blanca . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2/7/2013 2/7/2015 N/A 5,742 — 5,350
Falls of Kirkwood . . . . . . . . 10/18/2013 10/12/2015 8.00% 6,300 6,222 3,641
Falls of Town Park

Apartments . . . . . . . . . . . 12/30/2013 12/30/2015 7.75% 5,327 5,227 4,364
Precinct Villages . . . . . . . . . 3/18/2014 3/17/2016 8.50% 2,595 1,811 —
Manor Palms . . . . . . . . . . . . 6/26/2014 12/25/2015 7.00% 4,109 3,979 —
Randall’s . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7/28/2014 7/28/2017 6.25% 10,939 8,110 —
Finesilver . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7/31/2014 7/31/2016 6.45% 7,233 5,165 —
Dymaxion Apartments . . . . . 12/15/2014 12/15/2016 7.60% 8,500 7,684 —
Marbach Park

Apartments . . . . . . . . . . . 12/15/2014 12/15/2016 7.60% 9,500 7,676 —

7.38% $88,867 $59,754 $39,918
Less: Origination fees . . . . . (640) (354)

Total Flagship Capital JV . . . . . $59,114 $39,564

Other Loans Receivable
@1377 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6/29/2012 7/1/2016 10.00% $ 3,962 $ 3,962 $ 3,673
The Rim . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9/8/2014 9/7/2015 8.50% $29,800 $11,324 $ —

Total Real Estate Loans
Receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $74,400 $43,237
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6. DEBT FINANCING

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had $2.1 billion and $2.0 billion of debt outstanding,
respectively, with a weighted average years to maturity of 2.8 years and 3.2 years, respectively, and a weighted
average interest rate of 2.9% and 3.3%, respectively. The following table describes the Company’s debt outstanding
at December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands, except percentages):

Description

Origination or
Assumption

Date
Maturity

Date
Interest Rate
Description

Interest Rate as of
December 31,

2014

Principal
Outstanding at
December 31,

2014

Principal
Outstanding at
December 31,

2013

Secured Mortgage Debt

Brindleyplace Project . . . . . . . . . . . . 7/1/2010 7/7/2015

75% fixed via
swap /25%

variable 3.46%(1) $ 188,034 $ 199,608
Hock Plaza . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9/8/2010 12/6/2015 Fixed 5.58% 75,657 76,839
Southpark . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10/19/2010 12/6/2016 Fixed 5.67% 18,000 18,000
Fifty South Sixth . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11/4/2010 11/4/2015 Fixed via swap 3.62% 95,000 95,000
Stonecutter Court (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3/11/2011 3/11/2016 Fixed via swap N/A — 88,296
Gogolevsky 11 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8/25/2011 4/7/2021 Variable 6.48% 35,100 36,500
Campus at Marlborough . . . . . . . . . . 10/28/2011 12/1/2014 Fixed 5.21% — 54,596

Flagship Capital JV (3) . . . . . . . . . . . 7/2/2014 7/2/2019
Variable, subject
to floor of 4.25% 4.25% 25,162 11,047

144 Montague (4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4/16/2012 4/16/2017
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap N/A — 49,937

100 Brookes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7/13/2012 7/31/2017
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 5.49% 35,254 38,354

Poland Logistics Portfolio (5) . . . . . . 8/2/2012 6/30/2017
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 2.88% 76,797 88,812
Minneapolis Retail Center . . . . . . . . 8/2/2012 8/10/2019 Fixed 3.50% 65,500 65,500
825 Ann . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11/16/2012 4/30/2016 Variable 4.79% 66,091 71,901

Mercedes Benz Bank . . . . . . . . . . . . 2/7/2013 12/31/2019
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 1.58% 41,346 47,304

465 Victoria . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2/28/2013 2/28/2016
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 4.85% 43,396 47,211

New City . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3/28/2013 3/28/2018
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 2.88% 95,934 111,532
One Westferry Circus . . . . . . . . . . . . 5/9/2013 5/5/2020 Fixed 3.30% 74,554 79,142
The Campus at Playa Vista . . . . . . . 5/14/2013 6/1/2016 Variable 1.66% 115,000 115,000

Perspective Defense . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6/21/2013 7/25/2019
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 2.59% 85,085 96,362

Fiege Mega Centre . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10/18/2013 10/18/2018
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 1.78% 28,373 32,542
55 M Street . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12/9/2013 12/9/2017 Variable 1.62% 72,000 72,000
25 Cabot Square . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3/26/2014 3/26/2020 Fixed 3.50% 192,209 —
Simon Hegele Logistics . . . . . . . . . . 4/28/2014 6/15/2019 Fixed 1.90% 26,106 —

818 Bourke . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10/31/2014 10/31/2019
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 3.49% 74,627 —
Other Notes Payable
JPMorgan Chase Revolving Credit

Facility . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4/13/2012 5/22/2016 Variable 2.14%(1) 122,894 204,467
JPMorgan Chase Revolving Credit

Facility—Term Loan . . . . . . . . . . 5/22/2013 5/22/2017 Variable 1.95% 378,000 200,000
WaterWall Place Construction

Loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 6/29/2012 6/29/2016
Variable, subject

to interest rate cap 2.41%(1) 44,092 30,107
Aviva Coral Gables JV Construction

Loan (formerly known as the
Ponce & Bird JV) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5/10/2013 5/10/2017 Variable 2.41%(1) 38,431 6,557

Total Principal
Outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,112,642 $1,936,614

Unamortized Discount . . . . . . . . . . . (283) (713)

Notes Payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,112,359 $1,935,901

Notes Payable to Affiliates
WaterWall Place Construction

Loan . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12/15/2011 12/14/2014 Variable N/A — 20,341
Aviva Coral Gables Construction

Loan (formerly known as the
Ponce & Bird JV) . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7/13/2012 7/13/2015 Variable 2.15% 17,601 17,220

Total Notes Payable to
Affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 17,601 $ 37,561

$2,129,960 $1,973,462
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(1) Represents the weighted average interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2014.
(2) In December 2014, the Company sold Stonecutter Court. In connection with this sale of Stonecutter Court,

the Company retired the outstanding principal balance of the secured mortgage loan in December 2014.
(3) In July 2014, the Flagship JV entered into a new credit agreement with a maximum commitment of $50.0

million and retired the previous credit agreement.
(4) In November 2014, the Company sold 144 Montague. In connection with this sale of 144 Montague, the

Company retired the outstanding principal balance of the secured mortgage loan in November 2014.
(5) See the discussion below under the heading “Financial Covenants” for additional information regarding the

Company’s noncompliance with a debt covenant on its loan secured by the Poland Logistics Portfolio that
occurred during the year.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fixed rate debt includes $236.0 million and $333.0 million,
respectively, of variable rate debt economically fixed through the use of interest rate swaps. The variable rate
debt has variable interest rates ranging from LIBOR, EURIBOR or the BBSY screen rate plus 1.00% to
6.25% per annum. Additionally, as of December 31, 2014, $508.6 million of our variable rate debt was capped at
strike rates ranging from 1.0% to 4.5%. See Note 7 — Derivative Instruments for more information regarding our
interest rate contracts.

JP Morgan Chase Revolving Credit Agreement and Bridge Loans

In April 2012, the Operating Partnership entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for itself and various lenders named in the Credit
Agreement. The Company refers to the Revolving Loan Commitment and Term Loan Commitment collectively
as the “Revolving Credit Facility.” The borrowings under the Revolving Loan Commitment may be denominated
in U.S. dollars, British pound sterling, Euros, Australian dollars or Canadian dollars with aggregate foreign
currency commitments constituting up to $212.5 million of the maximum amount available under the Revolving
Loan Commitment.

In April 2014, the Company entered into an amendment to its revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association (the “Revolving Credit Facility”), resulting in the following changes:

• an increase of the term loan commitment (the “Term Loan Commitment”) from $200.0 million to
$378.0 million.

• an increase of the foreign currency commitments under the revolving loan commitment (the
“Revolving Loan Commitment”) to $400.0 million; and

• the removal of the $750.0 million maximum under the Revolving Loan Commitment and the $250.0
million maximum under the Term Loan Commitment. As a result of this amendment, the Company
may request increases in each commitment so long as the aggregate commitments do not exceed $1.0
billion.

The Revolving Loan Commitment has a maturity date of May 22, 2016, subject to two 1-year extensions at
the Company’s option and subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions. The Term Loan Commitment has a
maturity date of May 22, 2017, subject to a 1-year extension at the Company’s option and subject to the
satisfaction of certain conditions.

For the period from January 2014 through December 2014, the Company made draws of approximately
$673.5 million and payments of $577.3 million under the Revolving Credit Facility, and incurred a loss of $0.3
million through December 31, 2014 related to its borrowings on its loans denominated in a foreign currency.
Additionally, from January 1, 2015 through March 30, 2015, the Company made draws of $167.0 million under
the Revolving Credit Facility resulting in an outstanding principal balance of $667.7 million, including the effect
of changes in exchange rates as of March 30, 2015.
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Notes Payable to Affiliates

In December 2011, the WaterWall Place JV (as described in Note 1 — Organization) entered into a
construction loan agreement with an affiliate of Hines with a maximum principal amount of $22.8 million related
to the development of a multi-family project in Houston, Texas. The Company repaid this loan upon its maturity
in December 2014.

In July 2012, the Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV) entered into a
construction loan agreement with a maximum principal amount of $20.1 million with an affiliate of Hines related
to the development of a multi-family project in Miami, Florida. Interest on the loan is charged monthly at a
variable rate, based on Hines’ then-current borrowing rate under its revolving credit facility. The loan requires
monthly payments of principal and interest to the extent that net cash flow of the Aviva Coral Gables JV
(formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV) exceeds amounts then due and payable. This line of credit has a
maturity date that is the earlier of (i) the date on which 95% of the residential units in the project have been
leased or (ii) July 13, 2015.

Financial Covenants

The Company’s mortgage agreements and other loan documents for the debt described in the table above
contain customary events of default, with corresponding grace periods, including payment defaults, cross-
defaults to other agreements and bankruptcy-related defaults, and customary covenants, including limitations on
liens and indebtedness and maintenance of certain financial ratios. In addition, the Company has executed
customary recourse carve-out guarantees of certain obligations under its mortgage agreements and the other loan
documents. The Company is not aware of any instances of noncompliance with financial covenants on any of its
loans as of December 31, 2014.

The loan agreement for the loan secured by the Poland Logistics Portfolio requires that an occupancy level
of at least 80% be maintained across the portfolio. In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Poland Logistics Portfolio
did not meet this required occupancy level and was required to set up a reserve consisting of any excess net
operating income (defined by the loan agreement as the amount equal to the total income of the portfolio less
value-add taxes and payments on account service charges), which may be used towards repayment of the loan if
the required occupancy has not been met for about six months. The reserve will be discharged when the covenant
has been met for two consecutive quarters. However, in 2014, the Company was able to meet the covenant for
two consecutive quarters, and as a result the reserve was discharged. As of December 31, 2014, no such reserves
were required to be funded.

Principal Payments on Debt

The Company is required to make the following principal payments on its outstanding notes payable for
each of the years ending December 31, 2015 through December 31, 2019 and for the period thereafter. Amounts
are in thousands:

Payments due by Year

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter

Principal payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $384,770 $418,256 $604,868 $120,664 $308,222 $293,463

7. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The Company has entered into several interest rate swap contracts and interest rate cap agreements as
economic hedges against the variability of future interest rates on its variable interest rate borrowings. The
Company’s interest rate swaps economically fixed the interest rates on each of the loans to which they relate and
the interest rate cap contracts have economically limited the interest rate on the loans to which they relate. The
Company has not designated any of these derivatives as hedges for accounting purposes. See Note 11 — Fair
Value Measurements for additional information regarding the fair value of our interest rate contracts.
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The Company also entered into foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges against the variability
of foreign exchange rates on future international investments in 2014. These forward contracts economically fixed
the currency exchange rates on each of the investments to which they related. The Company did not designate any
of these contracts as fair value or cash flow hedges for accounting purposes. See Note 11 — Fair Value
Measurements for additional information regarding the fair value of our foreign currency forwards.

The table below provides additional information regarding the Company’s interest rate contracts (in
thousands, except percentages).

Interest Rate Contracts

Type Effective Date Expiration Date
Notional

Amount (1)

Interest
Rate

Received
Pay Rate /

Strike Rate

Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . July 7, 2010 July 7, 2015 $141,026 LIBOR 2.29%
Interest rate swap . . . . . . . . . . . . November 4, 2010 November 4, 2015 $ 95,000 LIBOR 1.37%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . August 2, 2012 June 30, 2017 $ 57,890 EURIBOR 2.00%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . August 13, 2012 August 13, 2015 $ 17,628 BBSY 4.00%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . October 9, 2012 June 30, 2017 $ 12,048 EURIBOR 2.00%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . January 7, 2013 June 29, 2016 $ 45,500 LIBOR 1.25%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 11, 2013 March 31, 2018 $ 41,346 EURIBOR 1.50%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . March 20, 2013 February 29, 2016 $ 22,511 BBSW 4.33%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . July 30, 2013 April 30, 2016 $ 49,570 BBSW 4.50%

Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . .
April 11, 2013
May 6, 2013 March 16, 2018 $ 67,413 EURIBOR 2.50%

Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . July 25, 2013 July 25, 2019 $ 85,084 EURIBOR 1.70%(2)

Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . October 18, 2013 October 18, 2018 $ 28,372 EURIBOR 2.00%
Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . September 5, 2014 December 5, 2016 $ 43,964 LIBOR 1.00%(3)

Interest rate cap . . . . . . . . . . . . . November 27, 2014 October 27, 2017 $ 37,315 BBSY 4.00%

(1) For notional amounts denominated in a foreign currency, amounts have been translated at a rate based on
the rate in effect on December 31, 2014.

(2) Beginning in July 2016, the strike rate of this interest rate cap will increase to 2.00% for the remaining term
of the interest rate cap.

(3) Beginning in January 2015, the strike rate of this interest rate cap will increase to 2.00%, and beginning in
January 2016, the strike rate of this interest rate cap will increase to 3.25% for the remaining term.

The table below provides additional information regarding the Company’s foreign currency forward
contracts that are outstanding as of December 31, 2014 (in thousands).

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts

Effective Date Expiration Date Notional Amount Buy/Sell
Traded Currency

Rate

June 26, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . June 26, 2015 £105,800 USD/GBP $1.69
September 10, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . June 26, 2015 £105,800 GBP/USD $1.62
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The Company has not entered into any master netting arrangements with its third-party counterparties and
does not offset on its consolidated balance sheets the fair value amounts recorded for derivative instruments. The
table below presents the fair value of the Company’s derivative instruments included in “Assets — Derivative
Instruments” and “Liabilities — Derivative Instruments” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets, as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (in thousands):

Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $(2,684) $(9,329)
Interest rate caps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 345 4,428 — —
Foreign currency forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . 14,316 866 (7,164) (488)

Total derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,661 $5,294 $(9,848) $(9,817)

The table below presents the effects of the changes in fair value of our derivative instruments in the
Company’s consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands):

Gain (Loss) on Derivative Instruments

Year Ended

December 31,
2014

December 31,
2013

December 31,
2012

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,122 $5,910 $(1,479)
Interest rate caps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (4,131) (828) (1,184)
Foreign currency forward contracts . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,331 4,827 4,061

Total gain (loss) on derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 7,322 $9,909 $ 1,398

8. DISTRIBUTIONS

The Company has declared distributions for the months of January 2012 through March 2015 at an amount
equal to $0.0017808 per share, per day. Additionally, Hines Moorfield UK Venture I S.A.R.L. (the
“Brindleyplace JV”) declared distributions in the amount of $4.3 million, $2.8 million and $2.9 million to
Moorfield for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, related to the operations of
several properties acquired by the Brindleyplace JV located in Birmingham, England (the “Brindleyplace
Project”).

The table below outlines the Company’s total distributions declared to stockholders and noncontrolling
interests (Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership (“HALP”), Moorfield and Flagship Capital GP) for
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, including the breakout between the distributions declared in
cash and those reinvested pursuant to the Company’s distribution reinvestment plan (in thousands). The
Company declares distributions to the Company’s stockholders as of daily record dates and aggregates and pays
such distributions monthly.

Stockholders
Noncontrolling

Interests

Distributions for the Years Ended
Cash

Distributions
Distributions
Reinvested

Total
Declared Total Declared

December 31, 2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $79,555 $91,530 $171,085 $4,668
December 31, 2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $56,702 $63,062 $119,764 $3,331
December 31, 2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $35,581 $38,394 $ 73,975 $3,159
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9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The table below outlines fees and expense reimbursements incurred that are payable by the Company to
Hines and its affiliates for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 and amounts unpaid as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

Incurred During the Years Ended
December 31,

Unpaid as of
December 31,

Type and Recipient 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013

Selling Commissions — Dealer Manager . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $27,021 $56,259 $40,560 $ — $ 658
Dealer Manager Fee — Dealer Manager . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 9,334 $19,321 $13,992 — (5)
Issuer Costs — the Advisor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,975 $ 7,137 $ 5,710 — 482
Acquisition Fee — the Advisor and affiliates of Hines . . . . . $18,188 $40,136 $16,064 1,492 —
Asset Management Fee — the Advisor and affiliates of

Hines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $34,881 $20,354 $ 5,942 8,402 7,241
Disposition Fee — the Advisor . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,543 $ — $ — — —
Other (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,713 $ 5,216 $ 2,894 1,657 1,166
Property Management Fee — Hines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 6,680 $ 5,599 $ 3,000 159 (144)
Development/ Construction Management Fee — Hines . . . . $ 2,556 $ 4,010 $ 119 35 83
Leasing Fee — Hines . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,138 $ 3,371 $ 228 1,363 1,735
Redevelopment Construction Management — Hines . . . . . . $ 9 $ — $ 107 — —
Expense Reimbursement — Hines (with respect to

management and operations of the Company’s
properties) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $10,777 $ 7,074 $ 4,562 998 5,203

Due to Affiliates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $14,106 $16,419

(1) Includes amounts the Advisor paid on behalf of the Company such as general and administrative expenses
and acquisition-related expenses. These amounts are generally reimbursed to the Advisor during the month
following the period in which they are incurred.

Notes Payable to Affiliates

The WaterWall Place JV and Aviva Coral Gables JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV as described
in Note 1 — Organization) entered into separate construction loans with an affiliate of Hines related to the
development of multi-family projects in Houston, Texas and Miami, Florida, respectively. In December 2014,
the WaterWall Place JV repaid the outstanding balance on its construction loan. See Note 6 — Debt Financing
for additional information regarding these construction loans.

@1377 Development

In June 2012, the Company entered into a $3.2 million mezzanine loan commitment plus accrued interest to
provide construction financing to the @1377 development, which is being developed by an affiliate of Hines. As
of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, $4.0 million and $3.7 million were outstanding under the
mezzanine loan, respectively. See Note 1 — Organization for additional information concerning the @1377
development.

Dealer Manager Agreement

The Dealer Manager received a selling commission of up to 7.5% of gross offering proceeds and a dealer
manager fee of up to 2.5% of gross offering proceeds, both of which were recorded as an offset to additional
paid-in-capital in the Company’s financial statements. Pursuant to separately negotiated agreements, the Dealer
Manager reallowed up to 7.0% of gross proceeds as a selling commission and up to 1.5% of gross proceeds from
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its dealer manager fee as a marketing fee to broker-dealers participating in the Company’s public offerings. The
Dealer Manager paid broker-dealers up to an additional 1.0% of the gross offering proceeds as reimbursements
for distribution and marketing-related costs and expenses. No selling commissions or dealer manager fees were
or will be paid for sales under the Company’s distribution reinvestment plan.

Advisory Agreement

Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Company is required to pay the following fees and expense
reimbursements:

Acquisition Fee — Prior to April 2012, the Advisor received an acquisition fee equal to 2.0% of (i) the
purchase price of each real estate investment the Company acquired or originated, including any debt attributable
to such investments or the principal amounts of any loans originated directly by the Company and (ii) with
respect to indirect investments through another entity, such entity’s pro rata share of the gross asset value of all
real estate investments held by such entity. In March 2012, the Advisory Agreement was amended to increase the
acquisition fee to 2.25% of these amounts.

Asset Management Fee — The Advisor receives an asset management fee equal to 0.125% per month of the
net equity capital invested by the Company in real estate investments as of the end of each month. In April 2012,
the Advisor agreed to waive the asset management fee otherwise payable to it pursuant to the Advisory
Agreement for each quarter in 2012 and 2013, to the extent that the Company’s modified funds from operations
(“MFFO”) for a particular quarter, as disclosed in each of its quarterly reports, amounts to less than 100% of the
aggregate distributions declared for such quarter. As a result of these waivers, the Advisor waived $12.2 million
of asset management fees payable to it for these periods, in aggregate. These fee waivers are not deferrals and
accordingly, these fees will not be paid to the Advisor in cash at any time in the future.

Additionally, the Advisor agreed to waive asset management fees otherwise payable to it for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2015, respectively, to the extent that our MFFO for the years ended December 31, 2014
and 2015, as disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for such year, amounts to less than 100% of the
aggregate distributions declared to our stockholders for such year. However, because MFFO exceeded
distributions declared to the Company’s stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2014, the Advisor did
not waive any asset management fees.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred asset management fees
of $34.9 million, $20.4 million and $5.9 million, respectively.

Disposition Fee — The Advisor or its affiliates also will be paid a disposition fee of 1.0% of the sales price
of any real estate investments sold or 1.0% of the Company’s pro rata share of the sales price with respect to the
Company’s indirect investments. As of December 31, 2014, the Company incurred $2.5 million in disposition
fees as a result of its dispositions of 144 Montague and Stonecutter Court.

Special OP Units — Hines Global REIT Associates Limited Partnership, an affiliate of Hines, owns the
special units of the Operating Partnership (“Special OP Units”), which entitle them to receive distributions in an
amount equal to 15% of distributions, including from sales of real estate investments, refinancings and other
sources, but only after the Company’s stockholders have received, or are deemed to have received, in the
aggregate, cumulative distributions equal to their invested capital plus an 8.0% cumulative, non-compounded
annual pre-tax return on such invested capital.

At the sole discretion of the Advisor, the acquisition fees, asset management fees, debt financing fees and
disposition fees are payable, in whole or in part, in cash or units of the Operating Partnership (“OP Units”). For
the purposes of the payment of these fees, each OP Unit will be valued at the per-share offering price of the
Company’s common stock in its most recent public offering less selling commissions and dealer manager fees.
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Upon the Advisor’s request, each OP unit can be repurchased for cash or can be converted into one share of the
Company’s common stock. The decision to redeem each OP unit for cash or shares is at the Company’s option
except in certain circumstances such as the Company’s decision to list its shares on a national securities
exchange, a liquidation event or upon termination or nonrenewal of the Advisory Agreement for any reason other
than by the Advisor. The Company will recognize the expense related to these OP Units as the related service is
performed, as each OP Unit will be fully vested upon issuance.

The Company reimburses the Advisor for all expenses paid or incurred by the Advisor in connection with
the services provided to the Company, subject to the limitation that the Company will not reimburse the Advisor
for any amount by which its operating expenses (including the asset management fee) at the end of the four
preceding fiscal quarters exceeds the greater of: (A) 2% of its average invested assets, or (B) 25% of its net
income determined without reduction for any additions to reserves for depreciation, bad debts or other similar
non-cash reserves and excluding any gain from the sale of the Company’s assets for that period. Notwithstanding
the above, the Company may reimburse the Advisor for expenses in excess of this limitation if a majority of the
independent directors determines that such excess expenses are justified.

In addition, as described in Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Issuer Costs, the
Company reimburses the Advisor for any issuer costs paid on its behalf. However, the total compensation related to
issuer costs, selling commissions and dealer manager fees may not exceed 15% of gross proceeds from the Offering.

Property Management and Leasing Agreements

The Company pays Hines fees for the management and leasing of some of its properties. Property
management fees are equal to a market-based percentage of the gross revenues of the properties managed by
Hines or the amount of property management fees recoverable from tenants of the properties managed by Hines
under their leases. In addition, if Hines provides leasing services with respect to a property, the Company will
pay Hines leasing fees which are usual and customary for that type of property in that geographic area. The
Company generally will be required to reimburse Hines for certain operating costs incurred in providing property
management and leasing services pursuant to the property management and leasing agreements. Included in this
reimbursement of operating costs will be the cost of personnel and overhead expenses related to such personnel
located at the property as well as off-site personnel located in Hines’ headquarters and regional offices, to the
extent the same relate to or support the performance of Hines’ duties under the agreement.

Hines may perform construction management services for the Company for both re-development activities
and tenant construction. These fees are considered incremental to the construction effort and will be capitalized
to the associated real estate project as incurred. Costs related to tenant construction will be depreciated over the
estimated useful life. Costs related to redevelopment activities will be depreciated over the estimated useful life
of the associated project. Leasing activities will generally be performed by Hines on the Company’s behalf.
Leasing fees will be capitalized and amortized over the life of the related lease. Generally, as compensation for
providing development management services, Hines will be paid a fee equal to 3% of the development project
costs and as compensation for providing construction management services, an affiliate of Hines also will be paid
a contractor’s fee of 5% of the total construction costs of the project.

10. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

In December 2012, the Brindleyplace JV issued 2.5 million Series B3 Convertible Preferred Equity
Certificates (“CPEC”)to Moorfield as a result of their £2.5 million contribution ($4.1 million based on the
exchange rate in effect on the date of contribution). Each CPEC is convertible into one capital share of the
Brindleyplace JV at any time. The CPECs may be redeemed at the option of the Brindleyplace JV any time prior
to the earlier of the liquidation of the Brindleyplace Project or their expiration on July 7, 2059. If redeemed, they
will be redeemed at a price of £1 per CPEC, plus any accrued and unpaid distributions thereon. However, the
Brindleyplace JV may elect to satisfy any redemption request through the issuance of one capital share per
CPEC.
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In December 2013, the Brindleyplace JV issued 1.2 million Series B3 CPEC to Moorfield as a result of their
£1.2 million contribution ($2.0 million based on the exchange rate in effect on the date of contribution). The
series B3 CPEC have the same terms as the Series B CPEC described above. In December 2014, the
Brindleyplace JV issued 1.3 million Series B3 CPEC to Moorfield as a result of their £1.3 million contribution
($2.0 million based on the exchange rate in effect on the date of contribution).

Distributions are declared and paid quarterly to Moorfield based on the distributable income of the
Brindleyplace Project and payment of the distributions will be subject to the approval of the board of directors of
the Brindleyplace JV. During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, the
Brindleyplace JV declared $4.3 million, $2.8 million and $2.9 million of preferred dividends to Moorfield related
to the CPECs. These amounts were included in the net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) and offsets net income of
$1.5 million and net losses of $0.3 million and $2.0 million that was attributable to Moorfield during the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 and 2012, respectively, related to the results of operations of the
Brindleyplace JV.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 the noncontrolling interest partner in the
Flagship JV, contributed $0.4 million, $0.6 million, and $1.0 million respectively to the Flagship Capital JV. In
accordance with the partnership agreement that governs the joint venture, distributions are declared and paid
when the joint venture has available cash (all cash held by the joint venture less what is reasonably needed to
reserve or satisfy cash needs) with respect to an investment made by the joint venture. The Flagship Capital JV
declared distributions to the noncontrolling interest partner for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and
2012 of $0.3 million, $0.5 million, and $0.3 million, respectively. See Note 1 — Organization for additional
information regarding the Flagship Capital JV.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the noncontrolling interest partner, an affiliate of Hines,
contributed $1.5 million to the WaterWall Place JV, for the funding of the repayment of the construction loan to
Hines. See Note 1 — Organization for additional information regarding the WaterWall Place JV.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the noncontrolling interest partners in the Aviva Coral Gables
JV (formerly known as the Ponce & Bird JV) contributed, in total, $3.0 million in land as their initial capital
contribution to the Aviva Coral Gables JV. See Note 1 — Organization for additional information regarding the
Aviva Coral Gables JV.

11. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair values determined by Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities the Company has the ability to access. Fair values determined by Level 2 inputs utilize inputs
other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or
indirectly. Level 2 inputs include quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets and inputs other
than quoted prices observable for the asset or liability, such as interest rates and yield curves observable at
commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, and include
situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. In instances in which the inputs
used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value
hierarchy within which the fair value measurement in its entirety has been determined is based on the lowest
level input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The Company’s assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers
factors specific to the asset or liability.

Financial Instruments Measured on a Recurring Basis

As described in Note 7 — Derivative Instruments, the Company entered into several interest rate contracts
as economic hedges against the variability of future interest rates on its variable interest rate borrowings. The
valuation of these derivative instruments is determined based on assumptions that management believes market
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participants would use in pricing, using widely accepted valuation techniques including discounted cash flow
analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the contractual terms of the
derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs, including interest rate
curves and implied volatilities. The fair values of interest rate contracts have been determined using the market
standard methodology of netting the discounted future fixed cash receipts (or payments) and the discounted
expected variable cash payments (or receipts). The variable cash payments (or receipts) are based on an
expectation of future interest rates (forward curves) derived from observable market interest rate curves.

Although the Company has determined the majority of the inputs used to value its interest rate contracts fall
within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit valuation adjustments associated with its derivatives utilize
Level 3 inputs, such as estimates of current credit spreads to evaluate the likelihood of default by the Company
and its counterparties, Eurohypo, PB Capital Corporation, Landesbank Baden-Württemberg, Commonwealth
Bank of Australia, Bank of Western Australia, Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, Crédit Agricole, SMBC Capital
Markets, Inc, and Australia and New Zealand Banking Group Limited. In adjusting the fair values of its
derivative contracts for the effect of nonperformance risk, the Company has considered the impact of netting and
any applicable credit enhancements, such as collateral postings, thresholds and guarantees. However, as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit valuation
adjustments on the overall valuation of its derivative positions and has determined that the credit valuation
adjustments are not significant to the overall valuations of its derivatives. As a result, the Company has
determined its derivative valuations are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Additionally, as described in Note 7 — Derivative Instruments, the Company has entered into several
foreign currency forward contracts as economic hedges against the variability of foreign exchange rates on future
international investments. The valuation of these forward contracts is determined based on assumptions that
management believes market participants would use in pricing, using widely accepted valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flow analysis on the expected cash flows of each derivative. This analysis reflects the
contractual terms of the derivatives, including the period to maturity, and uses observable market-based inputs,
including currency exchange rate curves and implied volatilities. The Company has determined its foreign
currency forward contracts valuations are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, as they are based on
observable inputs but are not traded in active markets.

The following table sets forth the Company’s derivatives which are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis, by level within the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 (all amounts are
in thousands):

Basis of Fair Value Measurements

Period

Fair Value of
Assets

(Liabilities)

Quoted Prices
In Active

Markets for
Identical Items

(Level 1)

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs (Level 2)

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs (Level 3)

December 31, 2014
Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (2,684) $— $ (2,684) $—
Interest rate caps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 345 $— $ 345 $—
Foreign currency forwards — Assets . . . . . . . . $14,316 $— $14,316 $—
Foreign currency forwards — Liabilities . . . . . $ (7,164) $— $ (7,164) $—

December 31, 2013
Interest rate swaps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (9,329) $— $ (9,329) $—
Interest rate caps . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,428 $— $ 4,428 $—
Foreign currency forwards — Assets . . . . . . . . $ 866 $— $ 866 $—
Foreign currency forwards — Liabilities . . . . . $ (488) $— $ (488) $—
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Financial Instruments Fair Value Disclosures

As of December 31, 2014, the Company estimated that the fair value of its notes payable, which had a book
value (including any unamortized discount or premium) of $2.1 billion, was $2.1 billion. As of December 31,
2013, the Company estimated that the fair value of its notes payable, which had a book value (including any
unamortized discount or premium) of $2.0 billion, was $2.0 billion. Management has utilized available market
information or present value techniques to estimate the amounts required to be disclosed. Although the Company
has determined the majority of the inputs used to value its notes payable fall within Level 2 of the fair value
hierarchy, the credit quality adjustments associated with its fair value of notes payable utilize Level 3 inputs.
However, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the
credit quality adjustments on the overall valuations of its fair market value of notes payable and has determined
that they are not significant. As a result, the Company has determined these financial instruments utilize Level 2
inputs. Since such amounts are estimates that are based on limited available market information for similar
transactions, there can be no assurance that the disclosed values could be realized.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company estimated that the book values of its real estate loans
receivable approximated their fair values. Although the Company has determined the majority of the inputs used
to value its real estate notes receivable fall within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy, the credit quality
adjustments associated with its fair value of real estate notes receivable utilize Level 3 inputs. However, as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company has assessed the significance of the impact of the credit quality
adjustments on the overall valuations of its fair market value of real estate notes receivable and has determined
that they are not significant. As a result, the Company has determined these financial instruments utilize Level 2
inputs. Since such amounts are estimates that are based on limited available market information for similar
transactions, there can be no assurance that the disclosed values could be realized.

Other financial instruments not measured at fair value on a recurring basis include cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash, tenant and other receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, other
liabilities, due to affiliates and distributions payable. The carrying value of these items reasonably approximates
their fair value based on their highly-liquid nature and/or short-term maturities. Due to the short-term nature of
these instruments, Level 1 inputs are utilized to estimate the fair value of the cash and cash equivalents and
restricted cash and Level 2 inputs are utilized to estimate the fair value of the remaining financial instruments.

Financial Instruments Measured on a Nonrecurring Basis

Certain long-lived assets are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. These assets are not measured
at fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments (i.e., impairments) in certain
circumstances. The fair value methodologies used to measure long-lived assets are described in Note 2 —
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies — Investment Property and Lease Intangibles. The inputs
associated with the valuation of long-lived assets are generally included in Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. There were no events during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 which indicated that
fair value adjustments of our long-lived assets were necessary.

12. REPORTABLE SEGMENTS

The Company’s real estate investments are geographically diversified and management evaluates the
operating performance of each at an individual investment level and considers each investment to be an operating
segment. The Company has aggregated all of its operating segments into four reportable segments based on the
location of the segment and the underlying asset class. Management has aggregated the Company’s investments
that are not office properties in “other” based on the geographic location of the investment due to the Company’s
ownership of interests in various different types of investments that do not stand alone as their own reportable
segment.

• Domestic office investments (11 investments)

• Domestic other investments (10 investments)
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• International office investments (10 investments)

• International other investments (9 investments)

The tables below provide additional information related to each of the Company’s segments, geographic
location and a reconciliation to the Company’s net loss, as applicable. “Corporate-Level Accounts” includes
amounts incurred by the corporate-level entities which are not allocated to any of the reportable segments (all
amounts are in thousands, except for percentages):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Total Revenue
Domestic office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $145,941 $114,480 $ 70,943
Domestic other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 104,753 62,407 36,712
International office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 108,839 68,274 32,123
International other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 96,731 77,701 47,462

Total Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $456,264 $322,862 $187,240

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company’s total revenue was attributable to
the following countries:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 55% 55% 57%
United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 19% 15% 20%
Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8% 10% 6%
Poland . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7% 9% 6%
Russia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5% 6% 11%
France . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3% 3% — %
Germany . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3% 2% — %

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company’s property revenues in excess of
expenses by segment was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Property revenues in excess of expenses (1)

Domestic office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 91,932 $ 72,547 $ 44,088
Domestic other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 67,297 39,413 22,492
International office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 114,586 73,226 27,803
International other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,348 35,583 31,818

Total property revenues in excess of expenses . . . . . $319,163 $220,769 $126,201

(1) Revenues less property operating expenses, real property taxes and property management fees.
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For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s total assets by segment was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013

Total Assets
Domestic office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $1,227,066 $1,273,779
Domestic other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,041,004 789,204
International office investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,237,989 1,176,394
International other investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 557,003 515,788
Corporate-level accounts . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 63,532 48,054

Total Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $4,126,594 $3,803,219

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s total assets were attributable to the
following countries:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013

United States . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 56% 55%
United Kingdom . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 18% 15%
Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 9% 9%
Poland . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7% 9%
Russia . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 2% 4%
France . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4% 5%
Germany . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4% 3%

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 the Company’s reconciliation to the Company’s net
loss is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Reconciliation to net income (loss)
Total property revenues in excess of expenses . . . . . $ 319,163 $ 220,769 $126,201
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (193,870) (140,187) (84,747)
Acquisition related expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (29,278) (42,747) (12,633)
Asset management and acquisition fees . . . . . . . . . . (53,069) (60,490) (22,006)
General and administrative expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . (6,782) (5,344) (3,590)
Gain (loss) on derivatives . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 7,322 9,909 1,398
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate investments . . . . . . 64,003 — —
Foreign currency gains (losses) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (13,074) (6,458) 672
Interest expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (78,273) (60,968) (37,915)
Interest income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 506 454 227
Benefit (provision) for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . (5,806) (701) (1,147)

Net income (loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 10,842 $ (85,763) $ (33,540)
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13. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSURES

Supplemental cash flow disclosures for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $66,592 $53,942 $32,784
Cash paid for income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 4,161 $ 4,742 $ 4,461
Supplemental Schedule of Non-Cash Activities
Distributions declared and unpaid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $17,558 $14,143 $ 8,777
Other receivables . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ 5,441 $ 4,889
Distributions reinvested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $90,198 $60,585 $36,981
Shares tendered for redemption . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 5,505 $ 2,287 $ 927
Non-cash net liabilities acquired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,737 $12,867 $ 4,745
In-kind contribution from noncontrolling interest . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ 3,000
Accrued additions to investment property . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 2,373 $ 8,538 $ 5,524

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

In November 2013, Dorsey & Whitney LLP signed a lease renewal for its space in 50 South Sixth located in
Minneapolis, Minnesota. In connection with this renewal, the Company committed to fund $20.8 million of
tenant improvements and leasing commissions related to its space, to be paid in future periods. As of
December 31, 2014, $13.3 million of the Company’s commitment remained unfunded and is recorded in
accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

The Company may be subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of
business. These matters are generally covered by insurance. While the resolution of these matters cannot be
predicted with certainty, management believes the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

15. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table presents selected unaudited quarterly financial data for each quarter during the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in thousands except per share amounts):

Quarters Ended

March 31, 2014 June 30, 2014 September 30, 2014 December 31, 2014

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $105,123 $117,840 $117,705 $115,596
Gain (loss) on sale of real estate

investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $ — $ — $ 64,003
Net (income) loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (947) $ (1,097) $ (964) $ (2,756)
Net income (loss) attributable to common

stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (36,389) $ (10,580) $ 3,214 $ 48,833
Income (loss) per common share, basic and

diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.15) $ (0.04) $ 0.01 $ 0.18

Quarters Ended

March 31, 2013 June 30, 2013 September 30, 2013 December 31, 2013

Revenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 60,032 $ 75,824 $ 90,081 $ 96,925
Net (income) loss attributable to

noncontrolling interests . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (521) $ (437) $ (616) $ (1,599)
Net income (loss) attributable to common

stockholders . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (32,492) $ (32,556) $ (13,442) $ (10,446)
Income (loss) per common share, basic and

diluted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (0.20) $ (0.19) $ (0.07) $ (0.05)
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16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Simon Hegele Logistics Portfolio — Phase 2

In January 2015, the Company acquired the second phase of the Simon Hegele Logistics portfolio. The
acquisition consisted of a 240,000 square foot expansion space located in Forchheim, Germany. The Company
previously acquired a building in the first phase of the portfolio, and had additional rights to purchase the
expansion space. The expansion space is 100% leased to a single tenant. The contract purchase price for the
second phase of the Simon Hegele Logistics portfolio was €24.7 million (approximately $29.5 million based on
an exchange rate of $1.19 per EUR as of the transaction date), exclusive of transaction costs and working capital
reserves.

The Company has not concluded its accounting for this recent acquisition, but it expects that the purchase
price primarily will be allocated to building, land, and intangible lease assets and liabilities.

The Summit

In March 2015, the Company acquired the Summit, a portfolio of Class A office towers located in Bellevue,
Washington that consists of 524,130 square feet, and is 94.7% leased. The purchase price for the Summit was
$320.0 million, exclusive of transaction costs and working capital reserves. The acquisition includes a 43,413
square foot development site with a completed subterranean garage.

The Company has not concluded its accounting for this recent acquisition, but it expects that the purchase
price primarily will be allocated to building, land, and intangible lease assets and liabilities.

The Harder German Logistics Portfolio Acquisition

In December 2014 and January 2015, the Company entered into contracts to acquire the Harder German
Logistics portfolio, consisting of three logistic assets located in the German cities of: Duisburg, Nuremburg, and
Karlsdorf. The Harder German Logistics portfolio consists of 1.3 million square feet of net rentable area,
including a 0.7 million square foot development site. The remaining assets of 0.6 million are 100% leased. The
contract purchase price for the Harder German Logistics portfolio was €116.7 million (approximately $137.5
million based on an average exchange rate of $1.18 per EUR as of the dates the contracts were signed), exclusive
of transaction costs and working capital reserves. The Company anticipates that it will complete the acquisition
of the assets located in Karlsdorf and Nuremburg in March 2015. The acquisition of the remaining asset located
in Duisburg is not expected to close until the development of the asset is complete. The Duisburg asset consists
of the 0.7 million square foot development site. The Company expects to complete the acquisition of the asset in
Duisburg no later than December 31, 2015.

The Company has not concluded its accounting for this pending acquisition, but it expects that the purchase
price primarily will be allocated to building, land, and intangible lease assets and liabilities.

Derivative Instruments

In March 2015, the Company executed two interest rate cap corridor agreements with an aggregate notional
amount of $500.0 million as economic hedges against the variability of future interest rates on its Revolving
Loan Commitment and Term Loan Commitment. The Company has not designated any of these derivatives as
hedges for accounting purposes.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

In accordance with Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15, we carried out an evaluation, under the
supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this
report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2014, to provide reasonable assurance that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is (i) recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms, and (ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting. Our system of internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of our assets;

(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and
expenditures are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use
or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control system as of December 31, 2014
was based on the framework for effective internal control over financial reporting described in the 2013 Internal
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, as of December 31, 2014, our system of internal control over
financial reporting was effective at the reasonable assurance level.

This annual report does not include an attestation report of the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm regarding control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by
the company’s independent registered public accounting firm pursuant to Section 989G of the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street and Consumer Protection Act, which exempts non-accelerated filers from the auditor attestation
requirement of section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

March 30, 2015
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Change in Internal Controls

No changes have occurred in our internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of
the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2014 that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal controls over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2015.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2015.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2015.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2015.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to our Definitive Proxy Statement to be
filed with the SEC no later than April 30, 2015.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

Hines Global REIT, Inc.

Consolidated Financial Statements — as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the Years Ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 74
Audited Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Balance Sheets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 75
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 76
Consolidated Statements of Equity . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 77
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 78
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 79

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is set forth beginning on page 115 hereof.

Schedule III — Real Estate Assets and Accumulated Depreciation is set forth beginning on page 116 hereof.

Schedule IV — Mortgage Loans on Real Estate is set forth beginning on page 118 hereof.

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are not
required under the related instructions or are not applicable and therefore have been omitted.

(b) Exhibits

Reference is made to the Index beginning on page 121 for a list of all exhibits filed as a part of this report.

* * * * * *
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Hines Global REIT, Inc.
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Description

Balance at the
Beginning of the

Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses Deductions (a)

Balance at the
End of the

Period

(amounts in thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts as of December 31,
2014 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,011 $ 841 $(980) $1,872

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts as of December 31,
2013 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 330 $2,105 $(424) $2,011

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts as of December 31,
2012 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ — $1,110 $(780) $ 330

(a) Write-offs of accounts receivable previously reserved.
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The changes in total real estate assets for the years ended December 31, (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Gross real estate assets
Balance, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $2,894,264 $1,529,675 $ 969,421

Additions during the period:
Acquisitions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 484,499 1,322,485 509,335
Other additions . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,879 61,259 28,149
Disposals of fully-depreciated assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (23) — —
Costs of real estate sold . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (139,539) — —
Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates . . . . . . . (181,560) (19,155) 22,770

Balance, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $3,103,520 $2,894,264 $1,529,675

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (94,414) $ (47,197) $ (18,991)

Depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (64,846) (46,973) (27,361)
Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates . . . . . . . 9,573 (244) (845)
Disposals of fully-depreciated assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 23 — —
Retirement or sales of assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10,843 — —

Balance, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (138,821) $ (94,414) $ (47,197)
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Schedule IV — Mortgage Loans on Real Estate
December 31, 2014

(amounts in thousands)

Description Location
Interest

Rate

Final
Maturity

Date Periodic Payment Terms
Prior
Liens

Face
Amount of
Mortgages

Carrying
Amount of

Mortgages (a)

Construction Loans:
Multi-family
@1377 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Atlanta,

GA
10.00% 7/1/2016 No payment until completion — 3,962 3,962

Falls of Kirkwood . . . . . . . . . . . . . Houston,
TX

8.00%10/12/2015 Monthly payments of principal
and interest based on a 30-year

amortization schedule

— 6,300 6,222

Falls of Town Park Apartments . . . Houston,
TX

7.75%12/30/2015 Monthly interest- only payments
for first year; then amortizes

based on a 25-year amortization
schedule.

— 5,327 5,227

Manor Palms . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Austin,
TX

7.00%12/25/2015 Monthly interest- only payments
for first year; then amortizes

based on a 25-year amortization
schedule.

— 4,109 3,979

Dymaxion Apartments . . . . . . . . . San Antonio,
TX

7.60%12/15/2016 Monthly interest- only payments
for first year; then amortizes

based on a 25-year amortization
schedule.

— 8,500 7,684

Marbach Park Apartments . . . . . . . San Antonio,
TX

7.60%12/15/2016 Monthly interest- only payments
for first year; then amortizes

based on a 25-year amortization
schedule.

— 9,500 7,676

Office
Finesilver . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . San Antonio,

TX
6.45% 7/31/2016 Monthly interest- only payments

for first year; then amortizes
based on a 25-year amortization

schedule.

— 7,233 5,165

Industrial
Motor Circle . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Dallas,

TX
8.00%12/28/2015 Monthly interest- only payments

for first year; then amortizes
based on a 25-year amortization

schedule.

— 3,175 2,423

Shopping Centers
Houston Retail Portfolio . . . . . . . . Houston,

TX
7.60% 8/2/2015 Monthly interest- only payments

for first year; then amortizes
based on a 25-year amortization

schedule.

— 11,804 11,457

Precinct Villages . . . . . . . . . . . . . . North Richland
Hills,
TX

8.50% 3/17/2016 Monthly interest- only payments
for first year; then amortizes

based on a 25-year amortization
schedule.

— 2,595 1,811

Randalls . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . Pasadena and
Friendswood,

TX

6.25% 7/28/2017 Monthly interest- only payments
for first 18-months; then

amortizes based on a 25-year
amortization schedule.

— 10,939 8,110

The Rim . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . San Antonio,
TX

8.50% 9/7/2015 No payment until completion — 29,800 11,324

$ — $103,244 $75,040

(a) The aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes is $75.0 million as of December 31, 2014.
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Changes in mortgage loans on real estate are summarized below (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Balance at beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 43,591 $ 35,124 $ 4,919
Additions during period:

New loans . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 45,680 18,633 30,003
Additional advances on existing loans . . . . . . 4,736 1,389 2,554
Interest income added to principal . . . . . . . . . 525 842 755

Deductions during period: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Collection of principal . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . (19,492) (12,397) (3,107)

Balance at close of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 75,040 $ 43,591 $35,124
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant
has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized
representative.

HINES GLOBAL REIT, INC.
(registrant)

March 30, 2015 By: /s/ Sherri W. Schugart

Sherri W. Schugart
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 30, 2015.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Jeffrey C. Hines

Jeffrey C. Hines

Chairman of the Board of Directors March 30, 2015

/s/ Sherri W. Schugart

Sherri W. Schugart

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 30, 2015

/s/ Ryan T. Sims

Ryan T. Sims

Chief Financial Officer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 30, 2015

/s/ J. Shea Morgenroth

J. Shea Morgenroth

Chief Accounting Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 30, 2015

/s/ Charles M. Baughn

Charles M. Baughn

Director March 30, 2015

/s/ Jack L. Farley

Jack L. Farley

Director March 30, 2015

/s/ Colin P. Shepherd

Colin P. Shepherd

Director March 30, 2015

/s/ Thomas L. Mitchell

Thomas L. Mitchell

Director March 30, 2015

/s/ John S. Moody

John S. Moody

Director March 30, 2015

/s/ Peter Shaper

Peter Shaper

Director March 30, 2015
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195478) filed on April 24, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein)

21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Hines Global REIT, Inc.

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm of Hines Global REIT, Inc. and
subsidiaries, Deloitte & Touche LLP

31.1* Certification

31.2* Certification

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C.,
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Pursuant to
SEC Release 34-47551 this Exhibit is furnished to the SEC and shall not be deemed to be “filed.”

99.1* Consent of Independent Valuer, Cushman & Wakefield, Inc.

99.2* Consent of Independent Valuer, Knight Frank, LLP

99.3* Consent of Independent Valuer, Jones Lang LaSalle

101* The following materials from Hines Global REIT, Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2014, filed on March 30, 2015, are formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business
Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations
and Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iii) Statements of Equity, (iv) of Cash Flows, and (v) Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Filed herewith
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CORPORATE 
HEADQUARTERS
Hines Global REIT, Inc.

2800 Post Oak Blvd.

Suite 5000

Houston, TX 77056

888.220.6121

www.hinessecurities.com

ANNUAL MEETING
Hines Global REIT’s Annual Meeting  

of Shareholders will be held at 9:00 a.m. 

on Thursday, September 17, 2015. 

Williams Tower 

2nd Floor Conference Center 

2800 Post Oak Blvd. 

Houston, TX 77056

TRANSFER AGENT 
DST Systems, Inc. 

430 W. 7th Street 

Kansas City, MO 64105

AUDITORS 
Deloitte & Touche LLP

LEGAL COUNSEL FOR  
THE COMPANY 

Greenberg Traurig, LLP

LEGAL COUNSEL FOR  
THE INDEPENDENT  
DIRECTORS 
Locke Lord LLP

FORM 10-K
Hines Global REIT’s annual report on 

Form 10-K, as filed with the Securities 

and Exchange Commission (the SEC), 

is available at no charge upon written 

request to Hines Global REIT Investor 

Relations, at the address below.  

The SEC maintains a website located 

at www.sec.gov that contains reports, 

proxy statements and other information 

regarding the Company that is filed 

electronically with the SEC. In addition, 

the Company makes its annual report 

on Form 10-K available free of charge 

at www.hinessecurities.com.

CERTIFICATIONS
We filed the CEO and CFO 

certifications regarding the quality  

of our public disclosure as Exhibits 

31.1 and 31.2 to our Form 10-K  

with the SEC for the year ended 

December 31, 2014, as required  

by Section 302 of the Sarbanes- 

Oxley Act. 

QUESTIONS ABOUT  
HINES GLOBAL REIT OR 
YOUR ACCOUNT SHOULD  
BE DIRECTED TO: 
Hines Global REIT Investor Relations 

2800 Post Oak Blvd. 

Suite 4700 

Houston, TX 77056 

888.220.6121

Corporate and Shareholder Information 
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